NELSON MANDELA

UNIVERSITY

EVALUATING THE INFLUENCE OF ELECTORAL VIOLENCE ON DEMOCRATIC CONSOLIDATON IN SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA: THE CASE OF THE DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF CONGO FROM 2006-2018

ΒY

MXALISA ASIPHE

SUBMITTED TO NELSON MANDELA UNIVERSITY IN FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF ARTS IN POLITICAL SCIENCES

DECEMBER 2020

SUPERVISOR: MR. GIOVANNI POGGI

DECLARATION	i
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
ABSTRACT	iv
ACRONYMS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	viii
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
1. Introduction and background	1
1.2 Research aim and objectives	6
1.3 Research Questions	7
1.4 Significance of the research	7
1.5 Research Structure	8
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW AND THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	11
2. Literature review	11
2.1 Electoral Violence	12
2.1.1 Causes and consequences of electoral violence	
2.1.2 The effects of Violence on Voters in sub-Saharan Africa	
2.2 Electoral Process and the Role of Electoral Management Bodies	18
2.3 Development of Democracy: Third wave of Democratisation	21
2.3.1 Substantive democracy and elections	23
2.3.2 Constitutionalism and elections in Africa	26
2.3.3 The historical perspective of hybrid regimes	29
2.4 Patron-client Relations and Clientelist Politics	31
2.4.1 Neopatrimonialism and ethnic dominance	33
2.4.2 Ethnicity and ethnic groups in sub-Saharan Africa	35
2.4.3 African class cleavages and social conflict in Postcolonial sub-Saharan Africa	37

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.5 Economic underdevelopment and clientelism	38
2.6 Höglund's Framework	40
2.7 Conclusion	43
CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGICAL PROCESS AND RESEARCH DESIGN	45
3. Introduction	45
3. 1 Research Scope	45
3. 2 Research Methodology	46
3.3 Research design	47
3.4 Data Collection Method	50
3.6 Validity and Reliability	50
3.7 Limitations	52
3.8 Ethical Considerations	53
3.8 Conclusion	54
CHAPTER FOUR: DATA ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION	56
4.1 Introduction	56
4.2 The Democratic Republic of Congo's 2006 Presidential Elections	
4.2.1. Political and legal framework for the elections	
_	
4.2.2. Democratisation and electoral violence	
4.2.3. Voting in fear and human rights violations: Crisis of constitutionalism	
4.2.4 Weakened civil society scrutiny of elections: Disputed results	62
4.2.5. The link between ethnicity, religious polarization and electoral violence	:e 65
4.2.6 Socio-economic factors and political economy	66
4.2.7 Elections and constitutionalism	68
4.3 The Democratic Republic of Congo's 2011 Presidential Elections	69
4.3.1. Political and legal framework for the elections	69
4.3.2 Democratisation and electoral violence	70
4.3.3 Voting in fear and human rights violations: Crisis of constitutionalism	71
4.3.4 Weakened civil society scrutiny of elections: Disputed results	74

4.3.5 The link between ethnicity, religious polarization and electoral violence 75
4.3.6 Socio-economic factors and political economy 75
4.3.7 Elections and constitutionalism
4.4 DRC's 2018 Presidential Elections
4.4.1. Political and legal framework for the elections
4.4.2 Democratisation and Electoral Violence
4.4.3 Voting in fear and human rights violations: Crisis of Constitutionalism 80
4.4.4 Weakened civil society scrutiny of elections: Disputed results
4.4.5 The Link between ethnicity, religious polarization and electoral violence 82
4.4.6 Socio-economic factors and political economy
4. 4.7Elections and constitutionalism
4.5. Conclusion
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION, SUMMARY OF FINDINGS
AND RECOMMENDATIONS
5.1 Conclusion
5.2 Summary
5.3 Summary of findings
5.4 Recommendations
REFERENCE LIST

DECLARATION

I, Asiphe Mxalisa declare that in accordance with Rule G5.6.3, I hereby declare that this dissertation is my own work and that it has not previously been submitted for assessment to another University or for another qualification.

All sections of the paper that use quotes or describe an argument or concept developed by another author have been referenced, including all secondary literature used, to show that this material has been adopted to support my dissertation.

ASIPHE MXALISA

30/05/2020

DATE

Student Number: 214173836

Degree: Master of Arts in Political Science

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to thank God for blessing me with the energy and resilience to keep pushing against all boundaries in order to attain my goals. I understand that I have a purpose and through my journey in academia that purposed has been revealed by God.

To my family especially Mom and Dad (UJolinkomo no Mpehle), without your support and understanding I wouldn't have gotten this far. I made a promise to you and this is just the beginning. Even when you wished I was working full time you also understood my goals and my vision and for that I am blessed to have you both. Thank you for your sacrifices and for constantly checking up on me.

To my Supervisor Mr Giovanni Poggi, this journey has not been an easy one, but you managed to always show me the way and mentor me academically. You believed in my capabilities and you supported me throughout this academic journey. Thank you for constantly pushing me to adhere to my submissions and for availing yourself when I needed clarity or even someone to talk to.

To the Nelson Mandela academic space (CANRAD, *Cri*SHET, Politics department, Public Management department and the Centre for Women and Gender Studies) thank you to all the staff members of the above mentioned academic spaces for the support and the engagement opportunities that I was granted. Indeed, I have developed and still continue to develop into a critical thinker. Most importantly I found family in these spaces and for that I am grateful.

To Athenkosi Rangile, I will always cherish your support and the constant reminders of how this academic journey was meant for me. You have showed up for me even at times where I could not show up for myself and the support you constantly gave me has pulled me up on many occasions.

To Zizo Mbutuma, Olwethu Gcezengana, Nomtha Menye, Nobubele Phuza, Zilondiwe Goge, Zintle Yokwe, you did not just offer me friendship but listened to my complaints about how hard and necessary this journey has been. Through it all you cried with me,

laughed with me, rejoiced with me, comforted me, gave me hope and supported me. Now that is all I needed to keep a smile and continue moving. Thank you so much for being my safe space.

Lastly, I would like to acknowledge all the people who were there at the beginning of this journey and the young people from Ukhozi Youth Development Programme whose hopes and dreams I carry. This degree is for my community (Molteno) and the young people that I am in service of.

ABSTRACT

The democratic legitimacy of African executives has been called into question substantially over the last decade. Using the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) as a case study, this evaluative research seeks to analyse how African executives and political elites continue to play a crucial role in inducing civil unrest and electoral violence. For African democracy to develop, there must be enforced resolutions to eradicate issues facing both procedural and substantive democracy on the continent.

This research examined electoral violence and unconstitutional acts that aggravate electoral system abuse and diminish the consolidation of democracy in sub-Saharan African states, in particular the DRC. A specific focus on the leadership of Joseph Kabila in the DRC forms the case study component of this research. In 2016, elections were postponed in the DRC and the DRC's constitutional court interpreted Article 70 and Article 73 of the constitution in a manner that allowed President Kabila to remain in office until a newly elected president was installed. The court's ruling and interpretation of Article 70 and Article 73 was an attempt to avoid a power vacuum.

The study evaluated the components that trigger the escalation of electoral violence in Sub-Saharan African states. The study reports on different contributory factors, including but not limited to, the impact of predatory and rent-seeking leadership towards electoral manipulation; and the effect of patron-client relations on democratic institutions.

Even though elections are not the only indicator of democracy stability in a state, this study demonstrated how electoral violence threatens the consolidation of democracy in sub-Saharan African states, in particular the DRC. In examining electoral violence, a desktop analysis method, which was used in the study, involved the collection of data from existing resources in order to provide a more critical lens to understanding electoral violence in the DRC. The theoretical analysis used in the study is the Höglund (2009) framework on electoral institutions which outlined how political violence remains a pervasive feature in Sub-Saharan countries by linking the framework to patron-clientelism.

iv

Generally, elections serve as the most important dimension for good democratic governance. Post examination of the DRC's elections in 2006, 2011 and 2018 key findings show a gap in equality, which manifests itself through tribalism, patrimonialism and additionally political exclusion. These factors affected the democratic stability of the state severely. Findings suggests that violence of voting resulted in fear of voting by the Congolese people. The study provides recommendations such as (i) the Congolese government has to focus on reforming its democratic institutions for inclusive public participation which is very crucial in democracy, (ii) the DRC needs to reform their electoral laws to reinforce approaches to deepen, consolidate and institutionalise democracy. This study thus contributes to the existing knowledge on electoral violence in sub-Saharan African states by demonstrating a deeper understanding on how the citizens and the government respond to civil protests and electoral violence.

Key terminology: Electoral violence, Patrimonialism, Neo-patrimonialism and Democratic consolidation.

ACRONYMS

AU- African Union

- **DRC- Democratic Republic of Congo**
- **UDPS-** Union for Democracy and Social Progress
- **NIC-** National Independent Commission
- **CDA- Critical Discourse Analysis**
- **HRW- Human Rights Watch**
- USA United States of America
- Peace and Security Council (PSC)
- **UN- United Nations**
- **UNDP-** United Nations Development Programme
- **UNICEF- United Nations Children Fund**
- **CENI-** Commission Électorale Nationale Indépendante
- ZANU-PF Zimbabwe African National Union Patriotic Front
- **INEC-** The Independent National Electoral Commission
- **CSOs- Civil Society Organisations**
- **EWN- Eye Witness News**
- CNDD-FDD The National Council for the Défense of Democracy–Forces for the
- Défense of Democracy (French: Conseil National Pour la Défense de la Démocratie-Forces pour la Défense de la Démocratie, CNDD-FDD)
- **EMBs- Electoral Management Bodies**
- IEC- Independent Electoral Commission
- **ICD- Inter Congolese Dialogue**

SNC- Sovereign National Conference

- PPRD- People's Party for Reconstruction and Development
- PALU- Unified Lumumbist Party (French: Parti Lumumbiste Unifié or PALU)
- AGI- Global and Inclusive Accord
- **CEI-** Commission Électorale Indépendante

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Höglund's analytical frameworkfor electoral violence	Page 42
Table 2: Presidential Election, July 30,2006 (first-round results, in per cent)	Page 62
Table 3: Religious adherents in theDemocratic Republic of the Congo, 1990-2025	Page 64
Table 4: Summary of the 28 November2011 Democratic Republic of the Congopresidential election results	Page 72
Table 5: 2018 election results and voter turnout	Page 81
Table 6: Freedom status of countries in six sub-Saharan African states 2018 and 2019	Page 85

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

1. Introduction and background

In sub-Saharan Africa, democratic development and political violence is an extensively researched topic. The examination of democratisation in Africa by researchers, governmental and non-governmental organisations is present extensively throughout sub-Saharan Africa. Research that focuses on the postcolonial democratic experiences of sub-Saharan African states the political development nexus serves as the dominant context for popular democratic analyses (Huntington, 1991; Fukuyama, 2006; Lindberg, 2006; Cheeseman, 2018). In the literature of democratisation and African politics electoral violence has not received vast research, especially in subSaharan African states. Research has been conducted on political violence in Africa but not necessarily on electoral violence. Extensive literature is available on political violence as an umbrella that features electoral violence, however, separate research that focuses on electoral violence was underexplored in the existing literature especially the literature that deals with the grand democratic experiment which began in 1990 on the African continent (Straus & Taylor, 2009). The study of democratisation and electoral violence is key in revealing the result of a complex interplay between democratisation and the patronage-based system of 'Big Man' politics.

The destruction of indigenous cultural traditions, dislocation of African economy and the enforcement of oppressive laws in the African continent began from what was referred to as the "Scramble of Africa" in 1880s. The history of African states after the Berlin conference in the 1880s has since been blighted by authoritarianism, political persecution and crimes against humanity (Mentan, 2018:9). Congolese people struggled for human dignity and justice during colonialism. Colonialism deeply affected African states and left dozens of legacies. African people advanced independence ideologies and nationalist movements to free themselves from colonialism. Such proindependence movements led to 17 sub-Saharan states gaining their independence in 1960, noting that Ghana was the first sub-Saharan African state to gain its independence in 1957 (Iliffe, 1995:252). The transition from colonialism had to ensure that the government accrued rapid economic growth to eradicate colonial legacies. The colonial rule during the colonial period affected the resources and

institutional settings for subsequent economic development in sub-Saharan Africa (Walshe, 1970; Coleman, 1994; Okoth, 2006). The growth of Nationalism in many African states was based on reversing the foreign systems of government and colonial economic policies.

Correspondingly, the brief overview of how sub-Saharan African states emerged to democracy begins with the time of independence where many sub-Saharan states struggled economically due to sanctions and due to colonial corruption. The economic independence of sub-Saharan African states, especially from the 1960s onwards, demanded sustainability through the extraction of resources from peasant agriculture and investing them in more modern sectors (Iliffe, 1995:254). Such an economic demand during colonialism preserved by the infiltration of the modernisation era led to many sub-Saharan African states relying on foreign aid for capital. A more humanitarian and community-based nationalism was then adopted by countries like Zambia and Tanzania with leaders like Kenneth Kaunda and Julius Nyerere who introduced policies that employed collectivisation and state-led development in an attempt to produce equality and prosperity in the respective countries (Dillon-Malone, 1989; Kandinza, 1990; Schneider, 2016). Through the examinations of the colonial and post-independence policies in sub-Saharan Africa, Mamdani (1996) outlined the connections between late colonial and post-independence state power on the African continent.

Furthermore, such socialist policies led to many sub-Saharan African states becoming single party states. Single party states in the sub-Saharan region often led to African elites ruling in a paternalistic and clientism fashion instead of emancipating Africans. The one party or single party state had socialist developments that benefited Africans. After independence, the fight against communism became the central focus for Western powers. Post-cold war Western powers demanded political accountability in sub-Saharan African states. The demand for accountability led to sub-Saharan African states like Nigeria having pro-democracy movements (Ihonvbere & Vaughan, 1995:86). The movement was not only forced by the demand from the West after liberal democracy defeated communism but was due to the sanctions that Western powers imposed on any sub-Saharan African states.

Not all sub-Saharan states implemented the same socialist projects as the aforementioned examples. Conversely, what is known today as the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) received its independence in 1960 with a ruling coalition of national parties and Joseph Kasa-Vubu became the first Black president in the DRC with Patrice-Emery Lumumba serving as the first elected Congo Prime Minister. Political clashes took place shortly after the DRC gained its independence. Lumumba was then overthrown and assassinated by a firing squad under the command of Katangan authorities in 1961(De Witte, 2001:94). While countries like Nigeria developed pro-democracy movements in the 1990s the DRC was ungovernable due to ethnic clashes, with limited development and power being taken through coup engagements (McLure, 2012:74). In this vacuum, political power was opportunely seized by Mobutu Sese Seko who initially approached governance with a promise to restore democracy and give back the country's power to the Congolese people (Kodi, 2008:6). However, Mobutu led the country autocratically and acted as a pro-United States dictator by maintaining a monopoly of power and even renamed the country Zaire. In 1963 he was invited to the White House by President John F. Kennedy and was effectively recruited to the anti-communism project of the cold war African battleground (Smith, 2015). After his visit to the White House, he developed a far-right totalitarian regime, and amassed vast personal wealth through economic exploitation and corruption.

The DRC was not the only sub-Saharan African state to face a leadership crisis and Coup d'état during independence, but many sub-Saharan African states have had political clashes due to leadership crises. In the hands of Mobutu, the one-party system emerged rapidly, leading to the rise of the opposition party which was called the Union for Democracy and Social Progress (UDPS). The existence of the UDPS forced Mobutu to accept a multiparty system in 1990. The party was formed in February 1982 and that is when Mobutu began to lose his power and support from America. After the fall of the Berlin Wall, his regime was no longer needed as a defensive counter to communism on the continent (Kodi, 2008:7). The US provided foreign aid to all the dictators who had fought against communism. Discussions about the political future of the Congolese people had to be undertaken in order to build a politically stable state. A new constitution was drawn up with the mandate to hold inclusive multiparty

elections, however, constitutional negotiations were dragged out due to political violence which took place in the late 1990s continuing into the early 2000s.

During the desire to democratise in the DRC things turned upside down with the state becoming the battlefield where troops proclaimed themselves as liberators of Congolese people. The Rwandan troops entered the DRC as a result of the refusal of Laurent Kabila to maintain his economic alliance with Rwanda (Bobineau, 2016:26). This was the time when Laurent Kabila became the third DRC president and banned the constitution and all other oppositional political activities. His argument to limiting oppositional political parties was based on needing time to restore order, however, that limited the liberties of many Congolese people. Laurent Kabila and his administration led the country into a Second Congo war (1998-2003) a condition that developed into him being denounced as "another Mobutu". The Second Congo War which began in 1998 was the war between Rwandan troops and the DRC for borders, mines and to solidify control (Copper, 2013). The Democratic Republic of Congo was now engaged in an armed conflict. A historical turning point of the DRC in its postindependence was then marked by the assassination of Kabila in 2001. This historical turning point led to his son Joseph Kabila taking over as the president of the DRC to reunite, rebuild and bring peace to their country. Kodi (2008:11) argues that new political institutions had to be built to foster democracy and promote national reconciliation in the DRC. Electoral democracy was deemed necessary to prevent state collapse and political instabilities in the DRC.

The Democratic Republic of Congo then began a democratic transition process which was completed in 2006. The 2001-2006 period in the DRC was the beginning of the postcolonial democratic experience for the country. 2006 was also the year when multiparty elections were first held in the DRC after the First and Second Congo Wars. Joseph Kabila ran for his first elected term whilst Jean Pierre Bemba ran as the main opposition candidate (Dagne, 2010:4). The 2006 elections heralded a formal end to the democratic transition period which facilitated the introduction of a democratically elected president and his patronage network over the national institutions. However, it is important to note that the DRC experienced a long transition to democracy with continuous reversals back to autocratic rule.

1.1 Problem statement

The focus of this study is to evaluate the existence of electoral violence in African states which influences democratic consolidation. Electoral violence threatens the consolidation of democracy in African states through the role played by political institutions and their failure to ensure accountability and transparency in the electoral process. Political violence due to electoral fraud in the DRC impacts the significance of electoral democracy in the path to democratic consolidation. According to Azikiwe (2009: 29), political instability and electoral violence in countries like Somalia, DRC, Angola And Kenya signifies an era of political crisis mainly when looking into the issue of electoral disputes. Understanding how African governments respond to protests and conflicts that follow elections is crucial to this study. The illegitimacy of power and authority exercised by states triggers the threat of achieving democratic consolidation in Africa. From 2016 when Joseph Kabila postponed the election up to the recent outbreak of electoral violence on the 31st of December 2017 spreading to 2018, the DRC is faced with a crucial time of political instability. The National Independent Commission (NIC) is overpowered by the power-hungry leaders who serve for their own personal wealth.

Correspondingly, rent-seeking politics continues to squash the mandate of a developing democracy with ineffective public service delivery. Socio-economic issues are being neglected because of political instability in the DRC. Moving elections to December 2018 created more political instability and uncertainty in the DRC causing more violence. According to the United Nations Children Fund (UNICEF) annual report (2017), the projected population of people in need of humanitarian assistance in the DRC increased from 6.9 million (January 2017) to 13.1 million people, including 7.8 million children in December 2017. The situation was complicated in 2017 by the new crisis in the Kasai Region, deterioration of armed conflict in South Kivu and inter-ethnic clashes in the Tanganyika provinces. Whilst focus has been placed on electoral violence, more broadly, the DRC under the Kabila has also experienced a crisis of state legitimacy.

The DRC is not the only African state facing the threat to democratic consolidation, many Sub-Saharan countries are faced with issues of political instability and legitimacy crisis before, during and after elections. The crisis of power dynamics in the DRC has

led to anti-government protests by the Congolese people. A problem of consolidating democracy begins when the interest groups who are voted for and have formed the basis of coalitions are small, fragmented, and without substantial legitimacy (Diamond, 1999: 65). The communication from the political leaders to the people is one of the indicators of democracy through public participation. Effective political participation allows for citizens to give feedback on the effectiveness and efficiency of the democratic government. Weak civil engagements are a big sign of authoritarianism within "democratic" states, thus threatening democratic consolidation. Many African countries like the Democratic Republic of Congo are failing to host elections freely and fairly to advance the of role civic participation in politics. Rather centralised executive elitism has facilitated the manipulation of unaccountable political systems and the continued undermining of constitutions. Therefore, the guiding problem statement is: The causal factors that have promoted election violence in the case of the DRC during the latest elections. A reflection on previous elections and possible violence connected to these factors needs to be highlighted to address why such violence exists. Elections promote democracy, peace and security, which all contribute to socio-economic development which is crucial for many sub-Saharan African countries in order to further development. In answering the problem statement the evaluation of the causal factors that promote electoral violence will serves as a base for further studies on how to possibly create circumstances for more peaceful elections, improve democracies and electoral systems in order to conduct non-violent election processes.

1.2 Research aim and objectives

The main aim of the study is to identify the factors that promotes the existence and growth of electoral violence in the DRC. To find the factors that contributes to the fuelling of electoral violence in the DRC, this study aims at evaluating the critical role of weak democratic institutions in promoting democratic consolidation. Even though elections are not the only sign of democracy in a state, this study will seek to provide evidence on how the "hope" of a better free country is squandered due to executive elitism. This study will thus contribute on the existing knowledge on electoral violence in Africa by demonstrating a deeper understanding on how the citizens and the government respond to political encounters of the state. The study evaluates the DRC's political climate as well as the role played by patrimonial politics in the wake of expanding electoral violence.

The specific research objectives ensuing from the broad aims are:

- To evaluate the components that trigger the escalation of electoral violence in Sub-Saharan African states, in particular the DRC as the case study.
- To examine the influence of predatory and rent-seeking leadership towards electoral manipulation through the understanding of the role played by patronclient relations on democratic institutions.
- Identify the neo-patrimonialism effect on social and economic factors in the DRC leading to electoral violence.

1.3 Research Questions

The focus of this study is to evaluate the existence of electoral violence in SubSaharan African states which impacts democratic consolidation. Electoral violence has threatened the consolidation of democracy in many African states. The main research question of this study is: What are the mechanisms that trigger the escalation of electoral violence in Sub-Saharan African democratic states, in particular, the DRC from 2006 to 2018?

These mechanisms will be discussed by looking at the DRC's 2006, 2011 and 2018 elections and through the two secondary questions which are:

- What is the contribution of social and economic factors in influencing electoral violence in the DRC?
- How does predatory and rent-seeking politics influence electoral democracy, and what is the effect of patron-client relations on democratic institutions?

1.4 Significance of the research

This research is significant in its contribution to the already existing vast knowledge and research on electoral violence in Africa. This research contributes to electoral violence research by looking at the contemporary developments of elections and democracy in the DRC. This is done by looking at the key mechanisms which trigger electoral violence in the DRC and their relationship with democratic development. Elections and democracy as a focus of this study, yields an understanding of how elections contribute to deepening democracy. In the case of many sub-Saharan African state's elections are a basic process that needs to occur, but little attention is given by states in that ensuring those elections are free, fair and without undue coercion. This research also focuses on evaluating electoral violence and the reason why such violence weakens civil society's ability to form support for the institutional processes of a democratic election as well as the more substantive development of a democratic electorate. The study will be beneficial to electoral policy reform in SubSaharan African states and the DRC in particular. The study further seeks to examine the exact role that is played by political institutions in modern sub-Saharan African states to ensure accountability and transparency in electoral processes to achieve a more consolidated democracy.

The study further outlines how patron-client relations lead to particular ethnic groups within the DRC suffering from socio-economic underdevelopment in the existence of the constitution and democracy. Erdmann (2015:60) argues that neopatrimonialism is an economic logic prominent in the recurrent vagueness of public service and private gain impacting economic development. The study aims to then contributes to the body of language on re-imagining democracy in a way that transforms from a neopatrimonial regime to a more democratic state. This study is also important because it seeks to evaluate how electoral violence leads to a crisis of legitimacy by using patronclient theory and Höglund's framework as the key influence. The study further focuses on unconstitutional acts diminishing democratic consolidation. the electoral mismanagement and electoral processes in the DRC. Constitutions in many subSaharan African states have become a source of tyranny and thus provoke coup d'états and political instability. The study thus evaluates the use of illegitimate power in the contemporary DRC elections to contribute in the exiting studies of the dysfunctional state power often seen in sub-Saharan African states. In the DRC there has been a significant drop in the exercise of liberties due to the fear of coercive responses from rebel groups and the government. The study contributes to the understanding of how the decline of voting and overall political participation is exacerbated by electoral violence.

1.5 Research Structure

Chapter one – Introduction

The topic of the study is *Evaluating the Influence of Electoral Violence on Modern Democratic State Decline in Sub-Saharan Africa: The Case of the Democratic Republic of Congo from 2006-2018.* Chapter one introduces the topic being researched by focusing on the background and rationale for the research, as well as an introduction to the case study of the DRC's history of electoral and political instability. This chapter further introduces the crisis of governance, tracing it back from the leadership of Mobuto Sese Seko to the Kabila family. The history of the DRC is one surrounded by civil conflicts and electoral conflicts even in the democratic period.

Furthermore, Chapter one outlines the significance of the study in the existing political arena in sub-Saharan Africa. The issues that cause state decline include inadequate governance capacity, legitimacy crisis and administration of political institutions, electoral violence and corruption due to abuse of power. These issues are economically and socially driven. The objective of this research is to examine preelection and post-election violence in the DRC which serves as a threat to democratic consolidation.

Chapter Two- Literature Review

The aim of Chapter two is to review the most relevant literature to frame the topic of the study adequately. A solid literature review allows the study to evaluate the specific issues affecting modern African elections, with a particular focus on the DRC, more deeply. In the literature review electoral violence, electoral processes, substantive democracy concerning elections, patron-client relations, ethnic dominance versus neopatrimonialism and economic components. All the reviewed literature will then be linked to the Höglund's framework in relation to the DRC.

Chapter Three- Methodology

In research planning, methodological issues must be clearly defined and discussed. The purpose of this chapter is then to discuss the methodology which is used in the research process to be undertaken. This chapter begins by explaining the methodology and case selection; research design, data collection method, validity and reliability; and lastly the ethical considerations. To explore the phenomena of electoral violence in sub-Saharan states the DRC is then the key case study evaluated. This chapter thus articulates the method used as well as the research design for the study.

Exploratory research under qualitative methods vastly contributes to the process of gathering knowledge for a better understanding of the phenomenon studied which is "The diminishing democratic consolidation in sub-Saharan Africa due to electoral violence". Critical discourse analysis is undertaken to evaluate and investigate the effects of electoral violence in government institutions. The other important aspect of this chapter is the data collection method. Data collected using the case study method differs by looking at the research theme focused on by the researcher. The research is based on desktop analysis of literature available on electoral policy analysis, electoral violence, democratic transition and consolidation, texts on neopatrimonialism and constitutional reforms in the DRC. The sources which will be studied range from books, articles and up to date data retrieved from updated global reports and literature. Secondary data analysis is therefore vital to be utilised because documents and literature can be used as a point of critical analysis due to their easy accessibility and for time and money-saving purposes.

Chapter Four - Data analysis and Interpretation

This chapter explores the components that triggered the escalation of electoral violence in the three democratic electoral periods of the DRC, namely 2006, 2011 and finally in 2018. This chapter displays the research findings in depth particularly the traces of neopatrimonialism and clientelist nature of politics which plays a significant role in perpetuating electoral violence in Africa. This chapter will focus on the key data analysis and Interpretation based on the post-independence elections starting from 2006 up to the 2018 elections, the electoral process and power dynamics involved. The important examination of findings, however, is largely based on previous elections that resulted in violence and evaluating the dynamics which were involved in those elections by deploying the Höglund's framework for analysis. This chapter provides a much broader analysis of the key themes and interprets how these themes relate to diminishing democratic consolidation through the Höglund's theoretical framework. Lastly, the chapter thematically puts together the key trends found in the 2006, 2011 and 2018 elections in the DRC to evaluate electoral violence.

Chapter Five - Conclusion, Summary of Findings and Recommendations

This section concludes the study by summarising the findings which emerged from the study. Emphasis is placed on recommendations emanating from Chapter four's examination of electoral violence, the electoral process in the DRC as well as the influence of neopatrimonialism and clientelist politics perpetuate violence

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW AND THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

2. Literature review

The discussion on electoral violence cannot be separated from the discussion on unaccountable governance in a democratic state. Hence the need to examine the issues leading to electoral violence and how such violence affects the consolidation of democracy as a system. In countries like the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC), electoral accountability is a big issue resulting in electoral violence before and after elections. Elections are intended to be the central part of healthy political competition and be a building base for good governance since trust has been vested in the elected officials. Legitimacy in governance has consistently been a big issue in African states (Acton, 2013:565). African leaders often exercise bureaucratic authoritarianism and use any means necessary to hold onto power. In sub-Saharan Africa, the differentiation between political, administrative, and economic elites remains far from being manifested (Dalos, 2003; van Cranenburgh, 2008). The consequences of high levels of presidential power in many democratic sub-Saharan African countries has shown that such power has led to the regimes experiencing a democratic breakdown. This has been seen through elections and democracy were electoral violence has been evident in democratic states.

The literature on electoral violence has focused on its causes and its scope, disregarding the entanglement for citizens trying to practice their political citizenship. Participating and informed citizens are an essential part of a functioning democracy. Recently, however, there has been an effort to understand how violence in general influences politics, both at the macro-level and at the micro-level. For example, some sources inspect the history of war and its effect on the ensuing party system; and electoral production of former warring (Ishiyama, 2014; Ishiyama & Widmeier, 2013; Levitsky & Way, 2012; Sindre, 2014). In many sub- Saharan countries, the existence of political violence is traced back to the period before the introduction of multiparty politics.

Furthermore, Mironova and Whitt (2016:2) note that "researchers are increasingly examining the impact of violence on micro-level norms and preferences" but that the impact of violence is mixed. The analysis of the multi-layers of violence by Mironova

and Whitt is crucial in unpacking the influence of patrimonialism and strategic violence in provoking electoral violence. It is important to also note that the political consequences of violence are a new and expanding field of research especially the effects of electoral violence in a democracy. The African democratisation process, since the end of the Cold War, has been the subject of a number of studies (Bratton & Van de Walle, 1997; Diamond & Plattner, 2010; Harbeson, Rothchild, & Chazan, 1994; Lindberg, 2006). Studies focus on the growth of democracies using the analysis of electoral democracies in Africa. While there is frequent acknowledgement that the progressive record on Africa's grand democratic experiment is mixed (Lynch and Crawford, 2011), the significant subject of electoral violence has not been theorized and studied extensively (Basedau, Erdmann, & Mehler, 2007; Collier & Vicente, 2014). The literature reviewed below thus offers a more complete understanding of subSaharan democracies and the impact of corruption in the electoral process.

2.1 Electoral Violence

Consolidating democracy is still far from being achieved in African states due to electoral violence which continues to grow especially in sub-Saharan Africa. The system of democracy in a state is firstly affirmed by the existence of free and fair elections. Without free and fair elections, the state can then either be referred to as a monarchy or an authoritarian regime (Kotler, 2016:35). However, it is important to also note that a country can hold elections without democratic traits portrayed by that state. Before discussing electoral violence, it is also important to discuss the reason why voters in sub-Saharan countries stay away from voting polls. Kotler (2016:42) argued that most citizens decide not to vote due to religious reasons, lack of information about the electoral process and due to lack of access to resources. In sub-Saharan states, there is a fear of voting by citizens who are often threatened by the opposition parties not to cast their vote if it is not in favour of a particular political party. Also, the violent outbreak in many sub-Saharan states has developed more fear towards the voting process which means there are issues of trust when it comes to the electoral systems and that affects the consolidation of democracy.

Correspondingly, Omotola (2008) suggests electoral violence as the reason why African states are failing in democratic transitions. Electoral violence results from abnormalities in the electoral processes, the level of legitimacy of the system used and

the response to unfair treatment from oppositional parties. Whilst power becomes manipulated, socio-economic issues lose focus and administration lacks which leads to a negative impact on good governance. The main focus areas in articles such as that of Omotola are on the democratic processes adversely influenced by electoral violence but less focus is given to the effect of the manipulation of electoral rules that govern the conduct of political parties, such as the rule of zero tolerance on political violence.

When analysing good governance, it is also important to define what good governance entails. Good governance, according to the United Nations and the World Bank, is closely tied to the types of structural adjustment policies that these institutions have been trying to implement. The understanding of good governance firmly shows that the shaping of what good governance should look like has been an international discourse on politics and development of the West (Najem, 2003; Maipose, 2009). However, in order to ensure a state of peace and justice good governance should entail a proper democratic system, representation, human rights, the rule of law, efficient and effective public management, transparency and accountability and developmental objectives. Added to the list is also the varying range of specific economic and political policies; fair political processes and the creation of accountable institutions (Sundaram & Chowdhury, 2012:7). The definition and characteristics of good governance as defined by the United Nations is a poorly specified concept; the focus on research should be on the disaggregated components of good governance rather than on the ad hoc macro concept.

Furthermore, the DRC was in a predicament where they could not hold the deferred 2016 elections until December 2018. However, the process that led to the elections was intense and burdened by manipulation. The DRC's opposition leader Moise Katumbi decided to run as a presidential candidate for the 2018 elections but he was blocked at the borders and could not return to the DRC (Eyewitness News, 2018). Moise Katumbi had been living in self-imposed exile in Belgium from May 2016 after falling out with President Joseph Kabila. The supporters of Katumbi barricaded the streets and burned tyres protesting that their presidential candidate be allowed to cross the DRC borders so that he could hand over his bid to run for the presidency (BBC News, 2018).

The political violence that took place during the preparations for the 2018 elections showed there was a great possibility of political violence during the elections. The political power dynamics leading to the electoral uncertainty in the DRC was sharpened by the Geneva talks that took place on the 11th of November 2018. All oppositional parties signed an agreement to elect one leader as a representative to contest the elections against the regime's candidate, Emmanuel Ramazani Shadary (News24, 2018). Ironically the same oppositional candidates who attended the Geneva talks separated themselves yet again and ran as independent candidates leading to the DRC having three convincing candidates namely, Felix Tshisekedi, Martin Fayulu and Kabila's successor Emmanuel Ramazani Shadary.

Furthermore, it is important to note that electoral violence does not only become visible during the election period. It can be before the elections, during and after the election results are announced. It may take place in all parts of the electoral cycle: in the runup to elections, on the day of elections, and in the immediate post-election period (Fjelde and Höglund, 2014). It is also significant to note that electoral violence is not limited to physical violence but includes other intimidating means, such as the threat of violence and harassment. The weak link between the democratic processes and electoral fairness becomes a threat to democratic consolidation once a state is defined by political instability due to electoral violence. Basedau et al. (2007) indicated clearly that African states have created policies that monopolise the power of a selected few rather than political institutions to ensure legitimacy. Electoral violence is not the outcome of the electoral process it is a result of the breakdown of the electoral process. Electoral violence results in human rights violation due to the use of force during protests. According to Human Rights Watch (2017), government officials and security forces repeatedly banned opposition demonstrations, fired teargas and live bullets at peaceful protesters, shut media outlets, and prevented opposition leaders from moving freely. Such illegitimate authoritarian actions serve as one of the many indicators of a decline in democratic consolidation in African states.

Moreover, one of the reasons why Africa often fails to have stable democracies is due to electoral violence which is manifested in various forms. The force from both the civilians and the government results in physical assaults, arson and murder (Mentan, 2014:221). Such a violation of human rights impacts on the stability of democracy as

a system in an African country. The recent outbreak of electoral violence in Zimbabwe following their 2018 elections is a climax of political instability in Africa. In Zimbabwe, many people were injured, and some died during the 1st of August 2018 protest against the Zanu- PF win in parliament. The police invoked the Public Order Security Act and live ammunition was used to disperse the protesting civilians (EWN, 2018). Electoral systems have a consequential impression on when, where and how violence is used in an election. The effect of electoral systems has been analysed in the work of Lindberg (2005) through the discussions on the potential role played by electoral systems on the use of violence and how violence influences elections. Elections legitimise the government of the country and should there be electoral violence, signs of state collapse and a crisis of legitimacy emerges. Hickman (2009) assessed the impact of violence on voter turnout and concluded that violence is executed by individuals linked with one political party, which leads to a decline in turnout for the opposition in that country. However, the electoral results outcomes do provoke electoral violence in many instances and that violence breaks out when some civilians oppose the results. The huge impact of voter turnout is also another crisis of governance in a state as it signifies the failure of civilians to freely participate in politics.

Furthermore, electoral violence can be viewed as an extension of political violence in African states. Khadiagala (2008:17) suggested that electoral violence radiates from broader political conflicts within societies with different ethnic groups, communal and sectarian fissures. The weak electoral rules and processes in a state result in the existence of electoral violence. The theory of patrimonialism and clientelist politics seeks to examine how elections become manipulated through discrimination of the minority groups and are shifted to operate through ethnic lines (Leighley, 2001:3). Electoral violence takes place due to multiple structural factors including exclusionary politics, poor governance and economic uncertainties. These factors and others will be evaluated further in this chapter.

2.1.1 Causes and consequences of electoral violence

Elections dictate the democratic legitimization of the utilization of public authority. Once elections do not yield the legitimised outcomes needed then violence usually breaks out in a state. Such violence can be an intended strategy used by political actors as well as opposition parties to achieve their political agenda in the electoral marathon. The causes of electoral violence are multi-layered and can be separated into two comprehensive classifications. The first category is associated with the fundamental power structures prominent in emerging democracies, which are (i) patronage systems, (ii) poor governance and (iii) ethnic politics (Fjelde, Höglund and Opitz, 2013). When politics is structured in patronage and ethnic systems then there will be a centralisation of power within that particular state. When power is centralised, the president (patron) perpetually relies on his/her clients in order to maintain the status quo. The head of states in Africa go to the extent of frequently manipulating the constitution to continue their stay in office. Mbaku (2007:113) maintains that few African leaders have made efforts to develop institutions of popular participation. Instead, participation is centred on those groups that hold ethnic power; and resources have largely been devoted to the consolidation of institutions with highly politicised systems.

Furthermore, the second categorisation is related to the electoral process and the electoral competition itself. In this categorisation, flawed elections, weak institutions and weak institutional rules governing the electoral process are critical in determining the causes of electoral violence (Khadiagala, 2008). An election that is viewed as fraudulent, meaning it is not free and fair, is more likely to attract electoral violence. The states in Africa are relatively new democracies. Democratic institutions and procedures, including elections, have been introduced while the fundamental structures of power in society and the norms governing the political system have often not yet been transformed.

The continent has a long history of one-party and dominant political party states where politics and economics are often conflated. As a result, politics is often exclusive, intolerant of opposition and sometimes militarized. Furthermore, many of the socioeconomic and political benefits of democracy have yet to be fully realised among large sections of the population, with corruption taking a large portion of the African states' capital.

2.1.2 The effects of Violence on Voters in sub-Saharan Africa

Political violence in Africa has been an ongoing phenomenon, however, for the purpose of analysing electoral violence in sub-Saharan African states, the focus is on

multiparty elections which are relatively new for many African states. In the early postindependence era, African states were ruled by dictatorships and one-party systems.

Kuhn (2015:94) argued that many sub-Saharan African states made the transition towards more competitive electoral regimes in the early 1990s. The period of the 1990s in democratisation theory is regarded as the third wave of democratisation by Huntington (1991). Haerpfer et al. (2009:51) further argued that the period of the third wave of democratisation introduced a new chapter of democratic regimes being installed. The theory of democratisation by Huntington, however, failed to account for those countries that were characterised by inclusive suffrage and open competition but at the same time lacked a fully developed system of civil liberties (Doorenspleet, 2000). The wave theory treated the institutionalisation of electoral competition as sufficient to consolidate democracy. However, a democracy is a compound of institutions of a modern state and institutions of mass participation and representation (Rose & Shin, 2001). Holding free and fair elections in sub-Saharan Africa became a victory that did not last long due to adopted colonial tactics and legacies, executive power hunger and corruption. There is still a huge gap on understanding the relationship between electoral and liberal democracy in sub-Saharan Africa.

Correspondingly, in countries like Uganda particularly the recent 2016 elections have yet again suppressed the notion of elections being the cornerstone for African democracies. In February 2016 Ugandans went to the polls yet again trying to rewrite their democracy. However, the 2016 Ugandan elections resulted in political violence with the government harassing, intimidating and arresting potential voters backing the opposition candidates. The electoral violence in Uganda was not a unique case even in 2001, 2006 and 2011; Museveni and Besigye have been in the political battlefield for power at the expense of Uganda's civilians (Branch & Mampilly, 2015). Strategic violence theory is, therefore, an analysis suitable to discuss the trend in Ugandan elections starting from 2001. Such strategic violence can, therefore, be referred to as the Spoiling Strategy. Reiter (2016:6) argued that spoiling is a term coined by researchers to define the process of leaders and political parties who use violence so as to run away from sustaining peace, negotiations and to protect their power. This is further affirmed by Boyle (2014:77) who argued that the spoilers look into which side

is the peace process aligned with. It is evident that a peace settlement reorders the structure and benefits the armed groups, groups who hold power and those benefiting from that power. When looking into elections as a free, peaceful and fair process it can then be evaluated that when one party wins or loses then there is a reordering in terms of power, social and economic benefits hence violence breaks out when elections are about to take place and even after the electoral process.

Moreover, Burundi is another African country that has a postcolonial history filled with political instability, military interference in politics and ethnic violence. Burundi has a historical ethnic rivalry between the Tutsis and the Hutus with power being seized from a Hutu leader to another Hutu leader except in 1993 when Pierre Boyoya seized power through a military coup. Ndadaye who was the president of Burundi from 1993 was then assassinated together with several other Hutu leaders during a military coup in 1996 (Young, 2012:205). This led to Burundi descending into turmoil of civil friction that continued for years until 2003 when the governing power fell back into the hands of the Tutsis. The 2010 elections in Burundi legitimised a quasi-return to single-party rule with CNDD-FDD obtaining a three-quarters majority in the National Assembly (Colombo, D'Aoust and Sterck, 2014:7) In 2015 leading up to the preparations for the 2020 elections Burundi still faced deepening ethnic divisions as the president, a Hutu, exerted control over power-sharing institutions that had managed the Hutu/Tutsi divide since the end of the civil war in 2005. The issue with many African states, especially those affected by ethnic conflict, is that they have many political actors which are former combatants.

2.2 Electoral Process and the Role of Electoral Management Bodies

In order to grasp the challenge of systematising elections in the DRC, it is vital to take into consideration the country's political and constitutional history. In this regard, it is interesting to see how DRC's history has swayed the current electoral system as well as the influence of political, economic, social, cultural and religious factors. The electoral process is the overarching system that establishes political parties to be voted for, voter registration, the voting process, counting of votes, and the announcement of election results. African leaders have a very self-centred desire to retain power at all costs. The inevitability that they will retain power has an impact on the actual management of the electoral process

The electoral process safeguards the management of elections in a country. Any deviating conduct from that set through the electoral phase is a violation of people's right to vote and therefore serves as an attack on democracy. Miezah (2018) outlines the most crucial focus in the electoral process as the initial planning phase, coordination, organising and controlling of elections. The crafting of appropriate electoral systems is one of the key factors shaping democratisation and political conflict in Africa (Reynolds, 2009). Electoral processes are comprised of a set of rules which governs the conduct of a governing candidate, voter eligibility criteria, political parties and political right (Lindberg, 2005). Inequality, ethnic group dynamics, corruption and electoral manipulation threaten the integrity of electoral processes in African states. The intimidation of electoral participants deeply affects the successful outcomes of elections. For instance, it is evident in the DRC where Kabila had threatened oppositional candidates like Moise Katumbi from submitting their bids to run for the presidency in 2018 (Mukoka & Molobi, 2018). The manipulation and intimidation tactics used during the electoral process result from an outcome of the intense nature of the competition for power in a state which creates a violent contestation of power.

Furthermore, numerous features contribute to the success of the electoral system in a state. Intimidation of electoral participants as a manipulation factor directly and indirectly, contribute to electoral violence and are fundamentally political and economic. The electoral process of African states has been typified by violence in various states which are, pre-election, during elections and post-election. The electoral process crisis in African states serves as a threat to civilians' security, development and peace. The Peace and Security Council had its 758th meeting in Addis Ababa in 2017 focusing on discussions about the way forward in ensuring free and fair elections in the DRC. The council warmly welcomed the decision and commitment of the DRC to finance the electoral process with its own funds, further calling for the international community to support the electoral process of the DRC financially. However, political party funding can serve as a threat to transparency for a democratic state. Eme and Anyadike (2014) argued that the relationship between party funding and corruption is so significant that if ignored then the door for corruption will be opened. It is thus important to consider the interplay between political party financing regulation and democracy.

Moreover, the mandate of delivering and ensuring quality elections in a state is the duty of the Electoral Management Body (EMB). The electoral management bodies are the electoral commissions that contribute to the electoral process. In the DRC the Electoral Management Body, the Independent Electoral Commission (IEC) was created shortly after the Inter Congolese Dialogue (ICD) held in Sun City in South Africa in 2002 was concluded (Hengelela, 2016:75). The creation of the IEC was due to the calls upon an evolution of the successes and failures of the Independent National Electoral Commission, which serves as the key electoral democratic supporting institution in the DRC (Haskin, 2005:140). The same institutions designed to strengthen democracy are overpowered by corruption and manipulation which are the root causes of electoral violence. Although, Kodi (2008:53) states that some African countries do have institutions in place to deal with issues that fuel violence especially vote manipulation, in the DRC there existed the Congolese Electoral Commission (CENI) which was later transformed to Independent National Electoral Commission (INEC).

It was one of several institutions supporting democracy during the transitional period of 2003–2006. This Commission was tasked with identifying and registering voters, and with organising the 2005 constitutional referendum. Hengelela (2016:75) further argues that the National Independent Electoral Commission (NIEC) or CENI as per its French acronym), created by the constitution of 18 February 2006, replaced the IEC in 2011.

The EMBs are central in ensuring that the electoral process is followed and that the design of the electoral process is conducive and serves as a democratic procedure for free and fair elections (Osisa, 2017). The EMBs effectiveness in strengthening democracy has been a debatable issue. Although EMBs are expected to be independent in nature with the support of the constitutions in African states, the politics within the management bodies adversely affect the progress of democratic procedures rather than advancing democracy. For example, the establishment of the NIEC and its predecessor the IEC has not solved the problems related to holding free, democratic and transparent elections in the DRC.

Moreover, the debate surrounding the independence of EMBs, especially when considering political influence, is crucial. The idea of creating an independent

institution responsible for organising elections in the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) dates back to the Sovereign National Conference (SNC), which took place from 1991 to 1992 (Hengelela, 2016). It was a key outcome of the work conducted by the National Electoral Commission (NEC) and once established the planned institution could not organise elections because of the frequent cases of government intrusion that occurred until the end of the regime of President Mobutu. The 2006 elections in the DRC were to signal a new decade of peace and the escape from the Mobuto legacy of "Kleptocracy" and authoritarianism. However, the victory of such international financially supported and celebrated elections was diminished by the failure of the elected government in breaking down the Mobuto's authoritarian regime and state failure (Kammerud, 2011:148). Instead, the state appointed another electoral management body to deal with the issues of elections but still adopting the same systems which were used by the IEC.

2.3 Development of Democracy: Third wave of Democratisation

Samuel Huntington analysed the process of democratisation in African states using the third wave of democratisation analysis. The process of democratisation is the process of replacing authoritarian regimes with democracy. In the African regional context, the third wave of democratization was the second independence for many African states. The period between 1974 and 1990 was viewed as the continuing and ever expanding of the global democratic revolution that also reached the African continent (Huntington, 1991). The third wave of democratisation in Africa was confronted by many factors including the deepening legitimacy problems of authoritarian regimes and the inability to maintain performance legitimacy due to economic failure. Third wave" transitions in sub-Saharan Africa in the early 1990s were expected to usher in a new era of liberal democracy but it vanished fairly quickly when new forms of liberalized authoritarianism emerged (Noor, 2016). The third wave of democratization in sub-Saharan African states intended to replace authoritarianism has been challenged by the rise of authoritarianism within democracies.

To understand the transition process, it is important to outline what an authoritarian regime is. In an authoritarian regime, there is a single leader or group of leaders with either no party or a week party and limited political pluralism (Ezrow and Frantz,

2011:3). An authoritarian regime and its dictatorship government represent only a selected group that the leader is ethnically part of. In an authoritarian regime, the establishment of the government is either military inclined or through the elimination of competitive politics. Post-independence African states entered the phase of oneparty dictatorships during independence from the 1960s onwards. Ezrow and Frantz (2011:6) further argue that many researchers like Samuel Huntington based their studies on looking at the dictatorship phase of African states post-independence and not the effects of colonialism. The period of 1990 and 1993 put pressure on authoritarian leaders and single-party regimes of all shades to liberalise and permit more participation in the political process (Makinda, 1996). The pressure to move to multiparty politics stemmed from sustained efforts by domestic political forces in African states, a variety of demanded requirements from international financial institutions and by the disintegration of the Soviet Union.

However, it is important to note the role that was played by the Belgian colonial dictatorship in countries like the DRC. Colonialism was a period of the personal rule which dictated and oppressed Africans. By the time the scramble for Africa took place, there was a huge turn from a civilizing mission to a law-and-order administration and a shift from progress to power was also completed (Mamdani, 1996:21). The scramble for Africa left not only racial segregation but also an administrative legacy and the quest for power transcended from the complete shift that took place during colonization of Africa.

Notably, the period of independence in African states gave birth to yet another form of dictatorship due to personal rule. This particular rule was also authoritarian in its nature as Ezrow and Frantz (2001:4) define authoritarian regimes as regimes which differ from each other on multiple levels ranging from their institutional culture, political systems with limited political pluralism and their interaction with the outside world. The form of dictatorship that was exercised by the sub-Saharan African states during early independence is a one-party dictatorship. During the early period independent African countries opted for communism aligning their policies to humanitarianism associated with Marxist-Leninist theory. Even in the case of the personal rule during early independence in the colonization of Africa a political inheritance and models of governance already in place were left (Poku & Mdee, 2011:29). Socializing Africa at

the time of early independence was a dream but the reality was that the colonial imported systems of governance had already cracked the wall of independence.

Furthermore, democratic states face a lot of challenges and issues which impacts the regime's consolidation. The struggle of democratic consolidation in many SubSaharan states is due to the struggle on the shift of power from personalistic rule to the rule of the people. Shiffman (2004:110) argues that when a state chooses to democratise a shift to a more hierarchical rule it must honour making a state more orderly and rational. In the process of creating a totalitarian democracy through hierarchical structures democracy failed many sub-Saharan states in providing participatory democracy that practises collective public decision making. This is due to the nature of the institutionalization of politics during elections and post-elections.

Correspondingly, democracies consolidate when a high proportion of citizens' demand democracy and believe sufficient levels of democracy must be provided by their political regime. The Democratic Republic of Congo and other sub-Saharan states are surrounded by intermittent conflicts questioning the model of liberal peacebuilding employed in these states. How the government responds to protests and conflicts within the societies of these three African states is crucial. The legitimacy of power and authority exercised by states determines whether a state is becoming more democratic, hybrid or authoritarian.

2.3.1 Substantive democracy and elections

After gaining independence African states faced difficulties like the failure to adopt substantive and procedural routes to democracy. There has been a growing resurgence of authoritarianism in Africa affecting elections, human rights violations and the illegitimate government procedures in modern Africa. Diamond (2016) contended that post 2009 there have been signs of both democracies on the rise and democracy in retreat in African states. African democracies have reverted to authoritarianism through constitutional coups, the crisis of accumulation, governance and legitimacy especially when it comes to electoral democracies. There is a rise of an overwhelming authoritarian ruling which takes place either in the form of military coups that oust a democratically elected leader, or executive coups in which democracy by

concentrating power to themselves (Bailie, 2018). What has declined in the state is not the system of democracy used but the conditions attached to the system and that results in the theory of democratic reversal when looking at African states. Elections serve as an integral part when analysing the democratic state decline in Sub-Saharan Africa. However, elections themselves remain a pivotal point for the elite and lay a foundation for what will come after (Reynolds, 2009). Recognising substantive democracy and how it has been unfolding in many sub-Saharan states during political violence will thus help in examining electoral violence in Africa.

Correspondingly, to understand and recognise the position of substantive democracy in sub-Saharan African states it is vital to understand what substantive democracy is. Focusing on a minimalist definition of democracy in sub-Saharan African states cannot capture entirely the challenges afflicting regimes that have undergone a democratic transition but have yet consolidated their democratic structures. Thus, the necessity turns towards a more substantive definition of democracy, one that gives more prominence to the role and importance of accountability. Substantive democracy centres accountability, which enables citizens to hold their political leaders to account through the electoral channel at specified points in time and societal accountability (O'Donnell, 1996; Schedler et al., 1999). Such accountability should come after the minimal conditions of democracy such as the electoral process are met while substantive democracy focuses on equal participation and accountability. In many sub-Saharan African states like the DRC the minimal conditions for democratic rule presents difficulties and challenges the achievement of a more substantive democracy.

Many African states (especially in the sub-Saharan region) lack peace and stability and thus democratic consolidation is very slow. African states have been picky on which democratic traits to maintain and which authoritarian attributes to keep hence it has been difficult to consolidate democracy. Huntington (1991) demonstrated democratic recession as the transition from democracy to authoritarianism that can be produced by those in power or close to power in a democratic system. In Modern African democracies, democratic reversal is still largely influenced by those in power (which includes the presidency and its administration) and those close to power (ethnic influences). Bedasso (2015) argued that the use of ethnicity as a political resource

further created a class alliance with the upper class and the middle class serving as political agents.

In addition, an evaluation is thus important in diagnosing diverse bureaucratic institutions of modern democratic state decline. The African continent has been in the arena of hybrid regimes and many are struggling enormously. Hybrid regimes are those that speak the language of liberal democracy without fully embracing their practices (Robertson, 2011:4). In such states, authoritarian control coexists with democratic characteristics. Diamond (1999) listed countries like Tanzania, Kenya and Ethiopia as being neither democratic nor closed authoritarian. However, it is important to note that each African state has its own signs that can illustrate whether it is hybrid, democratic or authoritarian. The democratisation of a state does not end with the minimalist requirements of democracy but also includes an approach beyond consolidating democracy through good governance. Consolidation of democracy is done by also strengthening democratic institutions which centres individual liberties such as participation and representation. In many African states especially subSaharan states the leaders have managed to retain power by downgrading democratic institutions and strengthening the security force (Cheeseman, 2018:8). The strengthening of military power exists as a response to civil unrest and to manipulate the system of checks and balances through the centralisation of power. Electoral violence is the greatest enemy to democracy (Agbalajobi, 2016). Elections without democracy are a sign of a hybrid regime.

Moreover, elections are a sign of the minimum threshold for democracy in a state. Reynolds (2009) contended that elections are processes that are repeated and that are critical for democratic development. This is also further alluded to by Fukuyama (2006:43) who viewed substantive democracy as the analysis of the electoral outcome to be in favour of the governed. This can be done by ensuring that electoral systems exist to foster the consolidation of substantive democracy, advocating for a free and fair procedure which is best suited for the development of a democratic state. The DRC among other African states has been a conflict environment when it comes to holding free and fair elections and allowing the opposition parties to run for elections freely. The electoral violence has existed in the DRC since the leadership of Mobutu in the postcolonial period. The fact that electoral violence still exists, even in the modern DRC, calls for substantive democratic consolidation to deal with issues of corruption, governance and impunity in elections.

The outcomes of the elections in the DRC have not been in favour of the Congolese people ever since Mobuto's leadership leading up to both Kabilas' administration. As evaluated by McFerson (2009) the DRC is one of sub-Saharan Africa's main oil producers which means it is a resource-rich country. However, the population still lives in poverty simply because even though African states such as the DRC. are rich in resources they are exported to foreign countries and the revenue earned is spent not entirely on socio-economic development but to grow government officials' personal budgets. A country may hold free and fair elections but if those elections do not lead to the development of the citizens and the state institutions' accountability then substantive democracy has not been achieved. Keating (2012:145) argued that the greatest damage to the success of the emergence of substantive democracy in African states comes from the ideology which highlights that even the most flawed democracy is favoured over reverting to authoritarianism. The fear of reverting to authoritarianism is legitimately understandable. However, the anxiety to maintain democracy as a system at all costs might eventually perpetuate and encourage the legitimisation of organised violence as the only means to defend a system that ironically becomes the exact opposite of a democracy.

2.3.2 Constitutionalism and elections in Africa

When African states gained their independence and later on moved to democratic systems there was hope for a restored continent that would be guided by the basic principles of constitutionalism in order to achieve good governance and democracy. According to Fombad and Kibet (2018), there has been a huge decline of good governance in Africa since 2006 as analysed by the World Bank. Not to dispute the findings of Fombad and Kibet, the analyses of what good governance has to entail, according to the World Bank, became too problematic for African states especially new democracies to reach by 2006. There is no consensus on measuring the quality of governance which means different things in different countries. The World Bank offers World-wide Governance Indicators as measurement of good governance (Andrews, 2010; Bovaird and Löffler, 2003; Fukuyama, 2013; Nanda, 2006). The third wave of democratisation in Africa had to entail the promotion of good governance through

ensuring there was social, economic and political development. Those requirements had to be accompanied by the rule of law. Even though the decline in democratic governance had increasingly been a huge focus around the world Africa remains a unique case. In Africa, the debate has to be on the controversy of what constitutions entail and must look further into how constitutionalism can be successfully attained in African states.

It is important to note that the key to democratising a state is to ensure that it works towards ensuring political stability, economic growth and closes the gap between civil society and government. A democratic state also consolidates democracy through developing and protecting civil and political rights. In doing so a democratic state maintains its legitimacy through ensuring fair representation of the people and accountability by officials to the people (Kpundeh, 1992:13). To safeguard the legitimacy of democracy the constitution should be the supreme law in each African democratic state which is why democratic African states commonly have a constitutional provision which serves as a protection for abuse of power, lack of accountability and transparency of political leaders. In many African constitutions, a president must serve for two terms in office. Many sub-Saharan African states have struggled with the transfer of power after gaining their independence. According to Prempeh (2007:488), the enforcement of a democratic constitutional order must be put in place for African states to seek legitimacy. The political norm of presidential term limits is very important as it highlights the positive development of African constitutionalism. The attempt by dominant parties in the sub-Saharan African region to change the constitution, control the media and outlaw political activity has led to electoral violence (Deegan, 2009:86). In 2008 Cameroon's parliament voted for the removal of the presidential two-term limit which allowed President Paul Biya to extend his rule. These unconstitutional acts have been a recurring theme in the DRC and many other sub-Saharan African states, affecting constitutionalism in many countries. Furthermore, Oloka-Onyango (2001:2) captures this debate poignantly by stating that:

"For many scholars, politicians and activists, the notion of constitutionalism is one that produces numerous and oftentimes conflicting responses. For some, especially the more positivist or legally minded constitutionalism simply represents a concern with the instrumentalities of governance. These range from the constitution itself and other legally constructed documents that have been created to support it, the structures and institutions that are established under their framework."

The above discussion suggests that, to many scholars and researchers, the constitution is not only about legal enforcement but rather is a signifying document to affirm the importance and recognition of different political cultures and needs in order to transform the democratic system into speaking to individuals in that state. What many African states have today are constitutions without an inclusive sense of constitutionalism. Constitutions codify the rules of the democratic game whilst constitutionalism signifies the belief of the people in their respective constitutions (Bazezew, 2009). There is an interconnectedness of processes of constitutionalism, the electoral system and democratic governance in a state. Voter suppression and violence significantly prove the weak role that is played by institutionalism can be defined as the doctrine that governs the legitimacy of government actions, and it implies something more important than the idea of legality. Constitutionalism safeguards whether the act of a government is legitimate and whether officials manage their public duties in accordance with the law and are accountable to the people.

However, advancement towards constitutionalism has been relatively stagnant in many African states. At the back end of the 2000s Ghana, Burundi and the DRC were 3 heavily discussed examples of democratic institutional decline. These states were struggling due to the decline in their development and constitutionalism due to issues with the limitation of power (limited government), separation of powers (checks and balances) and responsible and accountable government. Bazezew (2009) further argued that sub-Saharan states like Ghana, Burundi and the DRC shifted from the respect for popular sovereignty which is a huge pillar of the process of legitimization of the government. However, it is also important to note that, the 2016 presidential election in Ghana was one of the recovered democratic and peaceful elections in recent history in sub-Saharan Africa. As Ghana is often referred to as a "model democracy" for sub-Saharan Africa, supporters of democracy around the world anxiously watched the elections, fearful that democratic backsliding could occur

(Boateng, 2016). However, former President Mahama left office peacefully after losing the election and crisis was largely precluded.

Correspondingly, the same peaceful transition could have be concluded with former President Joseph Kabila, but his exit of office was one fuelled by violence and after the 2018 elections there was violence in the DRC. Burundi also remains in a crisis of legitimization after a political crisis erupted in Burundi when President Pierre Nkurunziza decided to run for a third term in the 2015 elections (Wilén & Williams, 2018). The country remains lodged in an impasse, facing low-intensity violence, political oppression, challenging preparations for the 2020 elections and an increasingly desperate economic situation.

Furthermore, the government of any state acquires the mandate from the people, not simply through voting but also through ensuring there is responsiveness, accountability and access for the people to the government. The failure of constitutions in addressing the social issues faced by civilians in many African states has resulted in a belief of invalidation of what constitutionalism means to people. It does not matter how free and fair elections may be in a state, the democratic vision in Africa will lose legitimacy if it is not supplemented by improvement to and development of the conditions and quality of life of the broader masses (Fombad & Kibet, 2018). Constitutionalism is then needed in order to consult with the broader masses and engage in how best a democracy, as a system, can serve them. If a country holds free and fair elections without an inclusive sense of constitutionalism, then that country can be viewed as a hybrid regime.

2.3.3 The historical perspective of hybrid regimes

To specify the boundary between new concepts and traditional ones, the first step is to grasp the definition of democracy and authoritarianism. The concept of democracy is a contested form of government in Africa and around the world, and as a term, it can be divided into a liberal democracy and electoral democracy (Leon, 2010). This minimalist definition of democracy by looking at free and fair elections, in contrast to constitutional liberalism, is one of the bases of liberalism and a tool for an institutional democracy. According to Kao and Kou (2011:6), authoritarianism, on the other hand, is a type of political regime which is neither democratic nor totalitarian. This political

regime involves political restraints where opposition parties either do not exist or are excluded from competing in elections. There are a limited number of countries that have undergone transitions to democracy which have succeeded in establishing consolidated and functioning democratic regimes (Frits, Menocal & Rakner, 2008:30). Many democratic regimes have resulted in floundering in transition or reverting to authoritarian forms of rule.

Furthermore, less progress in democratic regimes was then later referred to as the birth of hybrid regimes. A hybrid regime is a regime that has systems that combine rhetorical acceptance of liberal democracy, the existence of some formal democratic institutions and respect for a limited sphere of civil and political liberties with essentially illiberal or even authoritarian attributes (Frits et al., 2008:30). However, hybrid regimes are not new in the world but rather new as a term. Illiberal regimes existed even when democracy was first introduced. However, in the past two decades, one of the most striking features of the late period of the third wave of democracy has been the unprecedented growth in the number of regimes that are neither clearly democratic nor conventionally authoritarian (Diamond, 2002:25). Considering not only electoralism but also the notion of civil rights and liberties when looking at democracies, a number are struggling, and thus illiberal democracy is rapidly growing.

Moreover, it is important to note that hybrid regimes are not the same hence there is a need to divide them. There are 58 out of 193 nations which account for 30 per cent of the world's population with independent political regimes which can be defined as partially free and partly authoritarian (Morlino, 2008:2). There must be a system to measure separately all the hybrid regimes in both electoral democracy and liberal democracy. According to Diamond (2002:25), a division of hybrid regimes can be made firstly from those that use multiparty electoral competition of some kind and those that are politically closed. A state with a multiparty system is the one that allows for opposition parties to exist and the political closed state allows for only one political party to rule. Diamond (2002:25) further argued that hybrids can be further divided into the competitive authoritarian and the uncompetitive or hegemonic authoritarianism. Some electoral authoritarian regimes survive, and some do not survive. Those that survive have adopted elections but retained stability for a long period of time without

democratisation. The phenomenon of regime hybridity in African states has contributed to a decline in successful democratic development.

Furthermore, many regimes in sub-Saharan Africa now hold regular competitive elections. However, these regimes have assumed some of the formal attributes of democracy such as holding multiparty elections whilst also continuing with the features of authoritarianism. Some scholars contend that the democratic features these regimes have adopted will lead to the demise of their authoritarian nature. This is supported by Lindberg (2006; 2009) and Schedler (2002) who argued that when regimes hold successive multiparty elections, they are more likely to become increasingly democratic. However, elections can also be seen as an appearance and a formal concession to Western pressures for democratisation. Elections held by subSaharan African states have tended to be illiberal and largely impacted the prospect of democratic transition.

2.4 Patron-client Relations and Clientelist Politics

To understand the barriers to effective electoral development it is important to evaluate the relationship between the voter and the electoral representative in order to trace the link between patron and client. There are two main players in this activity: the electoral representative and the voters. The electoral representatives are usually forced into a situation of how best to get most votes. The voters, on the other hand, are using the election as a means to shift policy towards their needs. They tend to assess their risks and benefits and how to make the most of them when casting their ballot. Unfortunately, there is no guarantee that what the citizens vote for, shall eventuate, even if their ideal candidate should win. Should the people be ruled by clientelist politics then a state will most likely face a crisis of legitimacy. According to Fombad (2004:51), the DRC has had issues of wealthy politicians who have been put into public office to gain access to the state's resources since the country gained its independence in 1965 under the leadership of Mobuto Sese Seko. The way the DRC has been organised and governed shows patron-clientage processes. Patron-client relations are linked with authoritarianism as there has been a long history of coercion and power struggles found in a state using such systems (Fatton, 2003:37; Theron, 2013). The use of clientelism as a method of mobilization results in political violence.

The control of how electoral procedures should be shaped by political elites in Africa affects the way electoral violence is growing in Africa.

In addition, should a liberal democracy like the Democratic Republic of Congo use coercive power and lines of commands before, during and after elections, then is democracy backsliding in that country? Ndulo (2006:4) clearly stated that democratic governance and the rule of law must advance the protection of human rights. Therefore, the lack of rule of law and constant political instability have never led a nation to a democratic system. The use of coercive force on civilians is a sign of legitimacy crisis in a state. The recent outbreak of military force being used to silence protesting Zimbabwean civilians post the 2018 elections is a sign of legitimacy crisis in African states. Violence was enforced after clashes broke out in Harare between soldiers and civilians who had been protesting the ruling Zanu PF's majority win in the parliamentary elections parliament (Manyethela, 2018). The tactics used to disperse protesting civilians in states like Zimbabwe in 2018 forms a suitable example to exhibit a state in a crisis of legitimacy. Furthermore, the use of military force to disperse protesting civilians against the refusal of Moise Katumbi who had wanted to run for the presidency in the DRC also serves as a sign of a crisis of legitimacy on the African continent. According to the Human Rights Watch (2018) throughout 2018, government officials and security forces banned peaceful demonstrations; used teargas and in some cases live ammunition to disperse protesters and restricted the movement of opposition leaders. Many civilians died including pro-democracy activists during the electoral violence in the DRC.

Furthermore, patron-clientism is used as a tool to manipulate electoral systems and institutions in African states through hierarchical patron-client relationships. The hierarchical approach is signified by class formation through social, ethnic and economic powers. Arthur (2014:2) argued that class formation is the basis of the social hierarchy and the privileges of power access. Power positions and privileges of class systems further influence structural opportunities and access to resources. The theory of social class formation alludes further to the incorporation of ethnicity as the mask for class privileges. Class structures relate to patron-clientism because when classes are created in a state the society also relies on patron-client networks as a personal security mechanism. Furthermore, when looking at ethnic divisions in relation to social

class it is important to evaluate the relevance of role definition. Muller (2012:108) argued that individuals seek personal substitutes of physical security, wealth and status from a patron and in return offer the intangible support to the patron. Such political, social and economic support from the patron to the client later results in class inequalities within society.

However, even though the client can continue supporting the patron in his/her quest for power, the relationship is not equal thus the patron benefits more. Fatton (2003:37) argued that patron-client relationships incorporate patrons into power and exclude clients from the centres of national power. Africa also battles with self-centred and authoritarian politics which are primordial in nature with power-hungry presidents like Joseph Kabila. However, focusing only on the impact of electoral violence in the development of the democratic system is not helpful for developing African democracies. The focus should be on how the electoral issues leading to electoral violence affect the governance of African democratic states more holistically. The main reason why there are people who vote for leaders like Joseph Kabila is because of the need to fulfil immediate needs and to have leaders from their ethnic groups run the state (Ganahl, 2014:7). This is caused by the main understanding of what patrimonial is based on. Patrimonialism is the idea of a patron, a person culturally anchored in the social and political order, bestowing gifts from his own resources to followers to obtain their loyalty and support (Nyaluke, 2014). The clients (citizens) who are commanded in return offer full support to the patron so as to attain a position or a portion of the available state resources. It is also important to note that patrimonialism is a traditional form of authority, found in all states including Western developed and non-Western developing states. The only distinction is that some countries are able to manage patron-client relationships without causing substantial nett detriment to their particular state.

Furthermore, the quest for power is not a motivation when running for the first time but once one becomes addicted to control then it is easy to never let go. This is evident in African states today. However, the problem with presidents' clinging onto power is that their government is not progressive, and their positions result in an escalation of civil wars and political unrests. As much as political unrests have become a way of sending

the message to the officials, military force has been used to retaliate and for Presidents to remain in power. Such matters are destroying democracy in African states.

2.4.1 Neopatrimonialism and ethnic dominance

State capture can be analysed differently but in many cases of African democracies, it occurs as a result of clientelism and ethnic dominance. As Sisk (2013:262) argued electoral violence is a result of patronage politics in which politicians are warlords who control land to some extent and income generated from natural resources. Political warlords has been the issue at hand amongst sub-Saharan African states leading to violence and contestation when it comes to the limitation of presidential terms and ethno-religious dominance as a leading political factor. In sub-Saharan Africa by 2017 three African heads of state had been in power for more than three decades, namely Teodoro Obiang Nguema Mbasogo in Equatorial Guinea, Paul Biya in Cameroon, and Yoweri Museveni in Uganda. According to Diamond (2016:259), African states make use of patron-client networks by organising the public institutions along ethnic lines even before the election period. Osaghae (2006) in his analysis of the Ekeh's Two Publics states that, many African presidents view their ethnic line as the most trustworthy and reliable loyalists in their contest for power. The limitation of leadership tenures has been one of the institutional designs fostered for development and consolidation to ensure a strong democracy in Sub-Saharan Africa which cannot be of self-gain but to benefit the people (Urbinati, 2014:129).

In the DRC, the economic system is still being sustained by elite clientelism (neocolonial and postcolonial elitism), where property and land are owned by elites while the Congolese people suffer from the land shortage and political insecurity. Sisk (2013:263) further stated that politics in Africa is centred along religious, sectarian and ethnic lines. Horizontal inequalities contribute vastly to violence existing in African states due to neopatrimonialism. An assumption of ethnic politics is that when one becomes a president so does his community (Wamwere, 2003:74). Such negative assumptions cause ethnic monopolisation of power and thus destabilises violence in a state. It is evident in the DRC that political identification can be conveyed in a linguistic, economic and political way. According to South (2008:72), the DRC amongst other African states is one of the most ethnically diverse nation. The DRC has four

major ethnic groups, the Mongo, Luba, Kongo (all Bantu), and the Mangbetu-Azande (Hamitic). Resource looting along ethnic lines has resulted in conflict reaching an intensity and persistence with the Congolese people contributing largely to the threat of modern state decline. Lack of accountability when it comes to public spending and resource capital further encourage civilians in a state to demand better governance through elections. Although the DRC is amongst the sub-Saharan countries with a beautiful ethnic diverse population, food insecurity and political violence continue to torture the Congolese civilians.

Moreover, the electoral map of the 2006 presidential elections also revealed the limits of ethnic loyalty and the complexity of geopolitics in making choices by the Congolese electorate. In the case of the two main contenders, Bemba and Kabila, nobody got 100% of the voters' ballots, even in their home provinces (Ngoy-Kangoy, 2007). In the 2018 elections in the DRC voters in three Congolese cities known as opposition strongholds were excluded from presidential elections on security and health grounds (News24, 2018). Furthermore, the phenomenon of kleptocracy in sub-Saharan Africa is not only driven by the narrative of the Mobutu and the Kabila administration in the DRC solely but also in other African states like Burundi kleptocracy is visible. Abubakar (2015:57) mentions a few countries like Cote d'Ivoire, Somalia, Sudan and Ethiopia which have been in long periods of political violence from the 1960s. The abovementioned countries have also faced issues of political conflict fuelled by neopatrimonialism and resource looting along ethnic lines. In many African countries, both economic and political power has been transformed to be unaccountable to the citizens in spite of the existing growth of democratisation of African states and the eagerness for holding free and fair elections.

Furthermore, the nature of domestic politics based on patron-client systems led by informal networks leads more to personalistic leadership than for the benefit of the people. Political clientelism, when examined as a system of governance, serves as a tool of exchange between political leaders and the followers (Francis, 2006:80). Such an exchange is done through group focused ethnic politics which further leads to the lack of distinction between private and public relationships. What politicians fail to understand is that patrimonialism further causes divisions and exclusions of some ethnic groups. When patron-client politics prevail in a state, widespread

impoverishment continues to rise, and the marginalised groups continue being excluded from political and economic processes. A brief example is during the Mobuto administration where he rewarded individual loyalty more than anything else. Contrary to the policy of clientelism, Thomson (2016:111) views clientelist politics as a way to bring civil society back to the political arena. Structuring politics amongst ethnic lines strains the need for accountability and government transparency due to the centralisation of the state and its resources to meet the needs of the people based on ethnic loyalties.

2.4.2 Ethnicity and ethnic groups in sub-Saharan Africa

There are many factors which contribute to electoral violence in sub-Saharan Africa and one of them is ethnicity. Ethnicity is based on race, gender, region, religion and class (Chazan et. al., 1999:107). These groupings organise themselves in distinct ways for engagements and also for the social construction of views. The core purpose for ethnicity was to ensure cultural fulfilment, belongingness, physical and social security. Bercovitch (2003) explains ethnic groups as cultural nations which are bound together by a common culture and which lack the internationally recognized organization of a sovereign state. The analysis of Bercovitch (2003) on ethnic groupings in Africa is very important when analysing electoral violence because ethnicity serves as a source of electoral conflicts in many African states. Bercovitch (2003) further argued that ethnic aligning can be classified into three, namely: Indigenous People, Ethno-Nationals and Communal Contenders.

In addition, these categorisations of ethnicity are based on understanding how communities in Africa lived in pre-colonial times and how the formation of ethnicities transpired. Berman (2010) argued that the idea of African ethnicities are a relatively new concept and were developed substantially due in large part to colonial categorisation. Colonial systems cut across the creation of multi-ethnic groupings and the diversity of indigenous societies. Social and economic policies, even during colonialism, in African states were centred on different ethnic groups where some were favoured by the colonial administrations more than others. Traditional rural communities exist however, ethnicity may not be treated in relation to rural leadership as this serves as a class structure that signifies who gets what in the governance and

economy. For example, the Tutsi's during the colonisation of Rwanda was seen by European imperialists as culturally and racially superior to the Hutus (Carney,

2014:11). The ethnic privilege of the Tutsi's over the Hutus created political and economic elitism in Rwanda.

Furthermore, the establishment of colonial institutions during colonialism led to the construction of tribal identities tied to indigenous power relations and patronage. From the partitioning of the continent to the initial crafting of economic gains it is clear that colonial masters aimed at dividing and dismantling African communitarianism. According to Posner (2005:3), political institutions from the colonial era leading to postcolonial African structure had economic and social policies crafted according to ethno religious perceptions. Precolonial African politics were community centred with more involvement from the people. Institutions in precolonial Africa were created to protect the rights of the civilians in order to create a procedure of checks and balances with African leaders (Ezeanya, 2014). After the Berlin conference when colonisers had ceased claiming ownership of land, they defined, numbered and mapped African ethnic communities to craft their administration and further facilitate the institutionalisation of ethnic groups. The mapping of Africa led to the ethnic crisis and later on led to ethnic conflict and dislocation of state resources. In the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), the period around elections has always been a moment of rift between the present and the past, a moment in which the question of identity is expressed in different ways. It is therefore important to discuss the ethnic factor as a basis for political choices in the DRC, the impact of the ethnic factor on democratisation, and the implementation of good governance. The ethnic clash in Ituri, (which is the mineral-rich province in the north-eastern Democratic Republic of the Congo) between the Lendu (who are predominantly farmers) and their arch-rivals the Hema (who are cattle herders), was used in 2018 to disrupt presidential elections (Muggah, 2018).

2.4.3 African class cleavages and social conflict in Postcolonial sub-Saharan Africa

In many sub-Saharan countries, ethnic violence grew from precolonial to colonial times and has since been a colonial legacy that many states still face in the 21st century. Social cleavages in Africa have largely impacted democratisation due to the growth of Afro-pessimism in many African states. Africa is faced with the issue of institutionalisation of "Big Man" politics and patronage which continues to link ethnic groups with the dissemination of state resources. Big man politics started from colonialism and early independence in Africa when there was a drastic shift from traditional class cleavages to capitalistic social class cleavages. When class structures emerged during the colonial period in Africa they were then used as electoral strategies (Ntobi, 2016:152). Big man politics were evident even during colonialism where the middle class that was recognised by the colonial administration were allowed to vote.

The cleavages have been evident in countries like Burundi between the Tutsi's and the Hutu's. Daley has identified five cleavages that exist in the postcolonial period in Burundi. These cleavages include the intra-aristocracy, the Hutu and Tutsi war, intraHutu tribe conflict, military and the political elite, and intra-Hutu tribe conflicts (Daley, 2009:171). These cleavages are ideologically, economically and socially based using the same systems of colonialism which manipulated and oppressed. It is also important to take note of the role played by political institutions in shaping rules, regulations and policies which structures the society in a state. Political institutions shape individual's identity choices through positioning political power with access to resources. Ethnic groups then understand that to get access to resources they must form a political coalition in support of having ethnic leaders in higher places (Posner, 2005:3). In a democratic state, access to resources is in a form of electoral competition and political actors often choose which ethnic group can be mobilised by also looking at the size of that particular ethnic group and its political history.

2.5 Economic underdevelopment and clientelism

Africa has made changes and has progressed in recent years towards building democracy, enhancing the rule of law, consolidating good governance, improving human security and protecting human rights. Since the early 1990s, the majority of African countries have undergone historic transitions from one-party, military or autocratic rule to multiparty democratic systems based on majority rule and popular participation. At the very heart of these democratic transitions has been the holding of periodic, multiparty elections. Votes, money and violence are a richly and carefully

researched inquiry into the roles of political parties, political party systems, electoral systems and their relationship to democracy in contemporary sub-Saharan Africa. Poku and Mdee (2011:42) argued that the state of the African continent during postindependence created a barrier to political stability and economic development. This illustrated the difficulty of building a stable economy in a continent entrenched by political violence and patron-clientelism.

Moreover, in order to discuss the link between economic development and elections, it is important to note the factors that illustrate the barriers in economic development. The exogenous or external factors include global financial crisis and unfavourable terms of trade, among others, while the endogenous or internal shocks include inappropriate and inconsistent policy regimes, corruption, ethnic conflicts, electoral violence and protracted civil wars, political instability, adverse security conditions, complex administrative and institutional frameworks (Omoteso & Mobolaji, 2014). For the purposes of this research, the focus is on electoral violence and resource electoral manipulation.

Elections are very important in a state as they become a guiding principle for a just sharing of the state's resources (Reynolds, 2009). Elections serve as an integral part of legitimising and delegitimizing African leaders. African politicians like Joseph Kabila have opportunistic behaviours which destroy the mandate of good governance in African states. Such opportunistic behaviours are explained by the theory of Kleptocratic behaviour. Kleptocratic regimes are not only found in Africa but also in Western countries. The DRC saw the regime of Kleptocracy during the Mobuto administration that advanced the postcolonial elitism pillaging the financial resources of the DRC's government for personal use (Abubakar, 2015:52). Kleptocratic behaviour goes hand in hand with the theory of bureaucratic corruption. Bureaucratic corruption results in the personalistic elitist presidency which largely affects governance in a state. Corruption undermines the rule of law by destroying democratic institutions that are essential for fair and equitable societies (Forson et al., 2016). Whilst African states are faced with politics of deep corruption and misuse of power there is also a different approach the political officials have used in addition to political power abuse which is predatory leadership. According to Vlassemroot and Romkena (2007:31), the present political leadership in the DRC does not really differ from the

leadership during Mobutu's rule. Political power is still largely exercised through networks of patronage.

Congruently, the monopolisation of power into the hands of predatory elites has played a role in the fuelling of electoral violence during the pre-election and post-election period. Predatory elites in Africa destroy democracy through extracting more and more from the impoverished communities rather than developing their states to strengthen their regimes (Fombad, 2004:375). Predatory elites do not focus merely on obliterating the economy but further obliterate the mandate of the people through vote manipulation. According to McFerson (2009), public integrity remains very weak in resource-rich African states. The DRC after independence encountered resourcegenerated conflicts which led to the displacement of many civilians. The conflicts ran from 1997-2002 and were fuelled by the issue of ethnic entitlement and restricted civil liberties associated with access to resources. The DRC is one of the main oil producers in Africa, but the Congolese remain very poor. Given the predatory behaviour of rulers, it is difficult to enforce the rule of law as there is neither consideration nor respect for the institutions of the DRC. This behaviour, which has persisted in the country's system of governance for decades, has destroyed the rulercitizen relationship as the citizens no longer have confidence in their rulers. This has tarnished the image of the public service, which is also incapable of delivering the basic public services to the citizens (Tshiyoyo, 2011:109). When the citizens lose their trust in the democratic process of establishing a ruling government then post-election violence is bound to take place.

Furthermore, predatory leadership in the DRC preceded the leadership of Mobuto when he lost his focus on the national human resource management and growthenhancing policies but rather focused on the creation of personal moneymaking positions within the public sector. Rent seeking triggers the eagerness for an official to continue with corruption neglecting the needs of the majority. This is further supported by the United States Government Accountability Office Report (2007:21) by stating that corruption in the DRC is widespread and has led to the governance institutions being damaged. Even though such U.S reports are crafted looking at the attainment of the U.S foreign policy objectives, political instability in the DRC has a huge effect on the efficiency and transparency of the country's institutions. Economic

corruption in the DRC dates back from the leadership of Mobuto Sese Seko who maintained his power not only by using force but also using the power of money to bribe and manipulate civilians.

2.6 Höglund's Framework

When evaluating electoral violence and the triggers of political violence, the nature of politics, and the nature of elections and electoral institutions must be examined. These institutions inclusive of political parties in a state play a vital role in the electoral process. The nature of politics, the electoral process and electoral institutions are strongly emphasised as factors that are involved during elections according to the Höglund electoral violence analytical framework. The nature of politics refers to the relationship between leaders and followers in a state. In a democratic setting, the relationship between the leaders and the followers is assumed to be determined by democratic standards, rules and regulations (Hyland, 1995:52). The set rules and regulations start from the existence of democratic constitutions, legal institutions, parliament and electoral acts of a country. This therefore then means that elections must play a very big role in order to ensure that there are formal structures put in place by the followers to serve a particular state and its civilians.

Moreover, the role that elections should play in order to put formal structures in place in a state must be violence-free and a violent-free environment is defined by the criterion of "free and fair" elections. Electoral violence is a sub-category of political violence and more details of violence during transitional processes must be analysed (Höglund, 2009). Violence in democratizing and war-torn countries must be understood in the wider context of the transition from authoritarianism to democracy and from war to peace. Such transitions challenge power relations in society as well as the worldview of both incumbents and oppositional parties.

Conversely, in sub-Saharan states that link between the leaders and the followers has been characterised by patrimonial politics, conflict, the culture of impunity and prevailing socio-economic issues. The nature of politics in sub-Saharan states has been marked by the issues of political authority, manipulation of political systems, and ethnic politics. Höglund's framework examines the concepts which are most evident when discussions about the nature of politics in sub-Saharan states arise. When

evaluating electoral violence, it is important to take note of patrimonial systems that encourage electoral violence because such systems marginalise a significant portion of the society (Fjelde & Höglund, 2014). When patron systems define the nature of politics in a state the promotion of corruption and neglect of the rule of law become evident.

In evaluating electoral violence in the DRC, the theoretical framework of Höglund (2009) is then utilised to study the causes and dynamics of electoral violence. Höglund's theory looks at the nature of politics, the nature of elections and electoral institutions in sub-Saharan African countries. By employing Höglund's theory the evaluation looks at the electoral periods in the DRC, namely 2006, 2011 and finally 2018. Höglund's framework is employed to critically analyse the weak institutions in the DRC which are challenged through manipulation. Furthermore, analysis of the electoral process from 2006-2018 is done to expose the impact that electoral violence has on governance and socio-economic development. Another evaluation is based on the role played by multiparty politics in democratic consolidation or democratic defeat. The analysis of voter turnout is thus necessary, looking particularly at the reasons why citizens in the DRC do not participate in elections. Höglund's framework links the case study of the DRC with the theoretical analysis of other sub-Saharan states that have recently experienced widespread electoral violence. Fjelde and Höglund (2014) further argued that sub-Saharan states need to consolidate their democratic institutions so as to ensure that the threat of a decisive electoral defeat is not sufficient to motivate the use of violence.

In addition, there is also a rising issue in many sub-Saharan states when it comes to institutionalisation. The main issues are related to conflict cleavages which are cleavages in societies that take on a form of class, race, gender and maybe ethnic. In many sub-Saharan African states, political parties are formed based on those cleavages which make it hard for programme-based political parties to emerge. Van de Walle (2007:67) argued that ethnic and clientelist politics perpetuates the expansion of dominant-party systems where political power is personalised and few new political parties emerge. Höglund illustrates that the reasons for the expansion of dominant-party systems are due to the need for patrons to gain more power and maintain loyalty to the followers so that they might keep the patron in power even by

means of violence (Fjelde & Höglund, 2014). Such patron-client relations threaten the overall stability of political systems in many sub-Saharan states and the capacity for fair political competition is narrowed down.

Höglund's analytical framework is used in this research as a tool to evaluate the three main areas where violence has taken place in the sub- Saharan states, in particular, in the DRC as the key case study. The three main areas that must be evaluated in a state that experiences electoral violence are the nature of politics, the nature of elections and electoral institutions. The evaluation is based on identifying enabling factors that perpetuate electoral violence and further trigger progress for democracy. The following table (Table 2.6.1) is a table that links Höglund's analytical framework with the evaluation of electoral violence as a trigger for democratic consolidation.

	Conditions enabling the use of electoral violence	factors triggering
Nature of politics	- Patrimonial politics	-Violent actors
	- Conflict cleavages	participating in elections
	- Violence as a legitimate political tool	- Biased police
	- Culture of impunity	
	- Access to arms	
Nature of elections	- Competitiveness	- Misuse of political
	- Political mobilisation	rights
	- Stakes	- Militant mobilisation
	- Exposure to attacks	- "Close races"

 Table 1. HÖGLUND'S ANALYTICAL FRAMEWORK FOR ELECTORAL VIOLENCE

Electoral Institutions	 Systems creating clear winner and losers 	- Political usage
		of electoral
	- Few regulations about electoral conduct - Administration	administration - Election
	with few checks and little power	fraud
		- An unwanted or
		unexpected outcome of
		the election

Source: Höglund (2009:423)

Höglund's theoretical analysis on electoral violence will help with the evaluation of how the nature of politics (patrimonialism and legitimation of violence) in sub-Saharan states trigger an unfavourable environment for the progression of democracy and good governance. The signs of these unfavourable conditions and weak political institutions is in regard to the maintenance of the status quo of hybrid regimes. It is evident that there is abuse of the rule of law in many sub-Saharan states, including the DRC, with limited checks and balances for democratic institutions.

2.7 Conclusion

Electoral violence is a broad subcategory of political violence that is evident in many African states more especially in the sub-Saharan states. While election-linked violence has a limited objective in the sense that it is aimed at affecting the electoral process, its consequences may be wide-reaching and can influence both attempts at conflict management and the consolidation of democracy. This chapter has discussed electoral violence, with a special focus on violence in sub-Saharan countries. This chapter has evaluated the role played by ethnicity as a triggering factor in electoral violence.

In addition, the chapter examined the nature of politics, considering ethnicity and how that impacts good governance and democracy. One of the factors examined was the influence of predatory and rent-seeking leadership regarding electoral manipulation and the effect of patron-client relations on democratic institutions. The second factor assessed was the role of neopatrimonialism to manipulate elections and the state economy.

In the DRC tribalism is still more pervasive than nationalism and the failure to govern democratically has led to the loss of the public's trust in public institutions. The public trust in public institutions is lost when there are no legitimate limitations of all the branches of government and government lacks transparency. The use of Höglund's framework of analysis on electoral violence was then employed to show the theoretical exploration of several areas that accentuate electoral violence, namely the nature of politics; the conflict-generating dimensions of electoral processes; and the design of electoral systems and administration.

CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGICAL PROCESS AND RESEARCH DESIGN

3. Introduction

In this chapter the research design and guiding methodology of the study will be discussed, as well as the data sources will be outlined. The study was conducted qualitatively through desk research to evaluate the influence of electoral violence on sub-Saharan African states. This chapter defines the process, scope and limitations of the chosen research design. In a social research study, the research methodology comprises of techniques and mechanisms of formulating the problem statement to obtain results and conclusions and/or recommendations. This chapter begins by explaining the research scope, methodology and case selection, research design, data collection method, validity and reliability, and lastly the ethical considerations. To explore the phenomena of electoral violence in sub-Saharan states the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) was chosen as the case study to be extensively researched. The focus on the DRC as a case study assisted in answering the "why" and "what" questions when it comes to the existence of electoral violence and traits of democratic state decline in sub-Saharan Africa. In examining the study qualitatively by looking at the historical developments of elections in the DRC through the application of the Höglund's framework which will be more discussed in chapter four.

3.1 Research Scope

The scope of the study was to understand the mechanisms that trigger the escalation of electoral violence in sub-Saharan democratic states, in particular, the DRC from 2006 to 2018. This was done by conducting qualitative research to track the reasons for democratic state decline in sub-Saharan Africa. The research scope mentioned above is a guide to the agenda of the research to answer the main research problem on electoral violence in sub-Saharan Africa. According to Bickman and Rog (1998), the research scope as agenda-setting helps the researcher in dealing with the analysis and examination of the research study to produce focused research results. This then means that the research must set out the parameters and limitations of the research when it comes to evaluating the extent of electoral violence in sub-Saharan states.

3. 2 Research Methodology

This study seeks to evaluate electoral violence which continue to impact democratic consolidation in Sub-Saharan African states, in particular the DRC. To gather research on the previously mentioned research problem, a case study with qualitative methodology was deployed. This method helped in the examining and understanding of electoral violence and its causes. The study has utilised a critical discourse analysis lens by filtering the case study through Höglund's analytical framework for electoral violence in conflict-ridden societies. This framework is used to examine the DRC's 2006, 2011 and 2018 elections. The election periods were chosen because they signify the democratic ruling and civilian involvement in elections after a long dictatorship in the DRC. The study reviewed a vast amount of literature on the subject of study using published and unpublished documents. The study utilised internal data within organizations through reports. The most contributing information for the study was also found in libraries such as journals; newspapers; directories; clippings; international organisations reports; government statistics; reports on elections by electoral institutions; books on democracy and electoral violence in Africa. It is also important to note the significant research from foreign observer missions, which have contributed to the study such as Human Rights Watch.

Furthermore, using a qualitative research method in this study allowed for the creation of more than simply the understanding of how people reviewed situations in their social lives but also how the operation of the institutions impacted the society. In the DRC there are democratic institutions put in place such as the NIC to ensure the protection of people's right to vote freely and fairly. Institutions like the electoral bodies have a huge responsibility in ensuring that the rules and regulations during elections are followed. Mason (2002:3) argues that qualitative research is also situated for methods of data inception which is both changeable and sensitive to the social context in which the data is structured. The data collected is the tool for careful analysis of a situation researched and a researcher needs to construct a detailed data analysis for a better understanding of the study. This study is based on a critical analysis of electoral violence in the 21st century sub-Saharan African democracies with specific focus on the DRC. This study, therefore, utilised desk or library research in the analysis of information. Choosing a qualitative case study method for this study provides a clear

tangible base through which to evaluate and explore some of the pertinent issues faced in sub-Saharan Africa by the DRC from 2006-2018.

3.3 Research design

A case study is a method of research that prescribes an intensive, empirical study of an individual unit, be it a person, group, place, institution, or otherwise. A qualitative, holistic approach seemed appropriate to evaluate the extent to which electoral violence affects democratic consolidation in sub-Saharan states. The case study chosen was intended to be evaluative as it explored the causative effects of electoral violence on democratic consolidation in the DRC. To have a single-case outcome in answering the research problem, the case study method was chosen for this dissertation. Since the case study method receives criticism in terms of its lack of rigorousness as a research tool, crafting the design of case studies is very important. In this study, the single-case design was chosen to address the research problem in a narrower lens.

Correspondingly, the study sought to evaluate legitimacy especially on the use of power and authority by sub-Saharan state actors and how that power caused a threat to democratic consolidation in sub-Saharan African states. However, it is important to note the drawback of a single-case design, which is its inability to provide a generalising conclusion, in particular when the events are rare. The single-case design is often also critiqued for its dependency on a single case exploration making it difficult to reach a generalising conclusion (Tellis, 1997). The single-case design focuses on a few subjects as exploration and thus it is difficult to generalise. Whilst generalisations are difficult to make based on situational specificities, one can still use comparative evaluation to show similar trends between other African states and the DRC. For more strictly generalised results an extensive comparative study would need to be employed using many countries. This was not feasible for a study of this length

In this study, the research problem looked at evaluating electoral violence in subSaharan African states, which led to democratic state decline. This was done by focusing on the DRC as a single case with specific reference to other sub-Saharan African states which had faced the same electoral violence issues. In this study, many things were considered when selecting a relevant research method, such as budget

issues, the focus of the research topic and time. This study employs a qualitative method throughout the gathering and the interpretation of data. The qualitative research method explores knowledge in order that organisations, the researcher and other stakeholders involved in the research are able to understand the study (Bless, Kagee & Smith, 2006:41). This type of research method uses qualifying words to evaluate and describe the aspects of the world and helps in evaluating how the world works both theoretically and practically.

While using the single-case study a critical discourse analysis (CDA) was undertaken as an analysis method to evaluate and investigate the effects of electoral violence on government institutions. Discourse analysis opens the floor for critiques on the knowledge passed on in everyday life (Jager & Maier, 2009:35). This then means that all knowledge, such as that of electoral violence that is written and learnt is subject to evaluation. A CDA allows for the creation of the foundations to examine the effects of the exercise of political power and that will be helpful when analysing power dynamics in the DRC. To critically assess electoral violence in sub-Saharan African states, it is important to narrow the study to a specific affected state hence the DRC is used as a case study.

Correspondingly, using a case study as a narrowed scope provided evidence of the matters of concern on which the research focused that were discussed. (Gormely, 2017:90). It is perceived that not all case studies are interpretive. Case studies are normally connected to qualitative research but can also be used as a method of inquiry applying a positivist epistemology and ontology. Researchers conducting case studies may not even need to visit the organisation under study, they could collect their data by consulting secondary sources or interviewing respondents telephonically or by email.

Moreover, the case study approach is practical in situations where contextual circumstances of the events being studied are critical and where the researcher lacks control of the events as they unfold. At the beginning of this study, the research was based on uncovering the political instability during the election period in the DRC starting mainly from the postponement of the DRC elections in 2016.

The case study as a research strategy in this study encompasses specific techniques for collecting and analysing data. According to Zainal (2007) case study research can be considered a robust research method particularly when a holistic, in-depth investigation is required. Case studies explore and investigate immediate real-life phenomena through detailed contextual analysis of a limited number of conditions and their relationships. Yin (1994) notes three categories of case study research, namely exploratory, descriptive and explanatory case studies. However, other categories of case study research were discovered by researchers such as McDonough and McDonough (1997). McDonough and McDonough (1997) argue that other case study research categories exist including interpretive and evaluative case studies. For this study, the evaluative case study research method was used to evaluate the mechanisms that triggered the escalation of electoral violence in sub-Saharan democratic states, in particular, the DRC.

This evaluative research also examines the existing theories centred on electoral violence. Evaluative research using qualitative research will vastly contribute to the process of gathering knowledge for a better understanding of the phenomenon studied (Bless, Smith & Kagee, 2006:47). Methodological theory ensures the perfect revelation of the intricate theory in research as well as a full expression of the practices included in the research process.

Importantly, it is also vital to outline the advantages and disadvantages of using case study research methods. There are several advantages to using case studies. If a researcher wants to study a specific phenomenon arising from a particular entity, then a single-case study is warranted and will allow for an in-depth understanding of the single phenomenon (Starman, 2013). This was a considerable advantage for this study as there was only one case study focus. Starman (2013) further argues that another advantage of case study based research, particularly single case research, is that it looks at a large number of intervening variables and inductively observes any unexpected aspects to help in identifying conditions which are present in a case. There are many variables involved when looking at the state of democracy in sub-Saharan African states like the DRC. In addition to electoral and political violence, in subSaharan states democracy is affected by variables like the personalized nature of the rule, the failure of the state to advance and protect human rights, the tendency of

individuals to withdraw from politics, and the extreme centralization of power in the hands of a few elites. Despite the advantages of case studies, there are limitations. One limitation is that the sheer volume of data is difficult to organise, and data analysis and integration strategies need to be carefully thought through. There is also sometimes a temptation to veer away from the research focus.

3.4 Data Collection Method

Data collection was done through mostly secondary source research. Before attempting to understand secondary and primary data it is important to note that the case study research design is also used as a data collecting method (Pawar, 2004:19). Data collected using the case study method differs by looking at the research theme(s) focused on by the researcher. The researcher conducted research based on organisations, written documents and policies of such organisations to analyse the existing electoral issues in the DRC. Secondary data sources mainly covered government publications, annual international organisation reports on electoral violence in Africa. Documents such as the Peace Security Council documents, National Independent Commission documents on DRC's elections, Human Rights Watch reports, United Nations reports, African Union reports, Afro barometer data, form some of the credible sources on electoral violence in Africa.

Moreover, using a case study will provide a more detailed analysis of the triggers of electoral violence evident in sub-Saharan democracies. In this study, the issues are those of electoral manipulation, democratic state decline, patron-client relations, and economic aspects affecting the rise of violence and other threats to democracy in the DRC. Pawar (2004:20) further argues that the case study method of data collection focuses on enhancing a deeper understanding of the social phenomenon that is being researched. When using a case study method, it is vital for secondary data analysis to be utilised, because documents and books can be used as a point of critical analysis due to their easy accessibility and for time and money-saving purposes. The data collected from scholarly journals, articles and websites were crucially important in the research that was conducted and what remains to be learnt about a topic (Creswell, 2009). Through the literature review other researchers on this topic were identified further adding to the vast knowledge on electoral violence in sub-Saharan Africa.

3.6 Validity and Reliability

The study conducted seeks to add more value to the existing research on electoral violence and how such violence emanates. Validity and reliability in social research are two entirely different things. Validity in the research design is explained using two aspects. Internal validity is the first dimension and it deals with whether the research design has dealt with the control of many unconnected variables (Bless et al., 2006:93). The unconnected variables are those variables that are irrelevant to the study. In this research context to guard against threats to internal validity in the form of subject variability, a thorough literature review was conducted to ensure that there is indeed a research gap in examining electoral violence. The data collection methods used such as journals and reports were examined by the researcher in a manner that did not generalise the findings but offered validity to the researched problem. External validity on the other hand, which is also the dimension of validity, is concerned with obtaining the results and whether such results apply to all subjects in the population (Bless et al., 2006:93). In this research the descriptive explicitness of the independent variable was explicitly described which made it easier for the research findings to be generalised to the wider sub-Saharan regional politics. However, the other underlying factor was the different historical backgrounds of the sub-Saharan African states. Bolarinwa (2015) argues that validity is concerned with the meaningfulness of research components. When doing social research, it is important to validate the content of the research to ensure its meaningfulness. All data collected was analysed in an objective manner and the findings reflected the actual data obtained. This study is grounded in political studies and therefore as a researcher it is important to note the definitions, theories and concepts being used and to ensure that they can be verified.

Additionally, validity deals with the degree to which the researcher observes and measures what is supposed to be measured looking to the research question and the problem stated. The researcher examined the data collected using the theoretical framework of Höglund to ensure that the research questions would be answered. The research also examined representations or reflections of reality are legitimately applicable across groups. Validity is concerned with whether the findings of the research can be applied to other groups or cases (Moon et al., 2016). In this research, the single-case study design has been chosen to narrow down the research problem

centred on electoral violence in the DRC. However, the findings can be applicable in tracing democratic state decline in sub-Saharan African states.

On the other hand, reliability is more focused on the level of consistency of the variables. This then means when a study is conducted the measurements must be the same even when times are different. Muijs (2011:63) argues that reliability is focused and concerned with the solidity of scores. In social sciences ensuring the same measurement of variables becomes difficult particularly for those conducting secondary data. The data obtained from the secondary literature had low explicitness which was open to a more subjective interpretation. The researcher ensured that the integrity of the data was protected while critically examining the research subject. Bless et al. (2006:151) further argue that in social sciences, there is a concern about establishing symmetries of opinions and perceptions. This then means a social researcher must be mindful of the fact that some variables will be more accurate than others and therefore it is important to differentiate between those variables to ensure reliability.

While conducting the research using secondary data the researcher identified carefully the patterns and themes in the data which were in line with the researched problem. When conducting secondary data, it is important to be mindful of what is read on media platforms and what is published on such platforms. The reliability refers to a measurement that supplies consistent results with equal values (Blumberg et al., 2005). Furthermore, reliability measures consistency, precision, repeatability, and trustworthiness of research (Chakraborty, 2013). The data obtained from secondary literature was analysed a second time and the patterns and themes were compared with the results obtained the first time in order to confirm the original findings. The data obtained revealed patterns and themes which are common to any electoral violence research in many sub-Saharan African states. Conducting secondary data analysis requires credible sources to ensure that the study is reliable. It is also important to note that some qualitative researchers use the term 'dependability' instead of reliability.

3.7 Limitations

Extensive secondary data collection can prove how well-read a researcher is in the research field studied and at the same time the credibility of the sources is the biggest challenge. Secondary data is research already published, and it is the cheapest form

of research because the data already exists. Secondary research can be split into internal and external research. The researcher was aware that it was easy to find and collect secondary data, however, there were limitations. One of the limitations was that the secondary data could be general and vague and might not help in dealing with the research problem that this study sought to work out. One of the key limitations faced was the unavailability of data collection in the DRC area by Afro Barometer, however, the researcher has used the data collected in other sub-Saharan states to evaluate electoral violence in the region, as well as utilising Freedom House reports. The overarching research question is based on the sub-Saharan states and thus a comparative analysis of the democratic challenges faced by other sub-Saharan states provided an evaluative angle for the DRC as a case study. This was also done by looking to the commonalities and the relationships of these states compared to the DRC. Whilst avoiding the use of data from other examples to speak for the DRC in specifically. This would create pure assumption, which cannot be held as reliable.

3.8 Ethical Considerations

Ethical considerations ensure that researchers become mindful of the insinuation of their research through understanding the procedure of whether the research will be reliable and valid. Researchers must engage in a principled consideration of morally prominent issues and adhere to acceptable actions when it comes to research situations (Punch, 2014:37). Interpretation of the data collected is very important and being mindful of how the data must be handled is critical to ethical representation. The data collected and examined in this research mostly came from dataset in the public domain and often considered free from restrictions.

Also, no formal institutional ethical clearance was required for this research as the study did not involve any human subjects or other live components. Research does not always involve the collection of data from participants directly as there is a huge amount of data that can be collected using the desktop analysis. Existing data can be evaluated to answer critical research questions yielding similar results to that of conducting interviews. However, concerns about secondary use of data mostly revolve around potential harm to individual subjects and issues of return for consent. The data collected and evaluated in this research was freely available on the internet, in books

and other publications. The ownership of the original data used has been acknowledged at all times in the dissertation.

Furthermore, preserving research ethics is necessary for the product of the study. Ethical actions begin when a researcher chooses the topic to research (Hay and Israel, 2006:12). When the topic researched in this proposal was chosen many aspects had to be ensured such as the validity of written articles about the DRC looking at its elections, governance, policies and socio-economic issues. Also, the finalising and publishing stage of the information received in exploratory research is very important when it comes to considering ethical considerations. This research is about seeking more understanding of the electoral issues which affect good governance in African states and with a case study of the DRC. The secondary data collected was then interpreted in a manner that provided more understanding of electoral violence. In both quantitative and qualitative research approaches, ethical rules apply and must be understood by the researcher before conducting any social research.

Moreover, researchers must ensure that they are vigilant when it comes to presenting the outcome of the research. The ethical committee sets out the rules which must always be followed by a researcher using both the qualitative and quantitative method. These sets of rules will differ depending on the researcher's different disciplines. Autonomy, justice and beneficence are very important principles to be mindful of when conducting research. Some government documents which were to be investigated when researching issues impacting good governance were confidential and not easy to access. The confidentiality and access to information depends on the constitutional arrangement of information of a particular state. Hence it was important to check whether the information is ethically attainable so that when analysing final findings, it does not become unethical to publish such findings.

However, ethics can also be limiting for many researchers because at times researching on government institutions is very difficult for researchers. According to Parry and Mauthner (2004), there are also issues of copyright and confidentiality in desktop analysis research. While it is unlikely that a secondary researcher would abuse the ability to access data archives, particularly given the protection mechanisms in place, there are nevertheless issues of concern relating to consent. One of the

limitations that the researcher encountered during chapter two was the restricted access to some articles relating to the study.

3.8 Conclusion

This chapter focused on the methodology that was used in this study. An explanation of qualitative research as a method for data collection and analysis was given. Measures followed during the data collection were discussed in this chapter and the information about the validity and reliability was provided. The main aim of the study is to identify the factors that promote the existence and growth of electoral violence in the DRC which leads to democratic state decline. To find the factors that contribute to the fuelling of political instability in the DRC qualitative research and the evaluative single case study method were chosen. The data collected will thus be analysed and be interpreted in Chapter four.

CHAPTER FOUR: DATA ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION

4.1 Introduction

This chapter seeks to uncover major themes in electoral violence that have transpired during the 2006, 2011 and 2018 elections in the Democratic Republic of Congo. This chapter will first evaluate the 2006 Presidential elections in the DRC which were marked as the beginning of the democratic transition for the DRC. The evaluation identifies the key factors found during the 2006 elections which induced electoral violence in the DRC. The chapter also explores the 2011 elections and the role played by the democratic regime in preventing or more so escalating electoral violence. Lastly, the chapter puts together the key threads found in the 2006 and 2011 elections in the DRC to evaluate 2016 leading to 2018 electoral violence. The themes analysed in this chapter will thus yield to the research objectives set in chapter one.

4.2 The Democratic Republic of Congo's 2006 Presidential Elections

The transitional period in the Democratic Republic of the Congo was hampered by a lack of political will and dissension within the transitional institutions. However, in 2005 the will and efforts of the transitional government finally led to the first-ever democratic elections through a process that resulted in the adoption of electoral laws, the creation of the Independent Electoral Commission and the adoption of a new constitution. The first multiparty elections in the DRC were then held in 2006 on the 30th of July. These elections marked the beginning of the turning point from a one-party state to a democratic state for the Congolese people.

4.2.1. Political and legal framework for the elections

When evaluating electoral violence in a state it is important to look at the electoral laws and systems in place. The DRC is a unitary state with a president elected by direct universal suffrage and a simple majority of votes cast for a term of five years. In the case of the DRC, the rules that governed the electoral process were found in the Constitution, in the Electoral Act, and in several decisions and guidelines set up by CENI. Two electoral systems were used during the 2006 DRC elections, namely the majority system and the proportional representation system. The majority system under territorial or regional representation was adopted for the presidential election and the election of governors and vice-governors of the provinces (Lindberg, 2006). The adoption of the majority and the proportional system in the DRC was to ensure openness, representativeness, accountability, transparency, and equitable distribution of resources, respect of human rights and a constitutional government. Small parties also had a chance to run for presidential elections allowing for the minority groups to be represented in the elections. According to Mangu and Budeli (2008), the 2006 Constitution of the DRC states that national sovereignty is vested in the people. This means all power emanates from the people who exercise it directly by referendum or elections and indirectly by their representatives.

In addition, the important legislative guidance to examine is chapter one of the DRC's Constitution which deals with citizenship as the prerequisite for anyone to participate in the elections either as a voter or as a candidate. Mangu and Budeli (2008) further state that citizenship was a critical issue due to long periods of war which led to the Congolese people of Rwandan and Tutsi origin known as 'the Banyamulenge' being denied their legitimate claim for citizenship in the DRC. The DRC's constitution exclusively provides that Congolese citizenship cannot be held concurrently with any other citizenship. That constitutional ruling led to uncertainties although the 2006 elections in the DRC were marked as the most successful elections.

More laws that governed democratic elections in the DRC from 2006 include two laws passed in 2004 which are the law 04/002 of 15 March 2004 on political parties and the law 04/024 of 12 November 2004. The law 04/002 of March 2004 governed the registration of political parties (Law 04/002, 2004:29). On the other hand the law No. 04/024 – Congolese Nationality,12 November is an Act that provides the criteria for the establishment of nationality in the DRC and that is the establishment of nationality in the DRC and that is important as the legal framework of elections in the DRC is the law 06/006 of March 2006 on the organisation of presidential, legislative and provincial elections. This is an electoral law which governs the electoral conduct during the electoral process. The above-mentioned laws were vital in providing the framework governing elections in the DRC starting from the 2006 elections. These laws according to Höglund (2009) assist electoral institutions in governing elections created to respect the law and ensure free and fair elections.

4.2.2. Democratisation and electoral violence

The transition to a more democratic government in the DRC became an enduring struggle that has seen the country move from an armed rebellion to a forced political transition. The assassination of Laurent Kabila in January 2001 marked a defining moment in the history of the political transition of the DRC. After the death of Laurent Kabila, the DRC had a new quest for a democratic political system as one of many competing agendas that underpinned political negotiations to restore peace in the country. One of the key issues that led to the quest for democracy in the DRC was the lack of a separation of powers. The 2001 government in the DRC attempted institutionalisation but it was still quite impossible to map out the exercise of power (Reyntjens, 2009). What the International assistance and DRC government attempted in 2001 was to create predominant models of peacekeeping, with emphasis on rapid democratisation in a fragile post-conflict state. Such institutionalisation before liberalisation resulted in elections creating a medium for politicians to sabotage the democratisation process in many African countries in order to avoid political competition (Paris, 2004: 164). The theory of Paris on institutionalization before liberation outlines that in most African states the effort to institutionalize can result in electoral institutions suffering from a significant lack of credibility as well as questionable independence.

Furthermore, power in the DRC under the interim leadership of Joseph Kabila in 2001 was reshuffled without clear coherence with the political vision of the country. Just like the leadership of Mobuto, Joseph Kabila co-opted, arrested and dropped or reappointed the members of government without any constitutional considerations. The cabinet reshuffle during Joseph Kabila's interim presidency in 2001 reflected a leadership crisis. While political conflict persisted in the DRC during the period of 2001 to 2006 the administrative focus for the Kabila administration was to realign neopatrimonial politics. Despite pockets of armed conflict remaining in the eastern part of the country, the Congolese peace process made dramatic strides as citizens prepared for their first multiparty democratic elections in 2006.

Leading up to the 2006 elections the DRC still faced serious challenges with human rights violations due to armed conflicts that took place during and before democratic negotiations. However, on the 30th of July 2006, the DRC held its first free, democratic,

multiparty elections in more than 40 years of different preceding dictatorships. The new legislative framework governing elections in the DRC led to the election authorities registering more than 25 million voters between June and December 2005 and a constitutional referendum between the 18th and 19 of December 2005 was held, which resulted in a new constitution approved by 83 per cent of voters (Ngoy-Kangoy, 2007). The elections that took place on the 30th of July 2006 were also not immune to violence and intimidation. According to Diamond (2008), the Congolese people still learnt that even with democracy in place and free elections violence still took place especially between the East and West of the DRC. According to Höglund (2009) democracy is expected to work through a system of legal procedures and transparency. However, there was candidate-driven violence between the East and the West in the DRC during the 2006 elections. The people from the East rooted for Kabila while people from the west were in full support of Bemba.

Consequently, the conflicts were mostly fuelled by ethnic relations and which emerged from the historical ethnic violence in the DRC. The patron-client relations in the DRC stemmed from ethnic divisions. An analysis of the ethnic factor in the presidential election is not easy. Kabila got 58.05% of the votes against Bemba's 41.95% (NgoyKangoy, 2007). The linguistic bond between the Swahili-speaking East and the Lingala-speaking West seemed to have been a fundamental determining factor in the choice of voters. The problem with such patrimonialism is that only segments of society are included in politics and the system therefore risks alienating or marginalising part of the population as it encourages corruption and side-lines the rule of law (Höglund, 2009). Such factors of power inequality through ethnic divisions during elections foster electoral violence.

Furthermore, these elections represented the peak of a settlement by the government of national unity on 30 June 2003 and were a result of the Global and Inclusive Accord (AGI) at Sun City, after the 1998 war. The elections were especially characterised by three phenomena: cartelisation, independent candidates and the East-West rift (Ngoy-Kangoy, 2007). Out of 500 national parliamentarians, the People's Party for Reconstruction and Development (PPRD) of Joseph Kabila won 111 seats, followed by Jean Pierre Bemba's Movement for the Liberation of Congo with 64 seats, and Antoine Gizenga's Unified Lumumbist party (PALU) with 43 seats (United States

Institute Of Peace, 2008). Although these elections were not without flaws, they were perceived to be acceptably fair and representative of the general will of the Congolese people, and to have met the first step to a more democratic society. The Commission Electoral Indépendante (CEI), a transitional institution created the following agreements in 2002, handled them effectively, providing an important milestone in the peace process. The elections were effectively evaluated and monitored in the face of massive logistical challenges, the voting and counting processes were seen to be exemplary (Mangu, 2013). The 2006 elections for the Congolese people were the beginning of hope even in the wake of continuous conflicts that took place especially in the Eastern region of the DRC. This is illustrated in the understanding of the nature of elections by Höglund (2009) which looks at the competitiveness and political mobilisation during elections.

Although, the elections in 2006 in the DRC were said to be free and fair it is important to note that elections have to be understood within the wider context of the patronclient political ties which drive politics in many African states, including the DRC. The same link is also argued in Höglund's framework by understanding the patron-client relations concerning the struggle of state power when sympathising with ethnic backgrounds (Höglund, 2009). The lack of social security institutions leaves citizens dependent on their regional, social, religious, and ethnic communities and thus inclines voters to favour candidates sympathetic to their groups. Since a weak state cannot deliver social welfare goods, politicians fill this role, trickling the benefits of patronage down to the masses. Höglund (2009) further argues that the trickling of benefits from patronage systems down to the masses is a big feature of conflict-ridden societies in Africa. Politicians' access and gain power from the citizens through the informal networks they control through patronage; and that was unfortunately entrenched since the beginning of democracy in the DRC.

Additionally, the growing pattern of patronage in sub-Saharan African states was also analysed by Peter Ekeh. His theory of the two publics explained the 'unique' nature of African politics during colonialism, which had ethnicity, nepotism, and corruption as underlying elements (Ekeh, 1975). Ekeh's analogy on patterns of patronage focused on colonialism and the nature of African politics in the 1970s. Ekeh was one of the African pioneers of a perspective that has blossomed in such frameworks as

patrimonialism (Bratton & Van de Walle, 1994). The character of patrimonial politics is seen as a product of colonialism that is still evident in the contemporary postcolonial African states. Ethnic divisions and experiences of colonialism in Africa have led to the emergence of a unique historical configuration in modern post- colonial Africa (Ekeh, 1975). Ekeh's two publics focused on two groups which are the cadre of colonial administrators and the African bourgeois class born out of the colonial experience itself. For the purpose of this research the focus is the African political bourgeois who have the privilege of power in the context of the DRC and have used that power to propagate inter-ethnic feuds and political violence.

4.2.3. Voting in fear and human rights violations: Crisis of constitutionalism

With bloody protests and government threats it has been a formidable task to vote in the DRC. Despite the signature of the Sun City accords in 2003 between the Congolese Government and the belligerent parties fighting in Eastern Congo, violence still affects the lives of millions in North and South Kivu, Ituri and Maniema provinces. Women particularly have been targeted with various forms of sexual violence by armed groups and the ongoing insecurity has also exacerbated marginalisation of the most vulnerable, of who women form a large part (Carayannis, 2008). There is devastating physical, mental, social, economic, gender-based violence and serious human rights abuses surrounding sub-Saharan African elections. While the nature of elections includes competitive elections the triggering factor of violence is the militant mobilisation (Höglund, 2009). Human Rights Watch (2017) found that the government fails to prevent election-related sexual violence, properly investigate cases and ensure that survivors have access to comprehensive post-rape care in many African states .The women and children who are sexually assaulted during election conflict suffer a lot of trauma, physical harm that often leads to anxieties when it comes to the election period. Women in the DRC are even fearful to take part in politics because of the violent nature of that space.

The fear that Congolese people carry has had a huge impact on voter registration in the DRC. *Table 2* depicts the presidential election results and voter participation in 2006.

Province	Voter participat ion	Kabila	Bemba	Gizenga	Mobutu	Kashala	Ruberwa	All others
Kinshasa	72.1	14.7	49.1	22.0	0.2	7.7	0.3	6.0
Bas-Congo	76.0	13.9	36.2	1.8	0.7	6.5	0.3	40.6
Bandundu	69.3	2.6	9.7	80.1	1.2	0.4	0.1	5.9
Equateur	74.3	1.8	63.7	0.3	30.6	0.1	0.1	3.4
Orientale	77.6	70.3	5.2	0.9	5.1	0.4	6.1	12.0
Maniema	85.0	89.8	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.4	8.7
North Kivu	81.0	77.7	0.8	0.4	0.5	0.5	3.8	16.3
South Kivu	90.2	94.6	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.1	2.0	2.6
Katanga	71.6	78.0	3.4	0.5	0.5	2.7	0.4	14.5
Kasai Orientale	39.2	36.1	14.7	1.2	0.5	17.9	0.8	28.8
Kasai	45.3	11.4	31.9	14.7	0.4	17.8	1.7	22.1
Occidental								
Total DRC	71.0	44.8	20.0	13.0	4.8	3.5	1.7	12.2

Table 2: Presidential Election, July 30, 2006 (first-round results, in per cent)

Source: United States Institute of Peace report (2008:2)

Table 2 indicates that in the first-ever multiparty elections in the DRC over 70 % of the DRC's registered voters cast ballots for a president of the republic and representatives to the National Assembly. During the 2006 election, the international community ensured that there were free and fairly planned elections hence the highest participation from the Congolese people was seen in the 2006 elections.

4.2.4 Weakened civil society scrutiny of elections: Disputed results

Civil society plays a very critical role in the elections and democracy of a state. The role of civil society in elections often takes the form of support for the institutional processes of a democratic election as well as the more substantive development of a democratic electorate (Mottair, 2009). Civil society is composed of citizens acting as a collective in the politics and public sphere of a country. Diamond (1999:221) defines civil society as" the realm of organised social life that is open, voluntary, selfgenerating, at least partially self-supporting, autonomous from the state and bound by a legal order or set of shared rules". Civil societies are one of the key components of democratic consolidation in a state as they signify public participation. The amount of

accountability and transparency that the ruling government has in its institutions is legitimised both by the constitution and the civil society in a state. According to Höglund (2009) the electoral institutions administer electoral conduct and systems creating clear winners and losers. However, the nature of electoral institutions in a state can enhance the political usage of electoral administration and election fraud.

Additionally, the civil society in the DRC is there to challenge the state's abuse of power and authority. Congolese civil society is comprised of a range of actors on the local, regional, and national levels. Most civil society organisations (CSOs) seek to advance the social and economic development of their communities, often through the provision of goods and services for the public interest. The restriction of the civil society involvement in state affairs was imposed during the colonial period and continued under the leadership of Mobutu. In Joseph Kabila's administration, the existence of civil society has been both effective and ineffective due to manipulation and civil society funding. During elections, politicians used civil society to campaign for elections and to gain ethno-religious support. Civil society that was involved and was not in support of Joseph Kabila was also restricted from political participation and that contributed to the unaccountable nature of his administration

Furthermore, in the context of elections civil society can reduce electoral violence to promote peacebuilding or play a role in creating a violent electoral environment. Höglund et al. (2009) developed a conceptual framework to identify various conflictgenerating factors in the context of elections. The factors clustered by Höglund et al.'s framework such as the electoral process, institutions of elections and election stakes are key components that civil societies evaluate when it comes to the elections in a country. Civil society in the DRC has played a key critical role in conflict management and sometimes conflict escalation. Looking at the second Congo war (1998-2003) which was a very complex conflict, it involved a vast array of actors, interests and issues. Civil society organisations were directly involved in both the peace process and the subsequent transitional period designed to resolve the conflict, providing some sort of popular legitimacy to these two processes dominated by politico-military forces (Koko, 2016). The civil society of the DRC has been involved in the process of mitigating and legitimising power even during the Congo Wars especially the second Congo War. However, it is crucial to understand the participation

of civil society during the election-related conflict. The perceptions of elections as legitimate and the provision of limited space for conflict behaviour can be promoted by civil society (Höglund et al., 2009). Civil societies are expected to ensure safety and security of citizens.

Correspondingly, civil society in the DRC played a crucial role during the democratic transition process from 2003 to 2006. Koko (2016) clearly states that, while several Congolese and non-Congolese stakeholders were instrumental in contributing towards the success of the transitional process and the resolution of the conflict, the role of civil society cannot be overlooked. However, civil society of the DRC has become vulnerable to the influence and manipulation of the main national political groupings. One of the reasons why such civil societies become vulnerable to the national political groupings is due to the history of their sources of funding, which is very patrimonial. According to Trefon (2005:141), establishing non-governmental organisations in the DRC was just one among several forms of coping strategies imagined by ordinary Congolese in times of hardship. In this regard, associations and NGOs are formed because of their links to international funding opportunities. Such civil societies can be politicised and highly unaccountable to the objectives they have set.

Table 3 shows the DRC's religious demography to outline religious civil society involvement in peace building and manipulating elections.

Religious	Mid-1990	Mid-1995	Mid-2000	Mid-2025	Percentage annual change (1999-	
cluster	Adherents	Adherents	Adherents	(projected)		
	(%)	(%)	(%)	Adherents (%)	2000)	
Christians	35,392,480	43,289,860	49,255,901	100,935,700 (96.3)	3.36	
	(94.7)	(95.3)	(95.4)			
including:						
Roman	18,750,000	23,000,950	26,300,000	55,000,000 (52.5)	3.44	
Catholics	(50.2)	(50.6)	(50.9)			
Protestants	7,780,000	9,328,718	10,485,000	18,862,000 (18.0)	3.03	
	(20.8)	(20.5)	(20.3)			
Muslims	435,000 (1.2)	500,000 (1.1)	568,656 (1.1)	900,000 (0.9)	2.72	
Country's population	37,363,000	45,421,244	51,654,000	104,788,000		

Table 3: Religious adherents in the Democratic Republic of the Congo,19902025

Source: Barrett, Kurian and Johnson (2001:211).

The role of civil society groups in a democracy is to ensure accountability and transparency from the government. In the DRC religious civil societies were involved actively in the contested elections of 2006 and 2011 (Aembe & Jordhus-Lier, 2017). The civil society groups mostly regarded as influential in the DRC are the religious groups and from *Table 3*, Christianity grew at 3.36 % annually with the Catholic Church maintaining 50% growth. Religious networks are important and powerful actors in DR Congo's public sphere. Political parties in the DRC have used religious networks for mobilisation.

4.2.5. The link between ethnicity, religious polarization and electoral violence

As much as religious organisations can play a crucial role in peacebuilding in African elections, they can also contribute to the ethnic and religious tensions. Before discussing the role played by ethnicity and religious polarization in elections, it is important to first outline the difference between religion and ethnicity as identities to which people subscribe. Ethnicity in this regard is broadly used to encompass differences in 'colour, appearance, and language' as well as other indicators, such as common histories, which are felt as sufficiently important and shared characteristics to be potential sources of mobilisation. Scholars maintain that ethnicity is a strong predictor of vote choice in multi-ethnic and nascent democracies. Voters may select co-ethnics to receive patronage or public resource access for their group (Hofman & Long, 2013). As far as religion is concerned, the population of the African continent is divided between three main religions: Islam, Christianity and African Traditional Religions. Politicians tend to use ethnicity to gain support from their locals while using religion to reinforce support from those who may not be under their ethnic influence but who share similar religious conviction and affiliation. Power politics along ethnoreligious lines have been identified to have a ripple effect on the democratic system since it creates and sustains political tension and ultimately electoral violence (Egwu, 2001; Osinubi & Osinubi, 2006; Jega 2002; Salawu, 2010).

Both ethnic and religious mobilisation later manifest in electoral violence especially during the time of the announcement of results. During the announcement of the election results in 2019 the Catholic church raised the stakes, stating clearly that they would publish what they considered to be true results of the elections and would defy

the government if necessary (Freytas-Tamary, 2019). Religious civil society involvement and mobilisation strategies can further encourage electoral violence due to the differing treatment of candidates.

Additionally, to understand voting, parties and governance in multi-ethnic democracies it is important to unpack the political role of the ethnic factor around elections. The ethnic factor plays a critical role in the choice of a political leader and governance morality in many African states. The period of elections has been the moment of raising questions of identity which are often expressed in different ways. Ethnic politics influences the democratisation process and implementation of good governance. It was seen in the 2006 Presidential elections. A total of 25 420 199 out of a population of about 60 million inhabitants were registered to vote (Ngoy-Kangoy, 2007). The new dawn of democracy during the 2006 elections in the DRC was one that resulted from the culmination of a compromise by the government of national unity on 30 June 2003. Ngoy-Kangoy (2007) further argues that out of 500 national parliamentarians the People's Party for Reconstruction and Development (PPRD) led by Joseph Kabila won 111 seats, followed by Jean Pierre Bemba's Movement for the Liberation of Congo with 64 seats, and Antoine Gizenga's Unified Lumumbist party (PALU) with 43 seats. During the elections, the Congolese people voted for individuals and not the programmes because many parties during the 2006 elections lacked guiding ideologies and strong policy orientation. The modification of ethnic allegiance must be carefully considered when evaluating the DRC's elections and voting culture.

4.2.6 Socio-economic factors and political economy

The biggest factor of development in a state is the socio-economic factor which impacts on the successes and failure of a governing system. There are systematic relations between the characteristics of political regimes and patterns of socioeconomic development (Sirowy & Inkeles, 1990). It is, therefore, pivotal to understand and evaluate the socio-economic factors that have predisposed the DRC to conflicts as well as those that might have triggered conflicts. Socio-economic factors in this regard include factors such as economic growth, unemployment, poverty, health and social welfare.

These factors are evaluated as part of their potential contribution to electoral violence. The socio-economic atmosphere in the DRC during the 2006 elections showed how the country's vulnerability to conflicts served as a weak link for development. When the country gained its independence leading to the 2006 elections there was worsening of economic inequality as the majority of the population struggled to sustain a decent living while the political and economic elites continued to accumulate wealth (Downey, 2015:216). Specific groups or individuals in a patrimonial state can gain more benefits than others given the set of the pre-existing economic conditions and resource allocation rooted in ethnicity. The economic design of a state through responsive economic institutions depends on the allocation of political power and that is what political elites in the DRC use to sustain power.

In addition, when Joseph Kabila came to power in 2006, he inherited a political tradition of patrimonialism and corruption, based on access to easily corruptible resources such as copper, cobalt, diamond, and gold deposits. This political tradition of corruptible resource rents post-independence was established in the Mobutu period leading right up to the Laurent Kabila's era (Nguh, 2013). The DRC has suffered a marked economic decline since independence. However, it is also important to note the positive developments that independence materialized with in the DRC such as access to education for the previously disadvantaged and economic recovery with the help of Chinese investments (Matti, 2010). These remarkable developments were overshadowed by negative political scandals and corrupt activities. Starting from the 2006 elections the economic stability of the DRC was one marked by a dramatic population growth while poverty deepened, and inequality widened.

Furthermore, the politics of the DRC have also been marked by the troubling relationship between elections and neopatrimonialism. According to Birnir (2007:42), ethnic cleavages lead to coerciveness which is salient during and after the democratisation period. The goal of politicians before and during elections is to promise their ethnic constituency, who participate in politics, with obtaining officerelated goods. Neopatrimonialism in sub-Saharan African states like the DRC have also led to the intimidation of many civilians who have expressed their fear through staying away from voting. The core of public participation is in having free and fair elections; however, in sub-Saharan African states like the DRC participating in

elections is an unsafe action that one could take part in. Despite having the reinvention of constitutions during the 1990s many sub-Saharan African states still faced the challenge of constitutionalism. In sub-Saharan African states there is a minimal focus on the constitutional order and the rule of law by many states. The reforms made leading to the existence of the DRC's constitution have not been able to tackle the institutional weaknesses which have opened the gap for human rights violations, corruption and economic mismanagement for the state.

4.2.7 Elections and constitutionalism

In the 1990s many African states reinvented their constitutions to build good political societies. They moved away from one-party authoritarian states to embrace a constitutional political order and representative democracy. The DRC's constitution was implemented in 2006 to usher in more democratic governance and constitutionalism. Constitutional reforms in states like the DRC were introduced to provide a new constitutional framework to deal with perennial ills such as political instability, dictatorship, repression, human rights violations, corruption and mismanagement of state property, and poverty, all of which had stymied progress on the continent since independence (Fombad, 2014). The constitution of the DRC was a new dawn for rewriting the history of the departing colonial powers at independence and the dictatorships of Mobuto and Laurent Kabila. While many of the reforms have considerably opened the political space for the ordinary person, they did not sufficiently tackle the institutional weaknesses that led to dictatorships, corruption and economic mismanagement in African states. Such deficits in constitutional practice are shown in the continuous electoral violence and human rights violations in the DRC.

Furthermore, African constitutions have quickly transformed into instruments of oppression under the guise of shadowing the desired but evasive goals of national unity and economic development. Kibert and Fombad (2017) further alluded that most of these constitutions became the source of tyranny, which in many countries provoked civil wars, coups d'états and political instability. In the DRC, the constitution became an ornamental document that politicians ignored and violated with impunity. The 2006 constitution includes important human rights protections. However, the government failed to assure that legislation is consistent with constitutional norms. Constitutional

language banning torture is not complemented by legislation defining it, nor has the parliament acted to align the penal code with the UN Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment in the DRC (Afaoku, 2005:23). The violation of human rights by the state in disguise of the

4.3 The Democratic Republic of Congo's 2011 Presidential Elections

constitution further limited democratic consolidation in the DRC.

The presidential term of Joseph Kabila from 2006 was then followed by the 2011 Presidential elections. This was a second run of democratic elections in the DRC moving towards achieving democratic consolidation. Before the 2011 elections many political and legal legislations were introduced and a shift in the democratic dynamics of institutions was also evident. The themes analysed below focuses on the key critical developments before the 2011 elections and how such political and economic developments have contributed to electoral violence in 2011.

4.3.1. Political and legal framework for the elections

In the 2011 elections, the same legal frameworks of the 2006 elections were put in place but with an edition of revised laws. One of the laws implemented in the 2011 elections was Law No. 11/003 of June 25, 2011, which modified Law No. 06/006 on several aspects adding to the criteria of ineligibility and the replacement of CEI by CENI to ensure free and fair elections (Reid, 2013). On the 28 of November 2011, the DRC then held their second national democratic elections. The 2011 elections, unlike the 2006 elections, were an organisational and political disaster. The results were considered invalid by electoral monitoring missions. The pre-election period and disputed election results coincided with numerous human rights violations, mainly against members of opposition parties, journalists and human rights activists (Salihu, 2019). The country continued to suffer from the shrinking of democratic fora, improper governance, impunity, and recurrent crises of legitimacy.

The DRC government created a roadmap and electoral calendar leading to the 2011 elections to restore the legal framework of elections in the DRC. The DRC's government involvement in the electoral process continued to put the Independent Electoral Commission in a cagey position because during electoral violence state actors are deployed by the government. The state is expected to work together with international organisations in ensuring electoral violence prevention methods but

instead in sub-Saharan African states the state actors who violated human rights were also deployed by the government (Höglund, 2009). The irony of democracy is that the laws put in place allow for the prevention and violation of human rights and the DRC military government also justified their human rights violation attacks as the means to protect the state.

4.3.2 Democratisation and electoral violence

On the other hand, the 2011 elections in the DRC took a turn from what was promising to be a second circle of democracy and violence took over. This happened after the political parties raised concerns about the credibility of the voters roll after its revision by the NIEC due to mismanagement, lack of transparency in the electoral process and lack of cooperation between NIEC and political parties (Githaiga, 2012). Free and fair elections for political representation were thus compromised due to the mismanagement of elections taking into consideration that the institutional arrangements for polling were also important in uncovering the driving forces behind electoral violence (Höglund, 2009). Another key analysis of the 2011 elections is the restricted involvement of civil society organisations especially those who freely opposed the rule of Joseph Kabila's administration. This electoral issue discredited the electoral process of 2011 as there was less respect for the freedom of participation for Congolese people. Preliminary results of the presidential elections were announced on the 8th of December 2011 before representatives of political parties and the diplomatic community (Reid, 2013). Immediately the legislative candidates alleged that the winners who had been announced in the provisional results did not reflect the records of party agents and therefore they filed disputes before the court.

Unlike the elections in 2006, in which the United Nations helped enormously with logistics, Congolese officials organised the 2011 elections. Electoral related violence in the DRC during the 2011 election process was present even before the 2011 elections. The crowd supporting Joseph Kabila attacked opposition followers especially in the capital of Kinshasa before elections began in 2011(Ettang, NzovuOuma & Bakwesegha- Osula, 2011). The election disputes during the 2011 elections in the DRC were fuelled by suspicions and complaints against the election process and the insecurities of the Congolese civil society on the electoral system of CENI. In particular, the electoral mechanisms and electoral system design were

central to understanding the appeal of violence in some societies and among certain actors (Höglund, 2009). The nature of elections in 2011 in the DRC created the potential for encouraging conflict and polarization.

4.3.3 Voting in fear and human rights violations: Crisis of constitutionalism

Post-election violence became a norm for expressing unhappiness with the results starting in 2006 when competing parties in the DRC retaliated accepting the results that led to violence. However, the 2011 elections were more challenging than the 2006 elections in the DRC (Collin, 2015:110). The international community withdrew its support during the 2011 elections and that led to a great deal of political chaos and vote corruption. The withdrawal of the international community from supporting the 2011 elections was based on the demand from Joseph Kabila who tasked a parliamentary commission to examine constitutional changes that would allow him to stay in power beyond the two-term presidential limit (Reid, 2013). The United Nations Organization Mission in the DRC withdrew their support in the 2011 elections and it was a key critical organisation that offered funds for political development in the DRC.

Moreover, electoral violence in the DRC was and still is perpetuated by many issues. During the 2011 electoral period, the change of the basic rules of the constitution relating to presidential voting procedures served as one of the reasons why the DRC's elections were regarded as unfair (Vircoulon, 2011:199). Problems existed starting from the initial competition of politicians to the electoral procedures put in place. For there to be a successful electoral process the people must be happy to choose from the existing parties which leader they want with no interferences or threats. President Joseph Kabila who had been the president of the DRC since 2001 started restructuring the constitution before his second term and the results of that term were not accepted by the Congolese civilians. That further resulted in the expression of civil and political unrest by the Congolese people and opposition parties. According to The New Humanitarian (2011) before the 2011 elections there was an ongoing invitation for women to join political parties and governance but only one out of 10 women that were invited to join the party accepted the invitation due to fear. Fear to take part in politics becomes a barrier for women's social and economic participation as well.

Moreover, this violence against women and children is not only carried out by the government security forces but also non-state actors. In several ongoing conflicts in Africa, notably those in DRC, Darfur, and Ethiopia's Ogaden region, sexual violence has reportedly been used by one or more conflict parties as a tool of war (Human Rights Watch, 2007). Gender based violence against women and children during election-related conflict is aimed at intimidating and humiliating the population seen as sympathetic to opposing factions. Gender based violence has been evident especially in the eastern Democratic Republic of Congo where security forces, rebel organisations, militias, and other armed groups have inflicted sexual violence upon the civilian population on a massive scale (Jocelyn, 2010). The government still struggles to address gender-based violence to threaten and humiliate oppositional civilians thus the stay-away system employed by many women in the DRC has also contributed to the overall decline in election turnout.

In 2011, however, the fear to vote increased as the rate of participation decreased and the number of discarded ballots increased (Reid, 2013). According to the Independent National Electoral Commission (La Commission Électorale Nationale Indépendante – CENI), in 2011 there were 32 024 640 voters, of whom 18 911 572 (59.05%) voted, minus 768 468 spoiled or blank ballots (4.1%) for a final tally of 18 143 104 (56.7%) valid votes. These figures show important decline in the level of participation and researchers have found funding from international donors for voter education as the key factor for the poorer turnout in 2011. International donors pulled their funding and assistance during the preparation towards the 2011 elections in the DRC.

In addition, the other key factor is voting in fear due to the violence that was taking place in the DRC. Voting in fear has been discussed by scholars like Schedler (2010:69) as a component of electoral authoritarianism where multiparty elections at all levels of government are held yet violate basic democratic standards in serious and systematic ways. Manipulation and coercion during elections can either cause people to vote for the elite party or scare people away from the voting stations. Patterns of violence during the election period limit people's participation in the electoral process. Kean (2004:1) observed that violence is the greatest enemy of democracy. The violence by intimidation and blackmailing as much as it is not physical harm forms part of electoral violence which scares people away from voting stations.

Candidate	Party	Votes	%	
Joseph Kabila	Independent	8,880,944	48.95%	
Étienne Tshisekedi	Union for Democracy and Social Progress	5,864,775	32.33%	
Vital Kamerhe	Union for the Congolese Nation	1,403,372	7.74%	
Léon Kengo	Union of Forces of Change	898,362	4.95%	
Antipas Mbusa	Independent	311,787	1.72%	
Nzanga Mobutu	Union of Mobutuist Democrats	285,273	1.57%	
Jean Andeka	Alliance of Congolese Nationalist Believers	128.820	0.71%	
Adam Bombolé	Independent	126,623	0.70%	
François Nicéphore Kakese	Union for the Revival and the Development of Congo	92,737	0.51%	
Josué Alex Mukendi	Independent	78,151	0.43%	
Oscar Kashala	Union for the Rebuilding of Congo	72,260	0.40%	
otal (turnout 58.81%)		18,911,572	100.00%	

Table 4: Summary of the 28 November 2011 Democratic Republic of the CongoPresidential Election Results

Source: Reid (2013)

Table 4 shows the drop in election turnout in 2011. The voter turnout of 58.81% in the 2011 elections was a shocking drop from the 71% voter participation in the DRC's elections in 2006. Post the 2006 elections, the consolidation of democracy remained extremely difficult due to the violence that continued despite having a democratically elected government. The period leading to the elections in 2011 was very bloody leading to further development of fear of voting. A UN human rights report documented 188 violations between 1 November 2010 and 30 September 2011 linked to the electoral process relating to freedom of expression, physical integrity, liberty and security of individuals and freedom of peaceful assembly (MONUSCO & OHCHR, 2011). These incidents involved elements of the Congolese National Police targeting supporters of the opposition parties who sought to vote for another candidate instead of Kabila.

There was violence in the pre-election period with minimal assistance from the international community. Even on the Election Day, there were incidents of violence related to suspected fraud, augmented by the poor preparation of electoral lists (Reid,

2013). The lack of preparation for the Election Day in 2011 led to complications with the election process and many civilians chose to stay away from voting stations due to the uncertainties and violence that was taking place.

4.3.4 Weakened civil society scrutiny of elections: Disputed results

The 2006 elections were largely driven by the international community whilst the 2011 elections were organised and driven by the manipulation of the Joseph Kabila administration. One of the main areas in which the objectiveness of civil society came under serious dissection was the media. Koko (2016) further argues that, during the transition, private media outlets became the targets of the struggle for influence from the main stakeholders in government with other media owned by political actors such as the Digital Congo television channel (close to the Kabila family) and the two Canal Kin television channels (that belonged to Deputy President Jean-Pierre

Bemba). Media outlets were turned into political propaganda machines during the 2006 elections and thus reshaped the role of the civil societies in the DRC during the most successful 2006 elections in the DRC. The misuse of political rights as indicated under the "Nature of politics" in Höglund's (2009) analysis was visible during the 2011 elections. The DRC's nature of politics (patrimonialism and legitimation of violence) triggered an unfavourable environment for the progression of democracy and good governance during the 2011 elections.

Religious organisations also play a critical role in the political socialisation of African civil societies (Agbiji & Swart, 2015). The civil society organisation which plays a key critical role in African democracy is the religious organisation. Religious organisations have played a crucial part in raising awareness about elections and preventing electoral violence in the DRC.

In 2011 the civil society in the DRC expressed their dissatisfaction about the change of the constitutional rules to the international community and the media. The civil society stated that this change was a plot by President Kabila to remain in power even when his support had declined (Vircoulon, 2011:200). In validating the 2011 election results many civil society agents and international observers raised quality concerns. The report of the National Electoral Observation Mission (Mission nationale d'observation 2011) included a number of pointed criticisms, including fraud, as did

the report of the 'Voice of the Voiceless for Human Rights' (La Voix des Sans-Voix pour les droits de l'homme – VSV 2012). The irregularities with the election results led to Kabila's supporters and Tshisekedi's supporters clashing. While Kabila was declared the winner of the 2011 election the civil society coalition, AETA, came closest to saying that Tshisekedi had won (Reid, 2013). This hurt the legitimacy of Kabila's presidency which further perpetuated violence post the 2011 election period. Indeed, the civil society scrutiny was largely overblown during the 2011 elections more than the 2006 elections.

4.3.5 The link between ethnicity, religious polarization and electoral violence

Moreover, ethnicity was used as a source of mobilisation during the 2011 elections in the DRC. The 2011 elections resembled the heightened types of electoral violence and allegations of malfeasance. During the 2011 elections, President Kabila had to face perennial opposition figure Etienne Tshisekedi and after initially being seen as the leader of the opposition to foreign invasion Kabila came to be regarded by many as having been weak maybe even a bit complicit - in Rwanda's continued destabilisation of the Kivus which is a region that borders Burundi, Rwanda, Tanzania and Uganda (Orogun, 2002). After the 2011 elections, President Kabila continued ruling a regime engaged in direct marginalisation and repression of opposition figures since the elections. After the 2011 elections, it was clear that who had political influence and powerful networks included ethnic Katangese and the 'Banyamulenge-Rwandese axis' (Trefon, 2013). The ethnic factor leads to electoral clientelism which relates to sociological voting. Sociological voting equates ethnic belonging with political representation without moral compromise. Electoral clientelism, therefore, leads to inequalities in the distribution of the country's various development projects. During the period of elections, electoral clientelism, therefore, can contribute to electoral violence. It is important to take note of the fact that the ethnic orientation of the political process as a result of the colonial system deliberately denied the opportunity for the emergence of a dynamic middle class, thus suffocating civil society as an avenue for democratic expression, and making ethnic kinship a default framework for political competition.

4.3.6 Socio-economic factors and political economy

In the 2011 elections, the DRC's fragmented power elite resorted to populism and manipulation of genuine economic grievances and disaffection to win the vote of the poor (Reid, 2013). This was done through a promise of positive patron-client relations to grant access to resources by using votes. Even in the 2011 and 2018 elections, the (re)formation of social capital remained a challenge in the DRC. Patrimonialism, political conflicts and economic instability in the region have prevented an institutional system that would provide conditions of predictability and security for democratic consolidation (Rohwerder, 2015). Instead, the decline of economic, political and social infrastructure has resulted in distrust in the system of governance including the electoral systems and procedures. The link between the provision of natural resources and electoral violence is fuelled by the weakness of public institutions. This phenomenon is clear in the DRC where various military and ethnic groups contest for control over the country's copious sources of natural resources like diamonds. The revenues derived from the exploitation of natural resources are channelled into the pockets of commanders or have been used to fund the war effort (Samset, 2002). The chronic political instability in the DRC has resulted in continued corruption with limited resources used to combat socio-economic issues.

4.3.7 Elections and constitutionalism

As the 2011 elections came with violence, many Congolese civilians were brutally beaten and killed for exercising their political rights in a country with a constitution that mandates for the protection of human rights. Constitutionally the 2011 elections in the DRC were the most controversial. To drive the democratic vehicle in the DRC through violent free elections there had to be a collaboration between democracy as a system of government, the institutions, principles, individual, civil and political rights to ensure constitutionalism (Mangu, 2013). The relationship between democracy and constitutionalism in yielding free and fair elections was not evident in the DRC during the 2011 elections.

The credibility of elections and constitutionalism depends on the state's respect of the rule of law. Mangu (2013) further argued that the political will and commitment to democracy in African states like the DRC during the 2011 elections was among the lowest on the continent. This was due to elections being rigged and electoral violence

outbreak. There was also little respect for human rights and the rule of law during the 2011 election in the DRC. The irregularities such as the lack of independence of the Supreme Court of Justice and the NIEC affected the success of the 2011 elections. These institutions remained subject to the incumbent president and to the ruling coalition as the members of such institutions were deployed by Joseph Kabila. The 2011 elections constituted a terrible setback for the DRC constitutionally and democratically.

4.4 DRC's 2018 Presidential Elections

Post 2011 elections to try and create more democratic elections the DRC government together with the international community worked on ensuring the existence of credible, apolitical and non-partisan institutions such as public media, the army, the security services, the electoral commission, and the judiciary for 2016 elections. However, democratic elections were yet challenged by the developments that took place in 2016 leading to the postponement of elections to 2018. After the 2011 elections many electoral laws and regulations were amended, and this section reflects on the agenda of elections and democracy.

4.4.1. Political and legal framework for the elections

Following the 2011 electoral violence, electoral reform laws were crafted and electoral processes to ensure free and fair elections were then presented at the National Assembly on 24 September 2012 (International Institute for Democracy and Electoral Assistance, 2014). The electoral process reforms were to ensure that the next election cycle as not rigged, and that the DRC endeavoured to hold free and fair elections again. On 7 October 2012 a special commission, with members from both sides, was established to reach a compromise and Law 13/012 of 13 April 2013 was signed by President Kabila on 27 April 2013 (Reid, 2013). However, the 2016 elections were postponed by CENI with the argument that it needed more time to ensure that all election-related materials (e.g., ballot boxes) could be safely delivered and to update the voter register.

In Addition, when CENI petitioned the Cour Constitutionnelle (the nation's highest court), for authority to postpone the elections, the opposition and its supporters responded with protests, which became violent and resulted in the deaths of many people (Mbaku, 2016). The court ruled that President Kabila could remain in power if

the country failed to hold elections in November 2016 to determine his successor. Article 70 and Article 75 of the DRC's constitution was conflicting as the choice to allow Kabila to remain in power was not the only choice to make. According to the Democratic Republic of the Congo Constitution (2005) Article 75 clearly states that:

"In the case of a vacancy, as a result of death, resignation or any other cause of permanent incapacitation, the functions of the President of the Republic, with the exception of those mentioned in Articles 78, 81 and

82, are temporarily discharged by the President of the Senate."

This then meant that the constitutional court had the foresight to allow the president of the Senate to serve as the country's interim president as mandated by <u>Article 75</u> of the constitution when the constitutional mandate of Joseph Kabila ended on the 19th of December 2016. However, according to Mbaku (2016) the constitutional court relied on article 70 of the constitution of the Democratic Republic of the Congo which provides that:

"The President of the Republic is elected by direct universal suffrage for a term of five years which is renewable only once. At the end of his term, the President stays in office until the President-Elect effectively assumes his functions."

Article 70 does not mention that the elections determine a successor. This was the reason why Joseph Kabila was able to remain in power until the 2018 elections. The dangers of the constitutional court ruling on article 70 was a sign of a constitutional coup d'état. Constitutionally Kabila was elected for two terms from 2006-2016, however, the constitutional court ruling resulted in a constitutional crisis during November 2016. The constitutional ruling thus weakened the DRC's governance and democracy. By the courts' interpretations a paradox of a constitution without constitutionalism was evident. The ruling elite appeared to be narrowing the scope of the role of the judiciary and undemocratic power was then legitimised yet again by the judicial system through constitutional interpretations.

Furthermore, the deal made by Kabila with the opposition parties and CENI was for elections to take place at the end of 2017. When 2017 approached electoral violence in the DRC intensified especially in the Kasai region. Kabila's insistence on remaining

president of the DRC throughout 2017 only compounded these dynamics. Again, the elections were postponed to December 2018 due to the continuous outbreak of violence and poor electoral management that was in place. Violence that broke out in the DRC starting from 2016 leading to 2018 was thus a strategy for Kabila to remain in power. Höglund (2010) argues that political leadership is in most cases the key instigator of electoral violence. This is due to the abuse of the rule of law in many subSaharan states, including the DRC, with limited checks and balances for democratic institutions. Other leaders use militant mobilisation as means of mobilisation while triggering electoral violence.

Finally, in August 2018 Joseph Kabila announced that he would not be running for reelection. His announcement not to seek a third term was after an official from the Trump administration made it clear that the U.S. would apply sanctions to individuals or entities, regardless of who they were if they undermined the democratic process or threatened the peace and security of the country (Gandhi, 2018). Between 2015 and 2018 democracy declined due to the legitimacy crisis of many African states but the climax was the electoral violence that took place in the DRC after the postponement of the 2016 elections when violence in Eastern Ethiopia and Mozambique resurfaced. The challenges with electoral processes and procedures continued to have an impact on the democratic development of the DRC thus it became necessary to study the impact of elections in democratic governance. The democratic project was in crisis in the DRC due to electoral violence, lack of good governance and lack of democratic constitutionalism.

4.4.2 Democratisation and Electoral Violence

The DRC suffered from political instability due to the delay of elections by President Kabila in 2016. According to Ansorg (2018), the DRC citizens voiced their objection to the government through protests, especially in the capital city of the DRC (Kinshasa). However, the state security forces violently dismissed protesters in the DRC and democratic activists were also silenced through the shutting down of the internet. Electoral violence in the sub-Saharan African region has been an issue which raises a lot of concerns about the accountability of institutions and systems created to foster the sustainability of democracy. Weak institutions contribute largely to the electoral corruption and violence seen in sub-Saharan African states (Anifowose & Odukoya,

2013:290). The failure to strengthen democratic institutions contributes to the expanding electoral violence in Sub-Saharan African states. While there are functioning executive and legislative arms of government in place, the DRC remained unstable and underdeveloped, despite being rich in minerals during Joseph Kabila's presidency leading to the 2018 elections.

In contrast, the 2018 elections were the hope for a more democratic state for the Congolese people. However, they turned out to be a defeat for democracy and a disaster for the people (Ibrahim and Doss, 2019). Yet again the elections showed the failure of accountable and inclusive democratic institutions. Ibrahim and Doss (2019) further argued that, there was a week's delay and intense negotiations, before CENI announced <u>the victory of Felix Tshisekedi</u> as the winner of the 2018 elections. That on its own being a defeat to democracy as it signified the glitch of free and fair elections. The elections did produce a long transition from the long presidency of Joseph Kabila to Felix Tshisekedi even though they were flawed.

Transition from Kabila to Tshisekedi may have been viewed as the preservation of peace and stability in the DRC, however, 2018 elections and post-election was not immune to violence. Widespread irregularities, voter suppression, and violence significantly marred elections on December 30, 2018 in the <u>Democratic Republic of Congo</u> with more than a million Congolese unable to vote and some were unable to cast votes because of the <u>last-minute closure of more than 1,000 polling stations</u> (Human Rights Watch Report, 2019). The concern with the 2018 elections and the transition of power was again the issue of legitimacy because without legitimacy, Tshisekedi's government will find it hard to undertake the many serious reforms that DRC so urgently requires.

4.4.3 Voting in fear and human rights violations: Crisis of Constitutionalism

Following the postponement of the 2016 elections, voting participation dropped in the 2018 elections posing a significant threat to democratic consolidation. These elections took place after the Congolese authorities had delayed elections repeatedly for over two years, permitting President Joseph Kabila to remain in office beyond his constitutionally mandated two-term limit, which ended on December 19, 2016. Table 5 shows the election results of the three leading presidential candidates and the voter turnout.

Candidate	Party	Votes	%
Félix Tshisekedi	Union for Democracy and Social Progress	7,051,013	38.57
Martin Fayulu	Dynamic of Congolese Political Opposition	6,366,732	34.83
Emmanuel Ramazani Shadary	Independent	4,357,359	23.84
Total		18,329,318	
Registered voters/turnout			47.56

Table 5: 2018 election results and voter turnout

Source: Englebert (2018)

During the 2018 election, only 47.56% of registered voters turned out at the polls, partly due to the fear of voting. The drop in the election turnout was also due to the votes which were not cast at all in three opposition strongholds in the east of the country after the authorities cancelled the vote there, citing health risks from an Ebola outbreak and ethnic violence (Human Rights Watch, 2019). The violence also spread to some of the election stations with many angry citizens questioning the electoral process. The election turnout in the DRC from 2006 compared with the 2011 and 2018 elections has shown a significant decline in citizen participation and interest in the democratic process. The political decline in presidential votes was due to the current political era in the DRC and has been reflected through vote choice.

Similarly, elections in the DRC have not played a significant role in the regime reproduction process. The electoral disputes and rejection of election results do not only reflect on the institutional and structural framework of the elections, but they are also rooted in the voters' view of them, lack of confidence in the electoral system, and mismanagement of the electoral process. The elections have been a vehicle for consolidating autocratic rule under a new democratic disguise in the DRC. Lindberg (2007) argues that elections may in some cases sustain autocratic rule rather than reverse it. When elections work as a tool to legitimise autocratic rule, they are then likely to reproduce autocratic ruling with limited constitutionalism in place.

4.4.4 Weakened civil society scrutiny of elections: Disputed results

To legitimise elections in a state there must be involvement of independent civil society to examine the election process and results. The intervention by religious groups to defuse tensions before and after the presidential elections provides a pointer to their continued future engagement and importance of the maintenance of peace in the DRC (Uzodike & Wheto, 2008). Religious actors' post-independence leading to the 2018 elections have put emphases on the need for good governance and socio-economic development rather than the increase of parochial interests to scupper the relative peace in the DRC by leaders. However, against all the participation of civil society groups in maintaining and preventing human rights harm, many DRC civilians were killed during the 2016 postponement of elections as well as post-election violence in 2018. State security forces, armed groups, and militias in eastern Congo's North Kivu province intimidated voters to coerce them to vote for specific candidates, particularly for the ruling coalition's presidential candidate, Emmanuel Shadary, and for ruling coalition candidates for parliament (Human Rights Watch, 2019). The violent clashes involving voters, electoral officials, and security forces during elections manifested into disputed results as in 2011.

Religious groups like the Catholic Church were part of the civil society observation groups. However, the same religious organisations can also be subjected to electoral manipulation due to the dominance of religion, choice of leadership and voting patterns (Agbiji & Swart, 2015). Many African leaders attended churches and Christian programmes to mobilise votes. The Catholic Church during the 2018 election chose to publish the candidate Martin Fayulu as a legitimate winner of the elections instead of the announced winner Félix Tshisekedi (Freytas-Tamary, 2019) .The Catholic Church broke constitutional and electoral laws and looked at starting a revolt. Also, religious identity in the DRC (as with class and ethnic identities) is often situational and based on pragmatism.

On the 10th of January when the elections results were announced Felix Tshisekedi of the opposition *Union pour la Démocratie et le Progrès Social* (UDPS) was declared as the winner. Felix Tshisekedi won with 38.5%, followed by Martin Fayulu (of the Lamuka opposition alliance) with 34.7% of the votes, whilst the regime's candidate and Kabila's successor candidate, Emmanuel Ramazani Shadary, garnered only 23.8% of the votes (Englebert, 2019).Despite calls to appeal the results by opposition candidates like Martin Fayulu the presidency was passed on to Felix Tshisekedi . Englebert (2019) further argues that even though Joseph Kabila relinquished power, in the days following the 2018 elections, the Catholic Church under CENCO that had 39,082

observers in polling stations and the civil society coalition SYMOCEL that had observers in 101 CLCRs, made numerous reports of fraud and irregularities. This meant that the credibility of the democracy-promotion agenda in the DRC was at risk. Tribalism still played a role during the 2018 elections as it had done in the 2006 and 2011 elections.

4.4.5 The Link between ethnicity, religious polarization and electoral violence

Political and socio-economic changes trigger identity shift and ethnic associations causing friction between communities. The ethnic discourse became politicized as a result of the combination of the divide-and-rule agenda of the colonial administration, which was exploited by members of the national elites seeking a convenient means of mobilizing political support (Mattlin, 2011:182). The cyclical nature of electoral violence in the DRC suggests that these ethnic factors had not been addressed appropriately by the democratic system as it had failed to do so during the early democratic transition of the DRC. Höglund's analysis of electoral violence links up all the perspectives of conflict rooted African states like the DRC to provide a more historically rooted approach to understanding how and why ethnic divisions have become a powerful political tool for violent electoral mobilisation (Höglund, 2009). The country's history of political conflicts remained a driver of instability during the 2016-2018 election process, and violent conflict continued in the eastern part of the country.

This situation in the DRC had been exacerbated by the presence of a great number of Hutus and Tutsis from Rwanda in the Kivu region and to some extent the Hema from Uganda in Ituri, whose status had always been disputed among people in the eastern DRC (Stearns, 2011:37; Vircoulon, 2010:210). Violence in the troubled eastern region remained a complication before the December elections in the DRC, this region had not seen a peaceful transfer of power since independence from colonial Belgium in 1960. Even in 2019 violence between tribes in the Eastern Congo continued to impact on the progress of democracy in the DRC (Human Rights Watch, 2019). The violence in the previous years shows that peace and stability in the DRC in eastern Congo has been elusive.

4.4.6 Socio-economic factors and political economy

The economic development as the social aspect remained connected to ethnicity and the colonial background in the DRC even after independence. DRC's GDP in 2017

increased to 1.3% of GDP in 2018, after three consecutive years of deficits (The World Bank, 2019). However, public, social and investment spending is still low and inadequate to ensure more sustained and inclusive growth in the medium and long term. In 2018, the unemployment rate for the Democratic Republic of the Congo was 4.2%. The DRC's unemployment rate fluctuated substantially in recent years; it tended to increase through the 1999 - 2018 period ending at 4.2% in 2018 (World Youth Report, 2018). Several people in the DRC are still living under the poverty line with many battling to find employment in a very resource-rich country. At least 63% of the country's more than 80 million people lives on less than two dollars a day, according to the United Nations (Mohamed, 2018). It is also important to note how corruption and violence have played a major role in the slow-moving development of the economy.

Additionally, during the preparation stage of election in 2018 and post elections in 2019 it was evident that the economic factors in the DRC still relate to the country's vulnerability to conflicts, the timing of conflicts, and their duration. The public sector management and governance plays a critical role in managing economic factors and stability in a country. While Joseph Kabila's term was coming to an end in 2018 the combination of political uncertainty, predatory state institutions and low commodity prices continued to contribute to an increasing political instability (Human Rights Watch, 2019). While electoral protests focused on the constitution and delays to the electoral process during 2016 leading to 2018, they were also focused on Kabila's failure to improve the lives of ordinary people. While the Congolese people were hungry for electoral democratic change, they were also frustrated by the lack of development in socio-economic opportunities and by the complacency of the governing elite.

4.4.7 Elections and constitutionalism

The abuse of power by the Kabila family with minimal or no respect at all for the separation of powers has led to the Congolese people losing their trust in institutions such as the judiciary which are supposed to be independent. Afaoku (2005:24) further argues that, regardless of constitutional intent, Congolese judges are subject to undue influence from government officials and powerful individuals. Tshisekedi's victory in the 2018 elections was largely disputed and the dispute was then lodged with the

DRC's Constitutional Court. The ruling was considered unsurprising, with the court made up of Kabila's allies (Belaud & Bosuandole, 2019). The ruling followed the concerns that Joseph Kabila engineered a backroom deal with the largely untested Tshisekedi to protect his power base in a country with staggering mineral wealth.

DRC's elections under multiparty systems had the effect of legitimating corrupt and dysfunctional state power. This is partly because the political and electoral reforms were not accompanied by at least the minimum core content of modern democratic constitutions which is the strengthened rule of law and commitment by the leadership to constitutionalism (Gutto, 2003).

Institutions responsible for legitimising power through ensuring imposing procedures that enhance accountability have been vulnerable to manipulation and constitutional violation in the DRC. *Table 6* below shows the freedom status that is found in six subSaharan African countries including the DRC. *Table 6* shows the PR (Political Rights), CL (Civil Liberties), FR (Freedom Rating), AS (Aggregate Score) and FS (Freedom Status) evident in sub-Saharan states which impacts democratic consolidation.

Table 6: Freedom status of countries in six sub-Saharan African states 2018
and 2019

	2018					2019				
	PR	CL	FR	AS	FS	PR	CL	FR	AS	FS
Angola	6	6	6.0	26	NF	6	5	5.5	31	NF
Burundi	7	6	6.5	18	NF	7	6	6.5	14	NF
DRC	7	6	6.5	17	NF	7	6	6.5	15	NF
Rwanda	6	6	6.0	23	NF	6	6	6.0	23	NF
Sudan	7	7	7.0	8	NF	7	7	7.0	7	NF
Zimbab we	6	5	5.5	30	NF	5	5	5.5	31	NF

Source: Freedom House Report (2018); Freedom House Report (2019)

As seen in Table 6 the DRC in terms of the political liberties especially in 2018 leading to 2019 was rated 7 meaning the civilians of the DRC have very limited freedom. Indeed, this has been evident especially during the 2018 elections with manipulation and threats posed to the civilians by the government officials. Such freedom violations threaten the necessity and importance of governments to rule by the consent of the majority. The political rights rating was also influenced by the processes and procedures used in the 2018 elections where many polling stations opened late, and results were not publicly posted at some sites in violation of electoral law (Freedom House, 2019). In celebration of the 2019 results many Congolese people finally celebrated the loss of the ruling party to the oppositional leader Félix Tshisekedi who became the president on the 24th of January 2019.

However, the ex-President Joseph Kabila worked underground to ensure that he still retained political power in the DRC even after his term ended. In March 2019 Felix Tshisekedi agreed to join with ex-President Joseph Kabila to form a coalition government after Tshisekedi was not able to gain enough support in Parliament (Fabrics, 2019). Despite the political will of the people through voting for Félix

Tshisekedi the control of the country's agenda and finances in some way returned to the hands of Joseph Kabila. Even administratively a crisis was inevitable to take place as President Felix Tshisekedi and his predecessor Joseph Kabila reached an agreement in July on the division of cabinet posts between the two political camps (Bujakara, 2019). Democracy is indeed backsliding in the DRC as Joseph Kabila who has been a resident in the DRC for 18 years continues to control state institutions. Joseph Kabila's levers of power also extend to the military and the economic sectors, despite his administrative failures and human rights violations that were influenced during his presidency.

Likewise, illegitimacy and unconstitutional power ruling have been the legacy of the democratic transition of the DRC, particularly the electoral institutions. According to Höglund (2009:422), the conditioning factors of electoral violence under electoral institutions include electoral conduct and administration of elections with limited checks and little power. One of the triggering factors for electoral violence, according to Höglund, is the manipulation of the electoral administration and the constitution. The

management of elections by CENI had the potential to either encourage or discourage electoral violence in the DRC.

The independence of CENI as an institution had huge potential to build democratic trust of the Congolese civilians and promote transparent electoral administration. However, CENI has been vulnerable to electoral manipulation, electoral fraud and disputed electoral results. While CENI announced the 2018 results as they appeared the political governance of the DRC still faces issues of unaccountable government with exclusive institutions. To protect the liberties of the Congolese people the DRC must undertake intense reforms because without the legitimacy, the government will continuously find itself in the crisis of governance.

4.5. Conclusion

Although democracy is not measured solely by whether elections are free and fair, the freeness and fairness of elections are one of the necessary conditions for assessing the existence or absence of democracy. This chapter has outlined the legitimacy crisis of elections in the DRC starting from the 2006 elections to the 2018 elections. It further provided the implications for stability in the post-election environment especially in one that has continuous ethnic violence. In employing Höglund's theory on electoral violence it was clear that the DRC has had challenges with neopatrimonialism in governance and development. The theoretical framework used to evaluate electoral violence in the DRC was the Höglund's analytical framework by looking at the nature of politics, nature of elections and electoral institutions in the DRC. The Höglund's framework provided an analysis tool of the electoral system and procedures which have been used in the DRC during the 2006, 2011 and 2018 elections. Using Höglund's (2009) analytical tools, the DRC was found to have weak electoral institutions which have been constantly challenged and manipulated. An analysis of developments in the election process from 2006-2018 was then done including the analysis of the overall implications for stability and socio-economic development. The contested elections since 2006 produced a government with a legitimacy deficit to tackle the DRC's multiple security and development challenges.

Furthermore, the political and legal framework used in the DRC still needs reforming because through constitutional interpretation Joseph Kabila was able to retain power. The examination of democratisation and electoral violence also showed that elections

remain a standard practice for the DRC. However, the regime is only partly democratic and should be considered to exist in the hybrid regime category.

For as much as elections remain a standard practice, through the analysis of the drop in voter turnout from 2006-2018, it was also evident that democratic elections cannot be proclaimed as successful without the majority by-in. It was also argued in the analysis that violence and human rights violations during elections in the DRC led to the voting fear amongst Congolese people. Not only that, but the ethnic power relations in the DRC have created an exclusive political system in the country and electoral violence is often precipitated by the link between ethnicity and resource access. Through the analysis it was also evaluated that there was a rise in multiparty politics in the DRC, however, the rise in such electoral political competition did not reflect peace or stability. The DRC has a constitution without constitutionalism which has created a disconnection between the state and the citizens. To progress in governance and socio-economic development, the DRC must have a constitution that results in fair constitutionalism.

CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION, SUMMARY OF FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Conclusion

This chapter presents the summary of the research, conclusion and the recommendations on the influence of electoral violence on democratic consolidation in the Democratic Republic of the Congo. New sub-Saharan African democratisation is the process of democratic development that took place in Africa post the Huntington's third wave of democratisation. Many of these new democracies continue to function under enormous political violence with minimal development when it comes to good governance and constitutionalism. It has thus been clear that in the politics of sub-Saharan African states like the DRC, there is a great relationship between neopatrimonialism and politics of development which have been shown through manipulation of the electoral systems by the patrons. The research findings in this study showed that there was a causal link between clientelism and electoral violence. The findings revealed a clear linkage of ethnic and religious polarization as the emerging themes on democracy and elections in sub-Saharan Africa. Without proper reforms in government, policies and the economy the DRC faces the continuance of a series of political, public health and security challenges. This research study invited deeper analysis by utilising the theory of Höglund (2009) in unpacking and assessing electoral violence in the DRC.

Many sub-Saharan African states have witnessed democratic progress from the beginning of their democratisation although there are still great challenges facing these states. Even though sub-Saharan states like the DRC are regarded as democratic, many socio-economic politics and the nature of these politics remain unchanged. This is seen through the manifestation of electoral violence even though there is democratic reliance on elections to distribute and regulate political power in societies. Political power and resources in the DRC are placed in the hands of historic ethnic political elites who cling on to power as a means of their earned right. The exclusive nature of politics in the DRC has been seen through the exclusive political systems with weak and biased electoral institutions. The political exclusion in the DRC has also been intensified by the divided society through ethnic, religious and other cleavages. These

cleavages contribute to electoral violence because they still hold power on socioeconomic assurance in the DRC.

Likewise, the manifestation of electoral violence in the DRC from 2006, 2011 to 2018 has had negative implications on democratic stability and development. The neopatrimonialism character of the DRC's politics, the nature of contestation for power, the weak institutionalisation of democratic construction has shown a large impact on electoral violence manifestation. Political participation as key to democratic values in the DRC has been hindered due to the violence that Congolese people experience which leads to fear of politics. Electoral violence in the DRC is thus one of the sources of democratic instability which can also be referred to as the rise of hybrid regime system in the DRC. Authoritarian traits of the DRC continue to undermine the legitimacy of the democratic process. Overall, this research has shed light on the underlying dynamics and causes behind electoral violence in the DRC, revealing them to be the result of a complex interplay between democratisation and the patronagebased system of politics.

5.2 Summary

The purpose of this research was to identify the factors that trigger the escalation of electoral violence in sub-Saharan democratic states, in particular, the DRC from 2006 to 2018. Using the single-case study method of research the DRC was then used to evaluate the key issues contributing to political instability before, during and after elections. In evaluating electoral violence in the DRC, the Höglund's framework of electoral violence was then applied to examine the risks of electoral violence in undermining the sustainability of the democratic process in sub-Saharan Africa. Chapter one provided the historical contextual agenda of the research through evaluating the key political developments before and during the democratic transition in the DRC. Chapter two focused on the key literature underpinning the democratisation process of the DRC by looking at the factors contributing to electoral violence in sub-Saharan democratic states.

Furthermore, Chapter two introduced the theoretical framework of Höglund (2009) by showing that the causes of electoral violence are based on three major clusters: the nature of politics, the nature of elections, and electoral institutions. Under these

headings as explained in Höglund's Framework, the DRC's electoral violence operated in these clusters and beyond, with key developments such as the unclear separation between the nature of elections and electoral institutions. Separation of powers then became the key reason why electoral management in the DRC is a challenge. Höglund's framework evaluates electoral institutions and the nature of elections as two distinct clusters, however, in the case of the DRC these clusters tend to be interlinked. Chapter three presented the methodological process and research design of the study. The research was a secondary source desktop-based analysis. The qualitative research method of critical discourse analysis was then utilised by examining a vast amount of literature on electoral violence in sub-Saharan Africa and by narrowing the focus to a single case study which was the DRC. Chapter three defined the process, scope and limitations of the chosen research design. The key electoral developments in the DRC during 2006, 2011, 2018 elections were then evaluated in Chapter Four as the focal point of the study. The data analysis in chapter four was done through the implementation of the Höglund's framework and analysis of electoral violence in Africa.

Chapter four, therefore, evaluated the 2006 presidential elections in the DRC which were marked as the beginning of the democratic transition for the country. The evaluation identified the key factors found during the 2006 elections which caused electoral violence in the DRC. The evaluation of the 2006 electoral violence revealed key factors such as electoral manipulation, neopatrimonialism, tribalism and fear of voting which were also explored in the analysis of the 2011 elections. There was thus a trend between the two elections that revealed the role played by ethno-religious and civil society organisations in the democratic development on the state. Through the evaluation of key elements that trigger electoral violence, it was clear that ethnoreligious and civil society organisations also escalated electoral violence in the DRC during the 2006 and 2011 elections.

The key trends found in the 2006 and 2011 elections in the DRC were further visible by assessing the 2016 postponement crisis leading to the 2018 electoral violence. In the period of 2016-2018 was the peak point of electoral violence in the DRC which was significant in discussing the issues of democratic consolidation. Calls for electoral reform in the DRC since 2006 have done little to ensure free and fair elections which

would contribute in the re-emergence of a democratically consolidated state for the Congolese people.

As much as the 2006 elections in the DRC were successful, the United Nations intervened through sponsoring some of the candidates who were running for the presidency to ensure a successful UN-coalition (Kodi, 2008:39). When an African state shows signs of leadership crisis, corruption and mounting repression, it faces the risk of state attack on its sovereignty. According to Stearns (2011), Joseph Kabila opened the DRC's doors for the UN peacekeeping mission to deploy and launch discussions with rebels to deliberate on transitional government that involved all main belligerent groups and relatively transparent elections in 2006. As the DRC continues with democratic transition and reform, electoral integrity of the state has been called into question. As violence continues to grow in the DRC, figures from the group suggest that over one in every 10 children in the world who is at risk of starvation currently reside in the DRC (BBC News, 2017). Constitutionalism in the presence of the constitution in the DRC remains the key issue which results in the risk of starvation and human rights violations. On the other hand, the political and legal framework for elections in the DRC remains in the hands of political elitism. The constitution, which also mandates for the legal framework of the elections, is supposed to set out rules and regulations to govern which particular systems are to be used for representation. The DRC has undergone a lot of legal framework restructuring, from 2006 to 2018, on elections to shape and guide the electoral process. The processes and guidelines of how elections are to be conducted lead to the relationship between democratisation and electoral violence.

Likewise, the extent of democratisation and good governance in a state is clearly defined by the state-civil relations. A democratic state must ensure that it has clear existing democratic institutions such as a working constitution, civilian supremacy over the military, clear separation of powers and the establishment of a participatory system (Modise, 2017). In many sub-Saharan African states, the role played by civil society in participatory democracy is one that contributes to peacebuilding, or more so to the conflicts seen in these countries. The civil society of the DRC during electoral violence in 2006, 2011 and 2018 was expected to reform the role of democratic development trajectory.

Again, the other key variable of the research was based on electoral violence having a very negative effect when it comes to good governance and democracy in the DRC. One of the key factors evaluated was predatory and rent-seeking leadership towards electoral manipulation and the effect of patron-client relations on democratic institutions. The role of neopatrimonialism to manipulate elections and the state economy triggered the electoral process and hindered the good governance in the DRC. Another key objective was to evaluate tribalism in the context of electoral influence in the DRC. Tribalism in the DRC is still more pervasive than nationalism and the failure to govern democratically has led to the loss of the public's trust in public institutions. Veney (2013:9) argues that public trust in public institutions is lost when there are no legitimate limitations of all branches of government and government lacks transparency. The study further evaluated the DRC's judiciary by looking at the constitutional court ruling of May 2016 which appeared to have been the fuelling factor in the escalation of political instability in the country in the same year. Even when thinking beyond the idea of a failed state, the DRC's electoral violence mostly perpetrated by the ruling government, which led to the death of many Congolese people, was and remains a threat to its democracy.

5.3 Summary of findings

The following are the key findings from the data analysed in chapter four:

- The research analysed in chapter four showed that historical ethnic, economic, and institutional cleavages play a major role in the democratic development of the DRC.
- The other key finding in the research was that social inequality and political exclusion affected the democratic stability of the DRC. Social inequality in the DRC manifests itself through tribalism and patrimonialism. Inequality of ethnic power in the DRC has resulted in political violence which has now been continuous for decades. Jonyo (2002); Afegbua and Adejuwon (2012) alluded that in sub-Saharan states the ethnic factor and economic stability dream by political leaders remains the leading factor when it comes to the voting polls.
- Another key finding was that of the violence of voting, which resulted in fear of voting for the Congolese people. The violence of voting violated the right to

political participation for the Congolese people. The electoral violence that permeated through the DRC from 2006, 2011 and 2018 presidential elections led to a drop of electoral turnout from 71% in 2006 to 47.56% in 2018.

- The 'fear of voting' research finding signified that the violations of human rights in the DRC during electoral violence were not only due to the brutal killings and coercive beatings from the military but also led to the fear of exercising one's political rights. These were compatible with Höglund's (2009) criteria on the nature of politics and elections. The voters' response to the electoral violence taking place in the DRC was by staying away from the voting polls. Intimidating voters with violence and mobilising them with clientelism led the DRC government into a state of crisis during elections.
- The other key finding was that of crisis in governance in the DRC from 2011 onwards where the country has faced legitimacy issues, crisis of weak political systems and unaccountable democratic institutions. In the research, the analysis of unaccountable procedures in electoral systems evident from 2006, 2011 and 2018 elections showed that despite having multiparty elections the political regime in the DRC still had authoritarian traits. The state of governance in the DRC revealed through elections was neither fully authoritarian nor fully democratic but was rather a hybrid regime.
- The findings also revealed that authoritarianism was strongly upheld especially when it came to the marginalisation and repression of opposition figures by the Joseph Kabila regime. The opposition numbers reflected in the 2006, 2011 and 2018 elections show fragmentation and the weak capacity to challenge the ruling party in parliament.
- Another key finding was the inability of the judicial system and the media to remain independent. This did not just take place in the 2018 elections, but research has shown that the regime has sought to undermine the independence of the media of the judiciary since 2006 (Afoaku, 2010). The judiciary of the DRC has a central role to play in providing appropriate enforcement mechanisms for constitutionalism. The powerful networks along with ethnic domination still held power over the judiciary decisions and what the media could portray, thus violating the constitution of the DRC.

- Also, it was evident from the research analysed that neopatrimonialism remained the key driver of politics especially with the two powerful networks of the ethnic Katangese and the 'Banyamulenge-Rwandese axis' (Trefon, 2013). Such cleavages have affected the socio-economic development of the broader population in the DRC.
- The other finding was that, socio-economic development is not the only prompt for democratic sustainability but also for the persistence of conflict in the DRC. Ethnic divisions in the DRC do not only become manifested through elections but also result from historic ethnic tensions.
- For as much as the research showed that people were likely to vote according to ethnic relations, there was also evidence that Congolese people had lost confidence even in the democratic voting system of the DRC. This is also reflected through the voter turnout.
- The research also showed the links between clientelism and the significance of civil societies in holding the government accountable. There is no doubt that civil society's political awareness in the DRC has grown since independence but the ability of civil society organisations to improve political transparency is threatened by civil society clientelist funding.
- Despite such clientelism between the state and civil societies, the research has also shown how religious organisations like the Catholic Church have played a significant role in countering corruption in the DRC. The Catholic Church is the strongest actor in the civil society organisation in the DRC and it has been a prominent opposition to Kabila's administration (Human Rights watch, 2018). The Catholic Church during the 2018 pre-election violence condemned the use of Congolese security personnel to violate human rights rather than protect the state.
- Important to note from the research again is the politicisation and corruption surrounding natural resource governance. The DRC has the potential for having productive lucrative mining and forestry sectors which could transform the state's economic stability. However, due to corruption, inadequate institutional capacity and governance deficiencies there are poor economic growth indicators of such sectors.

On the other hand, the research showed that social capital remained a big challenge in the DRC. This is partly due to the issue of citizenship and identity of Rwandan/Burundese heritage. There is a need to reverse the deeply held political narratives of belonging and exclusion in the DRC, which remains a potent area for political manipulation and suppression (Jackson, 2007; Ansorg and Gordon, 2019). The identity politics in the DRC has greatly affected the legitimacy of elections as the Rwandan and Burundese ethnic group have been denied citizenship rights thus are unable to vote. Furthermore, the ethnic divisions have also led to the challenges in (re)formation of social capital due to the decline of economic, political and social infrastructure which has resulted in distrust.

5.4 Recommendations

To realise democratic consolidation in sub-Saharan states like the DRC there must be broad research and solutions to be implementation on how fear of voting impacts political knowledge in sub-Saharan African democracies. Public participation in democracy is crucial to ensure the enhancement and accountability of the system of governance in a country. The public holds the legitimacy of the system of governance and if fear of voting persists in sub-Saharan democracies like the DRC then full democracy will remain unachievable. Again, a responsive government is necessary to maintain stable power relations between the state and citizens and through such the legitimate political compacts can be created.

In addition, other possible area for recommendation is the investigation of electoral law reforms in the DRC. The reform committee must be implemented to investigate the insights into the role of Electoral Management Bodies and how such bodies should work on the reinforced approaches to deepen, consolidate, and institutionalize democracy. The postponed elections in 2018 to 2019 in many African countries like Libya, Algeria, South Sudan and Tunisia showed the inability of the government in those states to ensure processes supported by true separation of powers, effective checks and balances, an independent judiciary, a free press and a robust and politically active civil society (Etheridge, 2019). As much as elections were challenged by some civil society organisations in countries like the DRC, the hunger for political power remains a key challenge thus there is a need to reinforce the separation of

powers by ensuring the independence of the judiciary in state affairs. Despite the progress that many sub-Saharan states have had since transitioning to democracy, many have not been able to provide themselves with a governance system capable of adequately constraining the state and, hence, preventing civil servants and politicians from acting with impunity.

Furthermore, sub-Saharan African democracies operate with political, social and economic development trajectories that are all tied to election results that usually create a zero-sum game. One avenue for investigation and reform in the DRC would be looking at the impact of the zero-sum game that elections pose in African governance and constitutionalism. The zero-sum game possesses a huge threat to the effectiveness of democratic institutions which are to ensure accountability and transparency of the government. Representation conflict can occur when elections are organised as a "zero-sum game" which means the election losers are left out of participation in government and governance (Adjei, 2012:237). Free and fair elections in and of themselves are not the solution for political, economic and social progenies. If the zero-sum tradition of elections and representation is not given much attention in terms of policy reform, then this circle of hybrid regime formation in Africa will expand with limited focus on the human element when it comes to policies.

Moreover, the DRC's government together with the international community and Civic organisations must work on the electoral violence prevention measures in terms of what works in different sub-Saharan democracies. The work on electoral violence prevention needs to cut across the resolutions that needs to be put in place to deal with various histories of ethnic violence in the DRC. Electoral violence has a strong ethnic element. Prevention measures when it comes to electoral violence should not only be about ensuring a strong electoral process but re-open the discussions and research on the question of identity and citizenship in many sub-Saharan African states. Key to the discussion of historic ethnic violence is the legacy of power and corruption. The legacy of power and corruption in states like the DRC is a difficult investigation to conduct but it is a necessary one. Little progress has been made in the DRC to deal with corruption. The DRC needs a system of check and balances to monitor implementation, socio-economic development and resource accountability. The system must deal with the absence of strong regulations and reliable systems of

99

oversight especially when it comes to natural resources is needed to track down the impact of resource-oversight systems on development.

Although many view the DRC as a state close to failure due to political violence, the country still has the potential for democratic consolidation, especially when looking at the ability of the state to provide basic services to the citizens. The barrier for the democratic consolidation potential in the DRC is the lack of leadership demonstration in advancing the public good versus private gain. The DRC's government must commit and act on ensuring the security and prosperity of its citizens. There are great policies and strategies that the DRC government is currently working on together with international institutions to work on achieving the development goals. These strategies include the Congo Consortium and peace reconstruction; and the USAID country development cooperation strategy (Addict, Graney and Lacy, 2019). This demonstrates the positive turn the DRC government is ready to take and through that investment more strategies can be crafted to manage conflict and enhance socioeconomic development for the country.

Also, more work needs to be done on transformative constitutionalism and electoral reform in the DRC. The practicality of constitutions in Africa has moved away from ensuring the primary function of a constitution, which is to ensure the exercise of public power in a fashion that enables the government to remain accountable. Achieving constitutionalism in practice in sub-Saharan states like the DRC remains a huge challenge and through electoral violence, one can see how civil rights are less prioritised than state power. Constitutions enable the proper allocation of power to ensure the legitimacy of states' power. There is a challenge in the limitation of government power by law in many sub-Saharan African states. The compromise of the power of the law in ensuring the responsive government, has led to the weak legal redress processes especially through courts for constitutional violations. In the DRC it has been evident that the Judiciary has been compromised as an independent institution. In this regard, the DRC needs to create a culture and commitment by political elites to respect and abide by constitutional limitations. Thus, more work and investigation need to be done on the imprecision of constitutionalism in postcolonial sub-Saharan African states to ensure transformative constitutionalism in Africa.

100

Finally, while doing this research there was limited exploration of how violence against women escalated during elections in sub-Saharan African states. Anti-Gender based violence institutional research needs to be revamped in order to address the practice of violence against women in election periods which includes the type of tactics used that violate women during elections in sub-Saharan African states. There must be options present for policy and programming responses to protect women and children during political violence in sub-Saharan African states. Policies and institutions positioned to prevent and mitigate violence against women in elections must be interrogated. These institutions are inclusive of international organisations such as UNDP, UN Women and those running the programming of support on electoral assistance and women's participation in elections. This perhaps provides the opportunity for further research on the convergence of electoral violence and genderbased violence.

REFERENCE LIST

Aembe, B. & Jordhus-Lier, D. 2017. Within, Above, and Beyond: Churches and Religious Civil Society Activism in South Kivu. *Journal of Civil Society*, vol. 13(2), pp. 149-165.

Abubakar, D. 2015. Africa in Worlds Politics and the Political Economy of PostColoniality. In: Omeje, K (Ed.). *The Crises of Post Coloniality in Africa*. Dakar: CODESRIA.

Acton, A. (Ed.). 2013. *Issues in Political Systems Research: 2013 Edition*. Atlanta: Scholarly Editions.

Addico, G., Greaney, J and Lacayo, Y. 2019. Moving forward to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals: How do we secure sustainable investments for family planning? *Gates Open Research*, vol. 3(1531), pp. 1-8.

Adejuwon, K. D & Afegbua, S. I. 2012. The Challenges of Leadership and Governance in Africa. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences.* vol. 2 (9), pp. 141-157.

Adekunle, J.O. 2014. The Development of the Civil Service in Africa. In: Falola, T. & Mbah, E. M. (Eds.). *Contemporary Africa: Challenges and Opportunities*. New York: Palgrave MacMillan.

Adjei, J. K. 2012. An African Model? Conflict Management in Ghana's 2008 Presidential Elections. In: Adebayo, A. G. *Managing Conflicts in Africa's Democratic Transitions*. Lanham: Lexington Books.

Afoaku, O. G. 2005. Linking Democracy and sustainable development in Africa. In Afoaku, O.G. & Ukuga, O. (Eds.). *Sustainable Development in Africa: A Multifaceted Challenge*. Trenton: Africa World Press.

Afoaku, O. G. 2010. Countries at the Crossroads 2010. *Freedom House*. Available at: <u>https://freedomhouse.org/report/countries-crossroads/2010/congo-</u> <u>democraticrepublickinshasa#.VbZJbk3bJ2M</u> [Accessed: 13 October 2019]. Agbalajobi, D. T. 2016. Electoral violence and women's participation in electoral processes: Challenges and prospects for future elections in Nigeria. *Unilag Sociological Review (USR)*, vol. 7(2), pp. 73 -94.

Agbiji, O. M. & Swart, I. 2015. Religion and social transformation in Africa: A critical and appreciative perspective. *Scriptura*, vol.114, pp.1-20.

Allison, S. 2019. Robert Gabriel Mugabe, 1924-2019: A tragedy in three acts, *Mail & Guardian*, 06 September. Available at: <u>https://mg.co.za/article/2019-09-06-robertgabriel-mugabe-1924-2019-a-tragedy-in-three-acts</u> (Accesses: 25 October 2019).

Amoako, F. W. 2016. Institutions: An introduction. In: Mazrui, A. A. and Amoako, F. W. (Eds.). *African Institutions: Challenges to Political, Social, and Economic Foundations of Africa's Development*. Lanham: Rawman & Littlefield.

Anifowose, R & Odukoya, A. O. 2013. Toward Curbing Electoral Violence in Nigeria.
In: Ayoade, J. A. & Akinsanya, A. A. (Eds.). *Nigeria's Critical Election, 2011*. Lanham: Lexington Books.

Ansorg, N. 2018. The DRC is Still in Crisis But there is a Way Out. *Mail & Guardian*, [Online]. Available at: - <u>https://mg.co.za/article/2018-04-12-the-drc-is-still-in-crisis-butthere-is-a-way-out</u> [Accessed: 05 June, 2018].

Ansorg, N. & Gordon, E. 2019. Co-operation, Contestation and Complexity in PostConflict Security Sector Reform. *Journal of Intervention and State building*, vol. 13(1), pp. 2-24,

Arthur, J.A. 2014. *Class Formations and Inequality Structures in Contemporary African Migration*. London: Lexington Books.

Baah-Boateng, W. 2016. The Youth Unemployment Challenge in Africa: What are the drivers? *The Economic and Labour Relations Review*, vol. *27*(4), pp. 413–431.

Babbie, E. 2008. The Basics of Social Research. Belmont: Thomson High Education.

Bailie, C. 2018. The African Military in a Democratic Age. African Centre for theConstructiveResolutionofDisputes.Availableat:

https://www.accord.org.za/conflicttrends/the-african-military-in-a-democratic-age/

[Accessed: 31 May 2019]

Bakwesegha-Osula, M., Ettang, D. & Nzovu-Ouma, B. 2011. Managing Electionrelated Violence: Elections in the Democratic Republic of Congo. *ACCORD*, ISSUE No. 013, November 2011.

Barrett, D., Kurian, G. & Johnson, T. (Eds.) 2001. World Christian Encyclopaedia (2nd edition). New York: Oxford University Press.

Basedau, M., Erdmann, G. & Mehler, A. 2007. *Votes, Money and Violence. Political Parties and Elections in Sub-Saharan Africa*. Pietermaritzburg: University of KwaZuluNatal Press.

Bazezew, M. 2009. Constitutionalism. *Mizan Law Review*, vol. 3(2), pp. 358-369.

BBC News. 2018. Shots fired to disperse Katumbi followers [Online]. 03 August 2018. Available at: https://www.bbc.com/news/live/world-africa-45003993 [Accessed: 09 August 2018].

BBC News. 2019. DR Congo country profile [Online]. 10 January 2019. Available at: https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-africa-13283212 [Accessed: June 2019].

Bedasso, B. E. 2015. Ethnicity, intra-elite differentiation and political stability in Kenya. *African Affairs*, vol. 114 (456), pp. 361–38.

Belaud, C. & Bosuandole, M. 2019. DRC Court Confirms Tshisekedi Winner of Disputed Presidential Election. *Mail & Guardian*. Available at:

https://mg.co.za/article/2019-01-20-drc-court-confirms-tshisekedi-winner-ofdisputedpresidential-election [Accessed: 3 September 2019].

Bellamy, C. & Perry, B. 2012. *Principles of Methodology: Research Design in Social Science*. London: SAGE.

Bercovitch, J. 2003. Managing Internationalized Ethnic Conflict: Evaluating the Role and Relevance of Mediation. *World Affairs,* vol. *166*(1), pp. 56-68.

Bernhagen, P., Haerpfer, C.W., Inglehart, R. F. & Welzel, C. 2009. *Democratization*. New York: Oxford University Press. Berman, B. J. 2010. *Ethnicity and Democracy in Africa*. JICA Research Institute Working Paper No. 22.

Bickman, L & Rog, D. (Eds.). (1998). *Handbook of Applied Social Research Methods*. California: SAGE Publications.

Bleck, J. & Van de Walle, M. 2018. *Electoral Politics in Africa since 1990: Continuity in Change*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Bless, C., Kagee, A. & Smith, C. H. 2006. *Fundamentals of Social Research Methods: An African Perspective*. 4th Ed. Cape Town: JUTA & Co Ltd.

Blumberg, B., Cooper, D.R. & Schindler, P.S. 2005. *Business Research Methods.* Berkshire: McGraw Hill Education.

Bobineau, J. 2016. The History of the Democratic Republic of the Congo: An Introduction. In: Bobineau, J. and Greg, P. (Eds.). *The Democratic Republic of the Congo: Problems, Progress and Prospects*. Berlin: LIT Publishers.

Bolarinwa O.A. 2015. Principles and Methods of Validity and Reliability Testing of Questionnaires Used in Social and Health Science Research. *Niger Postgrad Med J*, vol. 22, pp. 195-201.

Boyle, M. J. 2014. *Violence After War: Explaining Instability in Post-Conflict State*. Baltimore: John Hopkins University Press.

Branch, A. & Mampilly, Z. 2015. *Africa Uprising: Popular Protest and Political Change*. London: Zed Books Ltd.

Bratton, M. & Van de Walle, N. 1997. *Democratic Experiments in Africa: Regime Transitions in Comparative Perspective*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Brewer, S. R. Januchowski-Hartley, V. M. Moon, K., T. D., and D. A. Blackman. 2016. A Guideline to Improve Qualitative Social Science Publishing in Ecology and Conservation Journals. *Ecology and Society*, vol. 21(3), pp. 17.

Budeli, M. and Mangu, A.M. 2008. Democracy and Elections in Africa in the Democratic Republic of Congo: Lessons for Africa'. *Law, Democracy & Development*, vol. 12 (1), pp. 93-116.

Bujakera, S. 2019. Congo President and Predecessor Agree on Division of Cabinet

Posts[Online].ReutersTopNews.Availableat:https://af.reuters.com/article/topNews/idAFKCN1UL209-

<u>OZATP?feedType=RSS&feedName=topNews</u> [Accessed: 23 August 2019].

Carayannis T. 2013. The Democratic Republic of the Congo, 1996–2012. In: Boulden J. (Eds.). *Responding to Conflict in Africa*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

Carney, J. J. 2014. *Rwanda before the Genocide: Catholics Politics and Ethnic Discourse in the Late Colonial Era*. New York: Oxford University Press.

Chazan, N., Lewis, P., Mortime. P.A., Rothchild, D.and Stedman, S. J. 1999. *Politics and Society in Contemporary Africa*. 3rd Ed. Colorado: Lynne Rienner Publisher.

Chazan, N. 1994. Engaging the State: Associational Life in Sub-Saharan Africa. In: Migdal, J. Kohli A. and Shue, V. (Eds.). *State Power and Social Forces. Domination and Transformation in the Third World*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Cheeseman, N. 2018. Introduction: Understanding African Politics. In: Cheeseman, N. (Ed.). *Institutions and Democracy in Africa*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Chowdhury, A. & Sundaram, J. K. (Eds.). 2012. *Is Good Governance Good for Development?* London: Bloomsbury Publishing.

Collin. K. 2015. Do Referendums Resolve or Perpetuate Contention? In: Coma, F. M., Frank, R. W. and Norris, P. (Eds.) *Contentious Elections: From Ballots to Barricades*. New York: Routledge.

Collier, P. & Vicente, P. C. 2014. Votes and Violence: Evidence from a Field Experiment in Nigeria. *Economic Journal*, vol. 124(574), pp. 327-355.

Coleman, J.S. 1994. *Nationalism and Development in Africa: Selected Essays*. London: University of California Press.

Colombo, A., D'Aoust, O. & Sterck, O. 2014. *From Rebellion to Electoral*. CSAE Working Paper WPS/ 2014-2015. Available at: <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/3ab8/fe6577a13ddb392df2cd6974fbfe7f1a62a3.pdf</u> [Accessed: 06 February 2019].

Constitution of the Democratic Republic of Congo, 10 December 1996, available at: https://www.refworld.org/docid/3ae6b5de4.html [accessed 16 November 2019].

106

Crawford, G. & Lynch, G. 2011. Democratization in Africa 1990–2010: An assessment. *Democratization*, vol. 18(2), pp. 275-310.

Creswell, J. W. 2009. *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Daley, P. Rwanda & Burundi since 1994: An End to the Discriminatory State. In: Mustapha, A. R. & Whitfield, L. (Eds.). *Turning Points in African Democracy*.

Daloz, J.P. (2003). 'Big Men in Sub-Saharan Africa: How Elites Accumulate Positions and Resources'. *Comparative* Sociology, Vol 2.pp. 271-285.

Dagne, T. 2011. The Democratic Republic of Congo: Background and Current Developments. *CRS Report for Congress, February 17, 2011*. Congressional Research Services.

Dash, S. 2017. *Regional Resurgence in Africa: Prospects and Challenges of African Union*. Delhi: Vij Books India Pvt.

Deegan, H. 2009. *Africa Today: Culture, Economics, Religion, Security*. Abingdon: Routledge.

De Witte, L. 2001. The Assassination of Lumumba. Johannesburg: Jacan.

Diamond, L. 1999. *Developing Democracy: Towards Consolidation*. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press.

Diamond, L., Schedler, A. and Plattner, M. F. 1999. *The Self-Restraining State: Power and Accountability in New Democracies*. Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner.

Diamond, L. 2002. Thinking About Hybrid Regimes. *Journal of Democracy*, Vol 13 (2), pp. 21-35.

Diamond, L. & Plattner, M (Eds.). 2010. *Democratization in Africa: Progress and Retreat*, 2nd Ed. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins Press.

Diamond, L. 2016. In Search of Democracy. London: Routledge.

Dillon-Malone, C. 1989. Zambian Humanism, religion and social morality. Ndola: Mission Press.

Doorenspleet, R. 2000. Reassessing the Three Waves of Democratization. *World Politics*, vol. *52*(3), pp. 384-406.

Doss, A and Ibrahim, M. 2019. 'Congo's election: a defeat for democracy, a disaster for the people', *The Gaudian*, Available at: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/globaldevelopment/2019/feb/09/democratic-republic-of-</u> <u>the-congo-election-a-defeat-fordemocracy-disaster-for-people-mo-ibrahim</u> [Accessed: 15 May 2020].

Downey, L. 2015. *Inequality, Democracy, and the Environment*. New York: New York University Press.

Egwu, S. G. 2001. Ethnic and Religious Violence in Nigeria. Jos: African Centre for Democratic Governance (AFRIGOV).

Ekeh, P. 1975. Colonialism and the Two Publics in Africa: A Theoretical Statement'. *Comparative Studies in Society and History,* vol. *17*(1), pp. 91-112.

Eme, O. I and Anyadike, N. 2014. Political Financing in Africa: A Comparative Study of Kenya and Nigeria: Proposal for reform. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, vol. 5(27), pp. 22-34.

Engel, U. and Erdmann, G. 2006. *Neopatrimonialism Revisited: Beyond a Catch-All Concept*. GIGA Working Paper No 16. Available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=909183&download=yes [Accessed: 10 October 2019].

Englebert, P. 2019. Congo's 2018 Elections: An Analysis of Implausible Results. *African Arguments*. Available at: <u>https://africanarguments.org/2019/01/10/drcelection-</u> <u>results-analysis-implausible/</u> [Accessed: 13 October 2019].

Etheridge, J. 2019. Could massive constitutional crisis around the rights of independent candidates postpone the elections? *News24*. Available: <u>https://www.news24.com/SouthAfrica/News/could-massive-constitutional-</u> crisisaround-the-rights-of-independent-candidates-postpone-the-elections-20190327 [Accessed: 2 November 2019]. Eyewitness News. 2018. Congo opposition leader Katumbi refused entry at border [Online]. Available at: <u>https://ewn.co.za/2018/08/04/congo-opposition-leader-katumbirefused-entry-at-border</u> [Accessed: 10 August 2018].

Eyewitness News. 2018. Zimbabwe on Knife Edge after Deadly Post-Election Violence [Online]. Available at: <u>https://ewn.co.za/2018/08/02/zimbabwe-on-knife-edge-afterdeadly-post-election-violence</u> [Accessed: 10 August 2018].

Ezeanya, C. 2014. Corruption and Nation Building in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Historical Analysis. In: Mudacumura G., Morçöl G. (Eds.). *Challenges to Democratic Governance in Developing Countries*. Public Administration, Governance and Globalization, vol 11. Springer, Cham.

Ezrow, N.M. and Frantz, E. 2011. *Dictators and Dictatorships: Understanding Authoritarian Regime and their Leaders*. New York: The Continuum International Publishing Group.

Fabricius, P. 2019. DRC President Tshisekedi confronts Kabila's establishment. *Daily Maverick*. Available at: <u>https://www.dailymaverick.co.za/article/2019-03-25-</u> <u>drcpresident-tshisekedi-confronts-kabilas-establishment/</u> [Accessed: 29 August 2019].

Fatton, R. 2003. Bringing the Ruling Class Back In. In: Young, T. (Ed.). *Readings in African Politics*. London: The International African Institute.

Fjelde, H. and Höglund, K. 2014. *Electoral Institutions and Electoral Violence in SubSaharan Africa*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Fjelde, H., Höglund, K., and Opitz, C. 2013. Including Peace: The Influence of Electoral Management Bodies on Electoral Violence. *Journal of Eastern African Studies*, vol. 7 (4), pp. 713-731.

Fombad, C. M. 2004. The Dynamics of Record-Breaking Endemic Corruption and Political Opportunism in Cameroon. In: Mbaku, J. M. and Takougang, J. (Eds.) *The Leadership Challenge in Africa: Cameroon under Paul Biya*. Washington DC: Africa World Press Inc.

Fombad, C. 2014. Strengthening constitutional order and upholding the rule of law in Central Africa: Reversing the descent towards symbolic constitutionalism. *African Human Rights Law Journal*, vol. (14), pp. 412-448.

Fombad, C. and Kibet, E. 2017. Transformative constitutionalism and the adjudication of constitutional rights in Africa. <u>African Human Rights Law Journal</u>, vol. 17(2), pp. 340-366.

Forson, J. A., Ennumh, T. Y. B., Buracom, P., Chen, G. & Peng, Z. 2016. Causes of Corruption: Evidence from Sub-Saharan Africa. *South African Journal of Economic and Management Sciences*, vol. 19, pp. 562-578.

Francis, D. J. 2006. *Uniting Africa: Building Regional Peace and Security Systems*. Hampshire: Ashgate Publishing Ltd.

Freedom House Report. 2018. Freedom in the World 2018: Democracy in Crisis'. Available at: <u>https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-world/freedom-world-2018</u> [Accessed: 2 September 2019].

Freedom House Report. 2019. Freedom in the World Countries. Available at: https://freedomhouse.org/report/countries-world-freedom-2019?order=field_fiw_status&sort=asc [Accessed: 2 September 2019].

Freytas-Tamary, K. D. 2019. After Tarnished Election, Opposition Figure Becomes

Congo'sPresident.NewYorkTimes.Availableat:https://www.nytimes.com/2019/01/24/world/africa/congo-president-inaugurationtshisekedi-kabila.html?rref=collection%2Fbyline%2Fkimiko-de-freytastamura&action=click&contentCollection=undefined®ion=stream&module=stream_unit&version=latest&contentPlacement=9&pgtype=collection [Accessed: 10October 2019].

Frits, V. Menocal, R. A. and Rakner, L. 2008. Hybrid regimes and the challenges of deepening and sustaining democracy in developing countries. *South African Journal of International Affairs*, vol. 15(1), pp. 29-40.

Fukuyama, F. 2006. The End of History and the Last Man. New York: Free Press.

110

Ganahl, J. P. 2014. Corruption, Good Governance, and the African State: A Critical Analysis of the Political Economic Foundations of Corruption in Sub-Saharan Africa. Brandenburg: Potsdam University Press.

Gandhi, P. 2018. Africa in the News: DRC Elections, Violence in Eastern Ethiopia and Mozambique Refinancing. *Brookings Africa in Focus*. Available at: https://www.brookings.edu/blog/africa-in-focus/2018/08/11/africa-in-the-news-

drcelections-violence-in-eastern-ethiopia-mozambique-refinancing/ [Accessed: 22 October 2019]

Githaiga, N. 2012. The 2011 DRC Election Polls and Beyond'. *Institute for Security Studies Report,* 21 June 2012, Available at: <u>https://www.africaportal.org/publications/the-2011-drc-election-polls-and-beyond/</u> [Accessed: 10 November 2019]

Gormely, E. S. 2017. Conducting Case Study Research: An Exemplar. In: Chesnay, M. D. (Ed.). *Nursing Research Using Case Studies: Qualitative Designs and Methods in Nursing*. New York: Springer Publishing Company.

Gutto, S. 2003. 'Constitutionalism, Elections and Democracy', Paper delivered at the Africa Conference on Elections, Democracy and Governance in Pretoria, South Africa, April 2003.

Haskin, J. M. 2005. *The Tragic State of the Congo: From Decolonization to Dictatorship*. New York: Algora Publishing.

Hay, I. and Israel, M. 2006. Research Ethics for Social Scientists. London: SAGE.

Hengelela, J. C. 2016. *Election Management Bodies in Southern Africa: Comparative Study of the Electoral Commissions' Contribution to Electoral Processes.* Johannesburg: Open Society Initiative for Southern Africa.

Hickman, J. 2009. Is electoral violence effective? Evidence from Sri Lanka's 2005 presidential election. *Contemporary South Asia*, Vol 17(4), pp. 429–435.

Hoffman, B. and Long, J. 2013. Parties, Ethnicity, and Voting in African Elections'. *Comparative Politics*, vol. 4, pp. 127-146.

Höglund, K. 2009. Electoral Violence in Conflict-Ridden Societies: Concepts, Causes, and Consequences, Terrorism and Political Violence, vol. 21(3), pp. 412-427.

Hopper, T. 2017. Neopatrimonialism, Good Governance, Corruption and Accounting in Africa: Idealism versus Pragmatism. *Journal of Accounting in Emerging Economies, vol.* 7(2).

Human Rights Watch. 2007. Renewed Crisis in North Kivu. Available at: https://www.hrw.org/reports/2007/drc1007/drc1007/webwcover.pdf [Accessed: 10 November 2019].

Human Rights Watch. 2017. Democratic Republic of Congo: Events of 2016. Available at: <u>https://www.hrw.org/world-report/2017/country-chapters/democratic-republiccongo</u>. [Accessed: 07 June 2018].

Human Rights Watch. 2018. Democratic Republic of Congo: Events of 2018. Available at: <u>https://www.hrw.org/world-report/2019/country-chapters/democratic-republiccongo</u>. [Accessed: 4 May 2019].

Human Rights Watch. 2018. Democratic Republic of Congo in Crisis. Available at: <u>https://www.hrw.org/blog-feed/democratic-republic-congo-crisis</u> [Accessed: 22 November 2019].

Human Rights Watch. 2019. DR Congo: Voter Suppression, Violence: End InformationRestrictionsDuringVoteCount.Availableat:https://www.hrw.org/news/2019/01/05/dr-congo-voter-suppression-violence[Accessed: 15 May 2020].

Huntington, S. 1991. The Third Wave: Democratization in the Late Twentieth Century. Oklahoma: University of Oklahoma Press.

Hylands, J. L. 1995. *Democratic Theory: The Philosophical Foundations*. New York: Manchester University Press.

Iliffe, J. 1995. *Africans: The History of a Continent*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Ihonvbere, J. O and Vaughan, O. 1995. Nigeria: Democracy and civil society. In: Wiseman, J (Eds.) *Democracy and political change in Sub-Saharan Africa*. London: Routledge.

International Institute for Democracy and Electoral Assistance. 2014. Electoral LawReform in Africa Insights into the Role of EMBs and Approaches to Engagement.PolicyPaper.Availableat:https://www.idea.int/sites/default/files/publications/electoral-law-reform-in-africa.pdf[Accessed: 30 October 2019].

Inkeles, A., Sirowy, L. 1990. The Effects of Democracy on Economic Growth and Inequality: A review'. *Studies in Comparative International Development,* vol. 25(1), pp. 126–157.

Ishiyama, J. 2014. Civil Wars and Party Systems. *Social Science Quarterly*, vol. 95(2), pp. 425-447.

Ishiyama, J., and Widmeier, M. 2013. Territorial Control, Levels of Violence, and the Electoral Performance of Former Rebel Political Parties after Civil Wars, Civil Wars'. *Civil Wars Journal*, vol. 15(4), pp. 531-550.

Jega, A. M. 2002. Tackling Ethno-Religious Conflicts in Nigeria. *The Nigeria Social Scientist*, vol. 5(2), pp. 35 – 39.

Jackson, S. 2007. Of "Doubtful Nationality": Political Manipulation of Citizenship in the D. R. Congo. *Citizenship Studies*, Vol 11(5), pp. 481-500

Jäger, S. and Maier, F. 2009. Theoretical and Methodological Aspects of Foucaldian Critical Discourse Analysis and Dispositive Analysis. In: Wodak, R and Meyer, M. (Eds.). *Methods of Critical Discourse Analysis*. London: Sage.

Jocelyn, K. 2010. Rape in War: Motives of Militia in DRC, U.S. Institute of Peace (USIP) Special Report 243, June 2010. Available at: https://www.usip.org/sites/default/files/resources/SR243Kelly.pdf.

Jonyo, F. 2002. Ethnicity in Multiparty Electoral Politics. In: Chweya, L. (Eds.). *Electoral Politics in Kenya*. Nairobi: Claripress. Kanduza, A. M. 1990. Towards a History of Ideas in Zambia. *Transafrican Journal of History*, vol. *19*, pp. 24-42.

Kammerud, L. 2011. Merging Conflict Management with Electoral Practice: The IFES Experiences. In: Gillies, D. (Eds.). *Elections in Dangerous Places: Democracy and the Paradoxes of Peacebuilding*. London: McGill-Queen's University Press.

Kao, C and Kou, C. W. 2011. Electoral Authoritarianism in the Third Wave of Democratization: Concepts and Regime Trajectories. *2011 North-eastern Political Science Association annual meeting*, Philadelphia, PA, November 17-19.

Kean, J. 2004. Violence and Democracy. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Keating, F. M. 2012. Can Democratization undermine Democracy? Economic and Political Reform in Uganda. In: Crawford, G. and Lynch, G. (Eds.). *Democratization in Africa: Challenges and Prospects*. Abingdon: Routledge.

Khadiagala, G. M. 2008. Forty Days and Nights of Peace-making in Kenya. *Journal of African Elections*, vol. 7(2), pp.4-32.

Kimemia, D. 2016. Africa's Social Cleavages and Democratisation: Colonial, Postcolonial and Multiparty Era. Lanham: Lexington Books.

Kodi, M. 2008. *Corruption and Governance in the DRC: During the Transition Period* (2003-2006). Pretoria: Institute for Security Studies.

Koko, S. 2016. The role of civil society in conflict resolution in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, 1998–2006: An appraisal. *African Journal on Conflict Resolution*, vol. 16(1), pp. 111-137.

Kotler, P. 2016. *Democracy in Decline; Rebuilding its Future*. California: SAGE Publishing Inc.

Kpundeh, S. J. 1992. *Democratization in Africa: African Views, African Voices*. Washington: National Academy Press

Kuhn, P. M. 2015. Do Contentious Elections Trigger Violence? In: Coma, F. M., Frank, R. W. and Norris, P. (Eds.) *Contentious Elections: From Ballots to Barricades*. New York: Routledge.

La Voix des Sans-Voix pour les droits de l'homme. 2012. 'Rapport final sur l'observation des élections présidentielle et législatives du 28 novembre 2011 en République Démocratique du Congo', January. Available at: www. vsv-rdc.com/

Law 04/002 of 15 March 2004

Law 04/024 of 12 November 2004

Law 06/006 of March 2006

Law No. 11/003 of June 25, 2011

Leon, T. 2010. *The State of Liberal Democracy in Africa Resurgence or Retreat?* Washington DC: CATO Institute.

Levitsky, S. and Way, L. A. 2012. *Competitive Authoritarianism: Hybrid Regimes after the Cold War*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Lindberg, S. I. 2005. Consequences of electoral systems in Africa: a preliminary inquiry. *Electoral Studies*, vol. 24(1), pp. 41–64.

Lindberg, S. I. 2006. *Democracy and Elections in Africa*. MD: The Johns Hopkins University Press.

Lindberg, S. I. 2007. Democratization by Elections in Africa Revisited. *Democracy and Elections in Africa*, Paper presented at American Political Association's 103rd Annual Meeting, August 30 – September 2, 2007.

Maipose, G. S. 2009. Democratic Governance and Economic Management in Botswana: Review of Country Experience and Challenges. In: Good Governance and Civil Society Participation in Africa. Organization for Social Science Research in Eastern and Southern Africa (OSSREA), Addis Ababa.

Makinda, S. (1996). Democracy and Multi-Party Politics in Africa. *The Journal of Modern African Studies*, vol. 34(4), pp. 555-573.

Mamdani, M. 1996. *Citizen and Subject: Contemporary Africa and the Legacy of Late Colonialism*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Mangu, A. M. 2013. Democracy and States' Compliance with Regional and SubRegional Election Benchmarks in Africa: The 28 November 2011 elections in the Democratic Republic of Congo in retrospect. *Journal of African Elections*, vol. 12 (1). pp. 1-33.

Manyatela, M. 2018. Zanu-Pf Calls for Restraint as Zim Awaits Election Results. *Eyewitness News*, 1 August. Available at: <u>https://ewn.co.za/2018/08/02/zanu-pf-callsfor-restraint-as-zim-awaits-election-results</u> [Accessed: 3 March 2019].

Mason, J. 2002. *Qualitative Researching*. 2nd Edition. London: SAGE Publication.

Matti, S. 2010. Resources and Rent Seeking in the Democratic Republic of the Congo. *Third World Quarterly*, vol. 31(3), pp. 401-413.

Mattlin, M. 2011. *Politicized Society the Long Shadow of Taiwan's One-party Legacy*. Denmark: Nias press.

Mbaku, J.M.M. 2007. *Corruption in Africa: Causes, Consequences, and Clean-ups*. Lanham: Lexington Books.

Mbombo, J. M. 2017. National Dialogue as Solution to African Problems the D.R Congo in Focus. *Academic Journals*, vol. 8(5), pp. 55-63.

McDonough, J., & McDonough, S. 1997. *Research Methods for English Language Teachers.* Great Britain: Arnold.

McFerson, H. M. 2009. Governance and Hyper-corruption in Resource Rich African Countries. *Third World Quarterly*, vol. 30(8), pp. 152-154.

McLure, J. 2012. Sub-Saharan Democracy. In: CQ Researcher. *Issues in Comparative Politics: Selection from CQ Researcher*. California: CQ Press.

Mdee, A and Poku, N. K. 2011. *Politics in Africa: A New Introduction*. London: Zed Books.

Mentan, T. 2014. Africa: Facing Human Security Challenges in the 21st Century. Bamenda: Langaa Research & Publishing.

Miezah, H. A. A. 2018. *Elections in African Developing Democracies*. London: Palgrave Macmillan.

Mironova, V. and Whitt, S. 2016. The evolution of pro-sociality and parochialism after violence. *Journal of Peace Research*, vol. 53 (5), pp. 648- 664.

Mission Nationale d'observation. 2011. 'Rapport de la Mission Nationale d'observation: Observation de la compilation des elections legislatives du 28 novembre 2011', 19 January. Available at: fr-fr.facebook.com/notes/ union-pour-lanation-congolaise-unc-en-sigle-page-officielle/rapport-dela-mission-nationaledobservation/274021059326985 [Accessed: 6 April 2020].

Mobolaji, H & Omoteso, K. 2009. Corruption and economic growth in some selected transitional economies. Social Responsibility Journal. Vol 5. Pp. 70-82.

Modise, L.J. 2017. The notion of participatory democracy in relation to local ward committees: The distribution of power. *In die Skriflig*, vol. 51(1), pp. 1-8.

Mohajan, H. 2017. Two Criteria for Good Measurements in Research: Validity and Reliability. Annals of Spiru Harat Universit. Vol. 17. pp. 59-82.

Mohamed, H. 2018. DRC: What is Joseph Kabila's Legacy after 18 years in Power. *Aljazeera*. Available at: <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/news/africa/2018/12/drc-josephkabila-legacy-18-years-power-181224090825920.html</u> [Accessed: 10 October 2019].

Molobi, T. and Mukoka, A. 2018. DRC vote could be a threat to Africa's stability. *News24,* Available at: <u>https://www.news24.com/Africa/News/drc-vote-could-be-</u>athreat-to-africas-stability-20180923-2 [Accessed: 20 May 2019].

Morlino, L. 2008. Democracy and Changes: How Research Tails Reality. *West European Politics*, vol. 31(1), pp. 40-59.

Monusco & OHCHR. 2011. Report of the United Nations Joint Human Rights Office on Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms during the Pre-Electoral Period in the Democratic Republic of Congo, November. Available at http:// www.ohchr.org/Documents/Countries/ZR/UNJHRO_HRElectionsReport_ en.pdf [Accessed: 23 September 2019].

Mottiar, S. 2010. The Role of Civil Society in Elections: The KwaZulu-Natal Democracy and Elections Forum – Reducing Conflict Dynamics and Promoting Peace. *Journal of African elections.* vol. 9, pp. 110-127.

Muijs, D. 2011. *Doing Quantitative Research in Education with SPSS*. 2nd Ed. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.

Muhammad, B., Muhammad, T., Muhammad, A. 2008. Reliability and Validity of Qualitative and Operational Research Paradigm. *Pakistan Journal of Statistics and Operation Research*. Vol. 4(1), pp. 35- 45.

Mugger, R. 2018. Is Kabila Using Ethnic Violence to Delay Elections? *Foreign Policy News.* Available at: <u>https://foreignpolicy.com/2018/11/27/is-kabila-using-</u> <u>ethnicviolence-to-stay-in-power/</u> [Accessed: 10 June 2019]

Muller, M.M. 2012. *Public Security in the Negotiation State: Policing in Latin America and Beyond*. New York: Palgrave MacMillan.

Najem, T. P. 2003. Good Governance: The Definition and Application of the Concept. In: Najem, T.P and Hetherington, M. (Eds.). *Good Governance in the Middle East Oil Mornarchies*. London: Routledge.

Ndulo, M. (Eds.). 2006. *Democratic Reform in Africa: It's Impact on Governance & Poverty Alleviation*. Oxford: James Currey Ltd.

News24. 2018. Four million displaced by DRC violence: UN. Available at: <u>https://www.news24.com/Africa/News/four-million-displaced-by-drc-violence-un20170827</u> [Accessed on: 20 September 2018].

News24. 2018. 'Yes' votes ahead in Burundi constitutional referendum. Available at: <u>https://www.news24.com/Africa/News/yes-votes-ahead-in-burundi-</u>constitutionalreferendum-20180518 [Accessed: 24 July 2019].

Ngoy-Kangoy, H.K. 2007. The Political Role of the Ethnic Factor around Elections in the Democratic Republic of the Congo. *African Journal on Conflict Resolution*, vol. 7(2), pp. 219-238.

Nguh, A. 2013. Corruption and Infrastructure Megaprojects in the Dr Congo A Recipe for Failure? *International Rivers*. Available at:

http://www.internationalrivers.org/sites/default/files/attachedfiles/corruption_in_the_dr c_.pdf [Accessed: 10 September 2019]. Norris, P. 2012. *Making Democratic Governance Work: How Regimes Shape Prosperity, Welfare and Peace*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Ntobi, M.T. 2016. Violent Class Struggles and the Need FOR Revolutionary Change: Anti-WTO Organised Labour Protest vs Seattle Police. New York: Lulu Press.

Nyaluke, D. 2014. The African Basis of Democracy and Politics for the Common Good A Critique of the Neopatrimonialism Perspective. *Taiwan Journal of Democracy*, vol. 10(2), pp. 141-164.

O'Donnell, G. (1996) 'Illusions about Consolidation', Journal of Democracy 7 (2): 34-51.

O'Higgins, E. E. R. 2006. Corruption, Underdevelopment, and Extractive Resource Industries: Addressing the Vicious Cycle. *Business Ethics Quarterly*, vol. (16) 2, pp. 234-254.

Okech, A. M. 2018. The Impact of Electoral Violence on Economic Development: A Case of Kenya. *Journal of Political Science and International Relations*. Vol. 1(3), pp. 55-71.

Okoth, A. 2006. *A History of Africa: African nationalism and the de-colonisation process*. Nairobi: East African Educational Publishers.

Oloka-Onyango, J. (Eds.). 2001. *Constitutionalism in Africa: Creating opportunities, Facing Challenges*. Kampala: Fountain Publishers.

Omotola, S. 2008. Revised version of a paper on Electoral reform, political succession and democratisation in Africa, presented at *the 27th Annual Conference of the Nigerian Political Science Association (NPSA)*, held at Benue State University, Makurdi, Benue State, Nigeria, 16–19 November 2008.

Orogun, P. 2002. Crisis of Government, Ethnic Schisms, Civil War, and Regional Destabilization of the Democratic Republic of Congo. *World Affairs,* vol. *165*(1), pp. 25-41.

Osaghae, E.E. 2006. Colonialism and Civil Society in Africa: The Perspective of Ekeh's Two Publics. *International Journal of Voluntary Non-Governmental Organisations*, vol. 17(3), pp. 233-245.

Osinubi, T. S. and Osinubi, O. S. 2006. Ethnic Conflicts in Contemporary Africa: The Nigerian Experience. *Journal of Social Sciences*, vol. 12(2), pp. 101 – 114.

Osisa, E. 2017. Election Management Bodies in Southern Africa: Comparative Study of the Electoral Commissions Contributions to Electoral Processes. Oxford: African books collectives.

Paldi, B. 2006. A Step towards Peace. In: Munck, G. Democracy at Large. *News, Analysis & Debate*, vol. 2(3), pp. 35-50.

Paris, R. 2004. *At War's End: Building Peace after Civil Conflict*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Parry, O., & Mauthner, N. S. (2004). Whose Data are They Anyway? Practical, Legal and Ethical Issues in Archiving Qualitative Research Data. *Sociology*, vol. *38*(1), pp. 139–152.

Pawar, M. S. (Ed.). 2004. *Data Collecting Methods and Experiences: A Guide for Social Researchers*. New Delhi: New Dawn Press.

Posner, P. N. 2005. *Institutions and Ethnic Politics in Africa*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Prempeh, H. K. 2017. Africa's Constitutionalism Revival: False Start or New Dawn? *International Journal of Constitutional Law*, vol. 5(3), pp. 469-506.

Punch, K. F. 2014. *Introduction to Social Research: Quantitative and Qualitative Approaches*. London: SAGE Publications.

Reid, B. T. 2013. Congolese Elections 2011 Mostly a Problem of Global Governance and Negative 'Soft Power, not Resources. *Journal of African Elections*, vol. 12(1), pp. 34-64.

Reiter, A. G. 2016. *Fighting Over Peace: Spoilers, Peace Agreement and the Strategic Use of Violence*. Massachusetts: Mount Holyke College.

Reynolds, A. 2009. Elections, Electoral Systems, and Conflict in Africa. *Brown Journal* of *World Affairs*, vol. (16) 1, pp. 75-83.

Reyntjens, F. 2009. *The Great African War: Congo and Regional Geopolitics,* 19962006. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Robertson, B. G. 2011. The Politics of Protest in Hybrid Regimes: Managing Dissent in Post-communist Russia. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Rohwerder, B. 2015. Political Economy and Governance in the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC). *GSDRC, 3 August 2015*. Available at:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/57a08966e5274a31e0000070/HDQ12 52.pdf [Accessed: 10 August 2019].

Rolfe, M. 2012. *Voter Turnout: A Social Theory of Political Participation*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Romkena, H. & Vlassemroot, K. 2007. *Local governance and leadership in Eastern DRC (May)*. Goma: Oxfam-Novib.

Rose, R., & Shin, D. 2001. Democratization Backwards: The Problem of Third-Wave Democracies. *British Journal of Political Science*, vol. 31(2), pp. 331-354.

Salawu, B. 2010. Ethno-Religious Conflicts in Nigeria: Causal Analysis and Proposals for New Management Strategies. *European Journal of Social Sciences*, vol. 13 (3), pp. 345 – 353.

Salihu, N. 2019. Elections in the Democratic Republic of the Congo. *ACCORD*, (Online) Available at: <u>https://www.accord.org.za/conflict-trends/elections-in-thedemocratic-republic-of-the-congo/</u> [Accessed: 20 October 2019].

Samset, I. 2002. Conflict of Interests or Interests in Conflict? Diamonds & War in the DRC. *Review of African Political Economy*, Vol 93, pp. 463-480.

Sangita, S. 2002. Administrative Reforms for Good Governance. *The Indian Journal* of *Political Science*, vol. 63(4), pp. 325-350.

Schedler, A. 2002. The Nested Game of Democratization by Elections. *International Political Science Review*, vol. 23(1), pp.103-122.

Schedler, A. 2010. Authoritarianism's Last Line of Defence, *Journal of Democracy*, vol 21 (1), pp. 69–80.

Schneider, L. 2006. Colonial Legacies and Postcolonial Authoritarianism in Tanzania: Connects and Disconnects. *African Studies Review*, vol. *49*(1), pp. 93-118. Sindre, G. M. 2014. Rebels and Aid in the Context of Peacebuilding and Humanitarian Disaster: A Comparison of the Free Aceh Movement (GAM) and the Tamil Tigers (LTTE)'. *Forum for Development Studies Journal*, vol. 41(1), pp. 1-21.

Straus, S. and Taylor, C. 2009. Democratization and Electoral Violence in SubSaharan Africa 1990-2007. *APSA 2009 Toronto Meeting Paper*. Available at SSRN: <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=1451561</u>.

Stearns, J. 2011. Dancing in the Glory of Monsters: The Collapse of the Congo and the Great War of Africa. New York: Public Affairs.

Sturman. A. 1997.Case study methods. In: J. P. Keeves (Eds.). Educational research,

Methodology and measurement: An international handbook (2nd ed). Oxford: Pergamon,

Sisk, D. T. 2013. Elections and State Building after Civil War: Lurching Towards Legitimacy. In: Chandler, D. and Sisk, T.D. (Eds.). *Routledge Handbook of International State Building*. Abington: Routledge.

Shiffman, G. 2004. Deliberation versus Decision: Platonism in Contemporary Democratic Theory. In: Fontana, B., Nederman, C. J and Remer, G. *Talking Democracy: Historical Perspectives on Rhetoric and Democracy*. University Park:

Pennsylvania State University Press.

South, A. 2008. Ethnic Politics in Burma: States of Conflict. London: Routledge.

 Stearns, J. 2011. Elections in DRC are an imperfect but necessary step towards order.

 The Guardian,
 [Online].
 Available
 at:

 <u>https://www.theguardian.com/globaldevelopment/poverty-</u>

 <u>matters/2011/jan/19/democratic-republic-congo-electionskabila-mobutu</u>
 [Accessed:

 06 June, 2018].

Tellis, W. M. 1997. Application of a Case Study Methodology. *The Qualitative Report*, vol. *3*(3), pp. 1-19.

The Constitution of the Democratic Republic of the Congo. 2006. Title iii the organization and the exercise of power, Chapter 1: The Institutions of the Republic

[online] Available at:

http://constitutionnet.org/sites/default/files/DRC%20%20Congo%20Constitution.pdf.

The New Humanitarian. 2011. Thousands Flee Election Tension. *Human Rights News*. Available at: <u>http://www.thenewhumanitarian.org/report/94406/drc-congothousands-flee-election-tension</u> [Accessed: 21 November 2019].

Theron, P. M. 2013. Corruption in Sub-Saharan Africa: A practical-theological response'. *In Skriflig*, vol. 47(1), pp.1-8.

The World Bank. 2018. The World Bank is helping to fight poverty and improve living standards for the people of the Democratic Republic of Congo, through education, energy, health and other social services. Available at: https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/drc/overview [Accessed: 20 October 2019] Thomson, A. 2016. *An Introduction to African Politics*. 4th Ed. Abington: Routledge.

Trefon, T. 2005. The social cost of the conflict in the Democratic Republic of Congo. In: Chabal, P., Ulf, E. and Gentili, A. M. (Eds.). *Is violence inevitable in Africa? Theories of conflict and approaches to conflict prevention*. Leiden/Boston: Brill.

Trefon, T. 2013. Uncertainty and powerlessness in Congo 2012, *Review of African Political Economy*, vol. 40(135), pp. 141-151.

Tshiyoyo, M.M. 2011. Civil service in the Democratic Republic of the Congo. *African Journal of Public Affairs*, vol. 4(1), pp. 103-113.

Tshiyoyo, M. M. 2012. Current leadership challenges in Africa: The Case of the Democratic Republic of the Congo. *African Journal of Public Affairs*, vol. 5 (1), pp. 107116.

United States Government Accountability Office Report. 2007. *The Democratic Republic of the Congo: Systematic Assessment in needed to determine Agencies' Progress toward U.S Policy Objectives*. Available At: <u>https://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-08-188</u> [Accessed: 15 April 2018].

United States Institute of Peace. 200. 'Elections in the DRC: The Bemba Surprise. *United States Institute of Peace Special Report.* Available at: <u>https://www.usip.org/publications/2008/02/elections-drc-bemba-surprise</u> [Accessed: 15 September 2019]. Urbinati, N. 2014. Democracy Disfigured. London: Harvard University Press.

Uzodike, U. O., & Whetho, A. 200. Religious Networks in Post-Conflict Democratic Republic of the Congo: A Prognosis. *African Journal on Conflict Resolution*, vol. 8 (3), pp. 57-84.

Van Cranenburgh, O. (2008) 'Big Men Rule: Presidential Power, Regime Type and Democracy in 30 African Countries', *Democratization*, Vol 15(5), pp. 952-973,

Van de Walle, N. 2007. Meet the New Boss. Same as the Old Boss? The Evaluation of Political Clientelism in Africa. In: Kitschelt, H. and Wilkinson, S. (Eds.). *Patterns in Patrons, Clients and Policies: Patterns of Democratic Accountability and Political Competition*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Veney, C.R. 2013. Demobilization and Reconstruction: Introduction. In: Veney, C.R. and Dick, S. *African Democracy and Development: Challenges for Post-conflict African Nations*. Lanham: Lexington Books.

Vircoulon, T. 2011. Unfair and Dangerous Elections. *A Journal of Social Justice*, vol 23, pp. 199-204.

Vircoulon, T. 2010. The Ituri paradox: When Armed Groups Have a Land Policy and Peacemakers Do Not. In Anseeuw, W. and Alden, C. (Eds.). *The Struggle Over Land in Africa: Conflicts, Politics & Change*. Cape Town: HRSC Press.

Walshe, P. 1970. *The rise of African Nationalism in South Africa: African National Congress 1912-1952*. London: C. Hurst & Co. Publishers.

Wamwere, K. W. 2003. *Negative Ethnicity: From Bias to Genocide*. New York: Seven Stones Press.

Wilén, N., & Williams, P. 2018. The African Union and coercive diplomacy: The case of Burundi. *The Journal of Modern African Studies, vol. 56*(4), pp. 673-696.

Willett, S. 2013. Defence Expenditure Arms Procurement & Corruption in SubSaharan Africa. In: Abrahamsen, R. (Eds.). *Conflict and Security in Africa*. New York: Boydell & Brewer Inc.

Willis, J. W. 2007. Foundations of Qualitative Research: Interpretive and Critical Approaches. London: SAGE.

World Youth Report. 2018. Youth and the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. New York: United Nations

Yin, R.K. 1994. Case study research, Design and methods, second edition. Thousand Oaks: SAGE.

Young, C. 2012. *The Postcolonial State in Africa: Fifty Years of Independence, 1960* – *2010.* Wisconsin: The University of Wisconsin Press.

Zainal, Z. 2007. Case study as a research method. *Journal Kemanusiaan*, vol. 9, pp.1-4.